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Financial Summary (U.S. GAAP)
NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended March 31

  Millions of U.S. dollars1 

  (excluding per 

 Millions of yen (excluding per share data) share data)

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2008

Operating Results

Operating revenues  ¥5,048,065 ¥4,844,610 ¥4,765,872 ¥4,788,093 ¥4,711,827 $   47,189

 Wireless services  4,487,912 4,296,537 4,295,856 4,314,140 4,165,234 41,715

 Equipment sales  560,153 548,073 470,016 473,953 546,593 5,474

Operating income  1,102,918 784,166 832,639 773,524 808,312 8,095

Other income (expense)  (1,795) 504,055 119,664 (581) (7,624) (76)

Income before income taxes, equity in 

  net income (losses) of affiliates and  

  minority interests 1,101,123 1,288,221 952,303 772,943 800,688 8,019 

Net income ¥   650,007 ¥   747,564 ¥   610,481 ¥   457,278 ¥   491,202 $     4,919 

Per Share Data2 (Yen and U.S. dollars)

Basic and diluted earnings per share ¥     13,099 ¥     15,771 ¥     13,491 ¥     10,396 ¥     11,391 $   114.08 

Shareholders’ equity per share  76,234 84,455 91,109 95,457 100,321 1,004.72 

Cash dividends declared per share 3 1,500 2,000 4,000 4,000 4,800 48.07 

1  Translations of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars are included solely for the convenience of readers by using the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers in foreign currencies as certified for customs purposes by the 

Federal Reserve Bank of New York on March 31, 2008, which was ¥99.85 to U.S.$1.00.

2 In the calculation of per share data, treasury stock is not included in the number of shares outstanding during or at the end of the year.

3 Cash dividends declared per share are presented in the fiscal year to which each record date for the dividends belongs.
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 Millions of yen (unless otherwise specified) Millions of U.S. dollars1

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2008

Financial Position

Total assets  ¥6,262,266  ¥6,136,521  ¥6,365,257  ¥6,116,215  ¥6,210,834  $62,202 

Total debt4 1,091,596  948,523  792,405  602,965  478,464  4,792 

Total shareholders’ equity 3,704,695  3,907,932  4,052,017  4,161,303  4,276,496  42,829 

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥1,710,243  ¥1,181,585  ¥1,610,941  ¥   980,598  ¥1,560,140  $15,625 

Net cash used in investing activities (847,309) (578,329) (951,077) (947,651) (758,849) (7,600)

Free cash flows5 862,934  603,256  659,864  32,947  801,291  8,025 

Adjusted free cash flows 

  (excluding irregular factors and changes in 

  investments for cash management purposes)6 862,934  1,003,583  510,905  192,237  442,410  4,431 

Other Financial Data

EBITDA7 ¥1,858,920  ¥1,625,661  ¥1,606,776  ¥1,574,570  ¥1,639,096  $16,416 

Capital expenditures8 805,482  861,517  887,113  934,423  758,743  7,599 

Research and development expenses 124,514  101,945  110,509  99,315  100,035  1,002 

Financial Ratios9

Operating income margin  21.8% 16.2% 17.5% 16.2% 17.2% 

EBITDA margin7 36.8% 33.6% 33.7% 32.9% 34.8% 

ROE    18.1% 19.6% 15.3% 11.1% 11.6% 

ROCE10  22.9% 16.2% 17.2% 16.1% 17.0% 

Equity ratio  59.2% 63.7% 63.7% 68.0% 68.9% 

Debt ratio11 22.8% 19.5% 16.4% 12.7% 10.1% 

 4  Total debt = Short-term borrowings + Current portion of long-term debt + Long-term debt

 5 Free cash flows = Net cash provided by operating activities + Net cash used in investing activities.

 6  Irregular factors represent the effects of uncollected revenues due to bank closure at the end of periods. Changes in investments for cash management purposes were derived from purchases, redemption at maturity and sales of 

financial instruments held for cash management purposes with original maturities of longer than three months. For the reconciliations of these Non-GAAP financial measures, see page 127.

 7  EBITDA = Operating income + Depreciation and amortization + Losses on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment. 

EBITDA margin = EBITDA / Total operating revenues. For the reconciliations of these Non-GAAP financial measures, see page 127.

 8  Capital expenditures are calculated on an accrual basis for the purchases of property, plant and equipment, and intangible and other assets.

 9  ROE and ROCE are calculated using the simple average of the applicable year-end balance sheet figures.

 10  ROCE (Return on capital employed) = Operating income / (Shareholders’ equity + Total debt)

 11  Debt ratio = Total debt / (Shareholders’ equity + Total debt)
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A. Operating Results 

Our Business
We are the largest cellular network operator in Japan in terms of both revenues 

and number of subscriptions. As of March 31, 2008, we had approximately 

53.39 million subscriptions, which represented 52.0% of all cellular subscriptions 

in Japan. We earn revenues and generate cash primarily by offering a variety of 

wireless voice and data communications services and products. In cellular services, 

which account for the majority of our revenues, we provide voice communication 

services as well as “i-mode” services, which enable our subscribers to exchange 

e-mails and to access various sources of information including the Internet via 

our nationwide packet communications network. In addition to cellular services, 

we presently provide wireless LAN services nationwide, a mobile credit payment 

platform and mobile credit payment services. 

We have been the market leader in the Japanese mobile communications 

industry as the demand for mobile communications has grown very rapidly. 

Now that a cellular phone has already become a part of daily life in Japan, it is 

difficult to duplicate the speedy growth we experienced in the first decade of 

our operations. However, in order to achieve sustainable growth and establish 

new sources of revenues, we are committed to upgrading our cellular commu-

nications services from a telecommunication infrastructure to a life-style infra-

structure so that cellular services will be rooted even more deeply in the daily 

lives of our subscribers and further enrich their lives and businesses. 

Trends in the Mobile Communications Industry in Japan
According to a release from the Telecommunications Carriers Association, the 

mobile communications market in Japan saw a 5.64 million net increase in 

cellular and PHS subscriptions for the year ended March 31, 2008. As of 

March 31, 2008, the total number of wireless subscriptions including cellular 

and PHS reached 107.34 million and the market penetration rate reached 

84.0%. The annual growth rate of cellular subscriptions rebounded to 6.2% for 

the year ended March 31, 2008 after a continued decline from 5.5% to 5.4% 

for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. However, given the 

maturity of the market and the declining population trend, we expect that the 

growth rate of cellular subscriptions in Japan will be limited in the future. 

As of March 31, 2008, cellular services were provided by four network 

operators including us and their subsidiaries in Japan. In addition to providing 

cellular services, the network operators also collaborate with handset manu-

facturers to develop handsets compatible with the specifications of their 

wireless services and then sell them primarily to agent resellers, who in turn 

sell such handsets to the subscribers. As for cellular services, since the year 

2001, when we first launched “FOMA” services, our third generation (“3G”) 

cellular services based on W-CDMA technology, our competitors have followed 

us in the launch of their 3G services. The network operators have been in an 

intense competition in pursuit of the acquisition of new subscribers and the 

migration of their current subscribers to 3G services. As of March 31, 2008, 

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated 

financial statements and the notes thereto included in this annual report. 

This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions.  

Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain 

factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual report. 

We will discuss the following matters in this section: 

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

A. Operating Results

 • Our Business 

 • Trends in the Mobile Communications Industry in Japan 

 • Operating Strategies

 • Operating Trends 

 •  Operating Results for the years ended March 31, 

2008 and 2007 

 • Segment Information 

 •  Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Critical 

Accounting Policies 

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources 

C. Research and Development 

D. Trend Information 
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the number of 3G service subscriptions in Japan reached 88.06 million, which 

represented 85.7% of the total number of cellular subscriptions. 

Competition among the network operators in Japan has become more 

intense under present market conditions as the needs of subscribers diversify 

and growth in new subscriptions slows. The network operators in Japan have 

been eager to differentiate themselves as they pursue the acquisition of new 

subscriptions and encourage the migration of their current subscribers to 3G 

services. The differentiation efforts include: 

•  Offering of free voice calls among family members under the same discount 

account with the same operators, free voice calls among subscribers under 

the same corporate subscription account with the same operators, intro-

duction of new discount programs to cut basic monthly charges by half 

upon commitment of long-term subscriptions; 

•  Introduction of new sales methods such as installment sales for handsets; 

•  Launching of new services such as providing mobile credit payment services, 

music downloading, video downloading, news casting, web-browsing 

filtering, location information services and high-speed data transmission; 

•  Equipping new handsets with various new functions including a TV tuner, 

radio tuner, music player, video player, contact-less IC (Integrated Circuit) 

chip capability, GPS (Global Positioning System), enlarged memory capa-

bility, compatibility with GSM network or security function; and

•  Partnering with entities of different industries including retail, manufac-

turing and financial institutions. 

Recently, domestic deregulation of the industry has accelerated competition 

among cellular network operators, who have already implemented discounts 

in their service charges. Mobile Number Portability, which enables subscribers 

to switch subscriptions from one operator to another without changing their 

telephone number, was introduced in October 2006. In September 2007, the 

Mobile Business Study Group, which was appointed by the Ministry of Internal 

Affairs and Communications, concluded a report in which it proposed certain 

actions to be taken by regulatory authorities including (1) reformation on 

methods of cellular handset sales, (2) promotion of new MVNO entrants to the 

market and (3) development of the market environment to invigorate the 

mobile business. The implementation of these proposals by the regulatory 

authorities is expected to change revenue structures and business models of 

incumbent cellular network operators including us. 

It is possible that innovations in Internet technology will have a material impact 

on the mobile communications industry as well. IP (Internet Protocol) phone, voice 

communications based on IP technology, is becoming a popular means of fixed 

line communications as a result of the penetration of local broadband access. If IP 

phone technology is applied to the mobile communications field, we expect that 

it will have a material impact on the current revenue structure of the mobile 

communications industry. The penetration of local broadband access and cellular 

phones has produced an expectation for new services in the future, converging 

fixed and mobile communications. A “Fixed-Mobile Convergence” concept has 

already been partially realized when some network operators issued a single bill 

for both fixed and mobile subscriptions or others enable their subscribers to access 

common contents or e-mail accounts via both a PC and a cellular phone. The 

demand for a seamless service between the fixed and mobile network and a 

common handset compatible with both fixed and mobile network service will 

possibly increase in the future. Digital terrestrial TV broadcasting dedicated to 

mobile terminals, which was launched in April 2006, has already been included in 

many cellular handsets and is expected to be the first step in the future conver-

gence of broadcasting and mobile communications. In the field of high-speed 

wireless networks, WiMAX has been standardized by the Institute of Electrical and 

Electronic Engineers in the United States. In Japan, two network operators were 

licensed to operate a 2.5GHz wide-band wireless broadband system in December 

2007 and have started preparing for future commercial service launches. 

Thus, we expect that the competitive environment for the mobile commu-

nications market will become increasingly severe in the future due to market, 

regulatory and technology changes. 

Operating Strategies 
We recognize that the cellular market in Japan has already entered into a 

phase of saturation as total cellular subscription exceeded 100 million in 

December 2007. In a phase of saturation, it is necessary to attract subscribers 

of competitors as it is difficult to rely on those who have not owned a cellular 

phone as a driving force of acquisition of new subscriptions. It is also indis-

pensable to minimize the loss of subscriptions to competitors subsequent to 

intensified competition. As a market leader, we have put a top priority on the 

retention of our current subscriptions.  

During a phase of market growth, it was a common practice for network 

operators including us to pay sales commissions, including handset sales 

incentives, to agent resellers and later recover such initial expenditures through 

future service charges collected from their subscribers. It was a business model 

where sales of handsets and of network services were vertically integrated. As 

the agent resellers applied the handset sales incentive to discount for handset 

sales, inexpensive discounted handsets contributed to the penetration of 

cellular subscription and growth of the market. Now that the market has 

entered into a phase of saturation, however, it has been often pointed out 

that such business model lacked transparency on the cost allocation of handset 

and network services, brought about unfairness on cost allocation among 

subscribers dependent on the duration of subscriptions and put downward 

pressure on the operating income of network operators.
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In order to respond to such changes in the market environment, we abolished 

handset sales incentives and introduced new handset sales methods and 

discounted billing plans in November 2007. “Value Course” is a new handset 

sales method, where purchase of a handset not discounted by the handset sales 

incentive awards the subscriber with a subscription to a billing plan with discounted 

basic monthly charges called “Value Plan”. Payment in installments is available for 

purchase of a handset in this “Value Course”. If a subscriber chooses to make 

installment payments, under agreements entered into among the subscriber, the 

agent reseller and us, we provide financing by paying for the purchased handset 

to the agent resellers and include the installment charge for the purchased 

handset in the monthly bill for network usage for the installment payment term. 

Because equipment sales are recognized upon delivery of handsets to agent 

resellers, the advance payment for the purchased handset to agent resellers and 

the subsequent cash collection of the installment receivable for the purchased 

handset from subscribers do not have an impact on our equipment sales. While 

we introduced another handset sale method called “Basic Course”, where a 

subscriber purchases a handset discounted by our direct subsidy and undiscounted 

billing plans are applied, we intend to put more emphasis on the promotion of 

“Value Course”. “Value Course” and “Basic Course” are applied to handsets 

released after November 2007. In August and September 2007, we also intro-

duced new discount programs called “Fami-wari MAX 50”, “Hitoridemo Discount 

50” and “Office Discount MAX 50”, all of which discount basic monthly charges 

by half upon the commitment of a two-year subscription. We expect to realize the 

extension of subscriptions of current subscribers and a continued decline in our 

churn rate through these new handset sale methods and new discount programs. 

Please refer to “B. Liquidity and Capital Resources” for the impact of the intro-

duction of “Value Course” on our financial position. 

Operating Trends 
This section describes our operating trends from the perspectives of revenues 

and expenses. 

Revenues 
Wireless Services 

We earn our wireless services revenues primarily from basic monthly charges, 

calling charges for outgoing calls, revenues from incoming calls including 

interconnection charges and charges for optional value-added services and 

features. Cellular services, which earn the majority of our overall revenues, 

consist of the third generation FOMA services, the second generation “mova” 

services and other services. FOMA’s packet transmission technology allows our 

subscribers to transmit more packets per minute and the per-packet charges 

for data communications of FOMA services are set lower than those of mova 

services. Because we believe that FOMA’s advanced technological capability 

enables us to provide our subscribers with more convenient and competitive 

services, we aim to induce our mova subscribers to migrate to FOMA services 

as well as to acquire new FOMA subscriptions. As of March 31, 2008, the 

number of FOMA subscriptions reached 43.95 million or 82.3% of our total 

number of cellular subscriptions, the largest number of 3G subscriptions 

among cellular operators in Japan. Cellular services revenues include voice 

revenues and packet communications revenues. Voice revenues are derived 

from a combination of basic monthly charges for service and additional calling 

charges depending on connection time. Our packet communications revenues, 

which are currently dominated by i-mode revenues, accounted for a greater 

portion of our wireless services revenues for the year ended March 31, 2008, 

representing 33.0% of wireless services revenues, as compared to 28.8% and 

26.1% for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As a result 

of the continued migration of mova subscribers to FOMA services, the portion 

of FOMA packet communications revenues increased to 91.3% of the total packet 

communications revenues for the year ended March 31, 2008 from 78.2% 

and 54.8% for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
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Our top operational priorities include maintaining our current subscribers 

and the level of our average monthly revenue per unit (“ARPU”) despite the 

increasingly competitive market environment in which we are operating, 

including the introduction of Mobile Number Portability. Our cellular services 

revenues are essentially a function of our number of active subscriptions multi-

plied by ARPU. 

Our number of subscriptions continues to grow while the growth rate of 

subscriptions has declined. Our subscription churn rate, or contract termination 

rate, is an important performance indicator for us to achieve retention of our 

current subscriptions. The churn rate has an impact on our number of subscrip-

tions and in particular affects our number of net additional subscriptions for a 

given period. Efforts to reduce our churn rate through discount programs and 

other customer incentive programs can increase our revenues by increasing our 

number of net additional subscriptions, but they can also have an adverse impact 

on our revenues by decreasing the amount of revenues we are able to collect 

from each subscriber on average. In order to keep our churn rate low, we have 

focused on subscriber retention by implementing certain measures including 

offering discounts for long-term subscribers. During the year ended March 31, 

2008, we introduced the previously mentioned “Value Course”, new discount 

programs such as “Fami-wari MAX 50”, “Hitoridemo Discount 50” and “Office 

Discount MAX 50”, expanded HSDPA (High-Speed Downlink Packet Access) 

data transmission service areas, released attractive FOMA handsets and expanded 

FOMA service area coverage. For the year ended March 31, 2008, we continued 

to release handsets such as “Kids’ PHONE” designed specifically for children and 

“Raku Raku PHONE” universally designed for elderly users in an effort to pioneer 

such new market segments. 

ARPU is calculated by dividing various revenue items included in operating 

revenues from our wireless services, such as basic monthly charges, calling charges 

and packet communications charges, from designated services by the number of 

active subscriptions to the relevant services. ARPU is another important perfor-

mance indicator for us to measure average monthly revenues per subscription. 

Accordingly, the calculation of ARPU excludes revenues that are not representative 

of monthly average usage such as subscription activation fees. We believe that our 

ARPU figures calculated in this way provide useful information to analyze the 

trend of monthly average usage of our subscribers over time and the impact of 

changes in our billing arrangements. The revenue items included in the numer-

ators of our ARPU figures are based on our U.S. GAAP results of operations. ARPU 

(FOMA+mova) has fallen over the past few years, due to a gradual increase in the 

discount rate of basic monthly charges according to an increase in the number of 

years of subscriptions under long-term subscription discount and a decrease in 

MOU (Minutes of usage, which is the average communication time per month per 

subscription). The shrinking trend of ARPU also resulted from an increase in the 

number of subscribers who subscribe to discount programs newly introduced for 

the retention of subscriptions. In order to boost ARPU, we have been actively 

involved in the promotion of “Pake-hodai”, our optional packet flat-rate service 

for unlimited i-mode usage and “i-channel”, a convenient and easy-to-use infor-

mation push-delivery optional service. We also introduced more handsets 

compatible with international roaming service in order to increase roaming 

revenues. Furthermore, we are promoting cellular usage other than voice calls 

such as downloading of music or video-clip. We achieved a slight increase in the 

cellular services revenues from the prior fiscal year owing to a slower decline in 

ARPU for the year ended March 31, 2006. For the year ended March 31, 2007, 

although the decline in ARPU continued, growth in the number of subscriptions, 

combined with our recognition as revenue of the portion of “Nikagetsu Kurikoshi” 

(2 month carry-over) allowance that is projected to expire, resulted in an increase 

in cellular services revenues. Cellular services revenues declined again during the 

year ended March 31, 2008 due to the penetration of discount programs newly 

introduced for subscriber retention purposes. We expect that the positive effects 

of the moderate growth in the number of subscriptions will be more than offset 

by the negative effects from the continued penetration of new discount programs, 

and thus cellular services revenues will consequently decline for the year ending 

March 31, 2009. We intend to achieve sustainable growth by increasing revenues 

from non-traffic business while we maintain the current level of revenues through 

marketing activities with more focus on brand loyalty in the cellular business. 

Equipment Sales 

We collaborate with handset manufacturers to develop handsets compatible with 

our cellular services, purchase the handsets from those handset manufacturers 

and then sell those handsets to our subscribers through agent resellers. We 

provide a wide variety of handsets to the market to answer diverse needs of our 

current and potential subscribers. The handset offering includes “FOMA 9 series”, 

which are equipped with most advanced functions, and “FOMA 7 series” which 

feature a sophisticated balance between unique designs and functionalities. 

Revenues from equipment sales, primarily sales of handsets and other tele-

communications equipment to agent resellers, accounted for 11.6% of total 

operating revenues for the year ended March 31, 2008. We adopted Emerging 

Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given 

by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),” and 

therefore account for a portion of the sales commissions that we pay to agent 

resellers, the main component of which is handset sales incentives, as a reduction 

in equipment sales revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses. 

As a result, structurally, the cost of equipment sold has exceeded equipment 

sales revenues, and thus the sale of an extra handset has had a negative impact 

on our operating income. During the year ended March 31, 2008, as both the 

number of handsets sold to agent resellers and revenues per handset declined, 
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equipment sales before the deduction of sales commissions to agent resellers 

decreased. However, due to a decrease in handset sales incentives to be 

deducted from gross equipment sales subsequent to the introduction of “Value 

Course”, equipment sales after the deduction of sales commissions to agent 

resellers increased. We expect that, for the year ending March 31, 2009, a 

combination of an increase in the number of handsets sold to agent resellers 

and a continued decrease in handset sales incentives subsequent to the intro-

duction of “Value Course” will result in a significant increase in the equipment 

sales. The number of handsets sold to agent resellers is expected to increase in 

response to diversified demand from subscribers. Because the trend of handset 

sales is closely interrelated with the cost of handsets sold, you should also refer 

hereafter to the “Cost of Equipment Sold” section below. 

Expansion of Our Business Domain 

In addition to the further buildup of our competitiveness in the cellular business, 

we are actively involved in the diversification of revenue sources. The most 

significant is our credit services business. We seek to reposition our cellular 

phones as tools more deeply rooted in the daily life of our subscribers by 

enabling transactional settlements through the use of cellular phones equipped 

with contact-less IC chips. We launched a credit card brand called “iD” for 

card issuers in December 2005 and “DCMX” credit issuing services via the 

“iD” platform in April 2006. For the year ended March 31, 2008, we were 

actively involved in the acquisition of DCMX subscriptions, promotion of credit 

usage and expansion of stores equipped with iD readers/writers. We are 

confident that our mobile credit service is steadily penetrating the market as the 

number of DCMX subscriptions reached 5.64 million while the number of “iD” 

compatible reader/writers installed reached 300,000 as of March 31, 2008. 

We also collaborated with Google, Inc. to upgrade portal functions of i-

mode so that a cellular phone will become a powerful advertisement medium. 

Although contribution from the credit service business and advertisement 

business to our results of operations have not yet become material, we will 

continue to be engaged in accelerating the development of these businesses. 

Expenses 
Cost of Services 

Cost of services represents the expenses we incur directly in connection with 

providing our subscribers with wireless communication services and includes 

the cost for usage of other operators’ networks, maintenance of equipment 

or facilities and payroll for employees dedicated to the operations and main-

tenance of our wireless services. Cost of services accounted for 20.8% of our 

total operating expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008. Communication 

network charges, which we pay for the usage of other operators’ networks or 

for access charges, occupy the largest part of cost of services, accounting for 

42.5% of the total. The amount of our communication network charges is 

dependent on the number of our base stations installed and rates set by the 

other operators. In recent years, our communication network charges have 

steadily declined as a result of our buildup of our own back-bone network to 

replace circuits leased from NTT. Communication network charges decreased 

for the year ended March 31, 2008 as well due mainly to the discount in 

charges of NTT’s leased circuits. We expect that the downward trend will 

continue and the communication network charges will decrease slightly for 

the year ending March 31, 2009. 

Cost of Equipment Sold 

Cost of equipment sold arises mainly from our procurement of handsets for sale 

to our new or current subscribers, which is basically dependent on the number 

of handsets sold to agent resellers and the purchase price per handset. Cost of 

equipment sold represented 29.5% of our operating expenses for the year ended 

March 31, 2008. Although the purchase price per handset has increased in 

recent years due to the increase in sales of more sophisticated FOMA handsets in 

the migration of mova subscribers to FOMA services, the purchase price per 

handset decreased for the year ended March 31, 2008. The decline in the 

purchase price per handset was due to a decrease in the number of “FOMA 9 

series” handsets sold, which are equipped with most advanced functions, and an 

increase in the number of less expensive “FOMA 7 series” handsets sold, which 

feature a sophisticated balance between unique designs and functionalities. The 

total number of handsets sold decreased slightly because an increase in the 

number of FOMA handsets sold was more than offset by a decrease in the 

number of mova handsets sold as a result of the continued migration of 

subscribers from mova services to FOMA services. As a result, cost of equipment 

sold decreased from the prior fiscal year. For the year ending March 31, 2009, we 

expect that the level of the purchase price per handset will be the same while a 

decrease in the number of mova handsets sold will be more than offset by an 

increase in the number of FOMA handsets sold. As a result, we expect that cost 

of equipment sold will increase for the year ending March 31, 2009. 

We have taken some measures to control the cost of equipment sold. We 

have saved on FOMA handset development cost by introducing a single-chip LSI 

and common platforms for the handset operating system. We will provide 

packaged software dedicated to our handsets to handset manufacturers to facil-

itate development of FOMA handsets as well. We also aim to procure at lower 

costs FOMA models such as the “FOMA 7 series”, which would match the 

purpose and usage volume of various subscribers, and to increase sales of such 

FOMA models. We are also engaged in a campaign to slow down the handset 

upgrading cycle by introducing “Value Course” or providing members of 

“DOCOMO Premier Club” with free-of-charge battery packs and the extension 

of free warranty periods in order to slash the cost of equipment sold. Finally, we 

are planning to centralize our inventory management to optimize the level of 

equipment inventories subsequent to our merger with our regional subsidiaries.

Depreciation and Amortization 

We expense the acquisition cost of a fixed asset such as telecommunications 

equipment, a network facility and software during its estimated useful life as 

depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization accounted for 

19.9% of our operating expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008. In order 

to respond attentively to demand from our subscribers, we actively invested in 

the FOMA services network during the year ended March 31, 2008. Our 

investments in the FOMA network included: 

• further enhancement of FOMA network quality; 

•  buildup of FOMA network capacity in response to an increase in data traffic 

following the penetration of our packet flat-rate service for unlimited 

i-mode usage; and 

• further expansion of HSDPA service coverage.
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Active capital expenditures in the FOMA network in recent years are followed 

by an upward trend in depreciation and amortization expenses. Depreciation 

and amortization expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008 increased from 

the prior fiscal year. As we have been involved with cost saving efforts such as 

economized procurement, design and installment of low-cost devices and 

improvements in construction processes, depreciation and amortization are 

expected to decrease for the year ending March 31, 2009. As for our capital 

expenditures, please refer to “Capital Expenditures” in this section.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses represented 29.9% of our total 

operating expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008. The primary compo-

nents included in our selling, general and administrative expenses are expenses 

related to acquisition of new subscribers and retention of current subscribers, 

the most significant of which was sales commissions paid to agent resellers. 

The main components of the sales commissions that we pay to agents who 

sign up new subscribers are a closing commission for each new subscription 

and volume incentives that vary depending on the number of new subscrip-

tions per agent per month. In addition, we provide subsidies directly to our 

subscribers in the form of a discount to the handset price to be purchased 

subject to competition in the market. As already discussed in the “Operating 

Strategies” section, we abolished handset sales incentives, which were paid to 

agent resellers depending on the type of handset a subscriber purchased. Sales 

commissions differ from region to region due to such factors as the compet-

itive and economic environments in the various regions. 

We applied EITF 01-9 and therefore a portion of the sales commissions paid 

to agent resellers, including handset sales incentives, is recognized as a 

deduction from equipment sales revenues and selling, general and adminis-

trative expenses. Due to the introduction of “Value Course”, sales commis-

sions, both before and after the deduction of certain sales commissions to 

agent resellers, decreased for the year ended March 31, 2008 compared with 

the prior fiscal year. For the year ending March 31, 2009, we expect that the 

gross and net amount of sales commissions will continue to decrease due to 

the further penetration of “Value Course.” 

Operating Income 
For the year ended March 31, 2008, a decrease in wireless services revenues, due 

mainly to penetration of newly introduced discount programs, exceeded an increase 

in equipment sales, which resulted in a decrease in operating revenues. On the 

other hand, a decrease in operating expenses due to a decrease in sales commis-

sions subsequent to the introduction of “Value Course” exceeded the decrease in 

operating revenues. As a result, operating income increased. The factors contrib-

uting to the increase in operating income are summarized as follows: 

•  cellular services revenues decreased due to a gradual increase in the discount 

rate of basic monthly charges according to an increase in the number of 

years of subscriptions under long-term subscription discount, penetration of 

discount programs newly introduced for subscriber retention purposes and 

a decrease in MOU in addition to the adverse impact of changes in esti-

mates during the prior year regarding initially recognizing as revenues the 

portion of “Nikagetsu Kurikoshi (2 month carry-over)” allowances that are 

estimated to expire; 

•  a decrease in both the number of handsets sold to agent resellers and 

revenues per handset was more than offset by a decrease in sales commis-

sions to be deducted from gross equipment sales. As a result, net equipment 

sales increased from the prior fiscal year. However, operating revenues still 

decreased as the increase in net equipment sales was not sufficient to cover 

the decrease in cellular services revenues; and

•  a combination of a decrease in sales commissions subsequent to the introduction 

of “Value Course” and a decrease in cost of equipment sold due to a decline 

in the purchase price per handset and in the number of handsets sold contri-

buted to a decrease in operating expenses, which more than offset the decrease 

in operating revenues and resulted in an increase in operating income.

The market environment has become increasingly competitive after the 

introduction of Mobile Number Portability. Under our renewed corporate 

brand, we will be engaged in the promotion of new business models such as 

“Value Course” and the provision of various services as a life-style infra-

structure through marketing activities with a focus on brand loyalty. We expect 

both operating revenues and operating income to increase for the year ending 

March 31, 2009 for the following reasons: 

•  we expect cellular services revenues to decrease because a decline in ARPU caused 

by penetration of “Value Plan”, for which the basic monthly charge is discounted, 

penetration of discount programs newly introduced for subscriber retention 

purposes and negative impact of the provision of free domestic voice calls among 

subscribers registered in the same “Fami-wari MAX 50” account will more than 

offset the positive effect of our acquisition of new subscriptions; 

•  we expect that an increase in the number of handsets sold to agent resellers 

and a continued decrease in sales commissions subsequent to the intro-

duction of “Value Course” will contribute to an increase in equipment sales, 

which will more than offset the decrease in cellular services revenues and 

result in an increase in operating revenues; and 

•  we expect that a continued decrease in sales commissions will be offset by 

an increase in expenses related to retention of current subscribers, resulting 

in a slight increase in operating expenses. We expect the net of the increases 

in operating revenues and operating expenses to be an increase in oper-

ating income. 
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As a life-style infrastructure, we seek to diversify revenue sources in three 

business domains as follows: 

•  promotion of optional flat rate-billing plans or flat-rate value added services 

including “Pake-hodai”, an optional packet flat-rate service for unlimited i-mode 

usage, “i-channel”, a convenient and easy-to-use information push-delivery 

service and “Music & Video Channel”, a music and video downloading service; 

•  accelerated development of non-traffic businesses including the acquisition 

of DCMX subscriptions and promotion of credit usage; and 

•  promotion of usage of international calls and international roaming services, 

and growth through investment and partnership in Asia-Pacific regions. 

We seek to reduce costs by: 

•  reduction of sales commissions through further penetration of “Value 

Course”; 

•  saving on the development cost of FOMA handsets through provision of 

packaged software dedicated to our handsets to handset manufacturers; 

and 

•  administrative optimization and efficient inventory management through 

the merger with our regional subsidiaries. 

Other Income and Expenses 
As part of our corporate strategy, we have made investments in foreign and 

domestic companies in businesses that complement our mobile communications 

business. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the investment is accounted for under 

the equity method and recognized under “Investments in affiliates” in our consol-

idated balance sheets when our equity in the investee’s issued and outstanding 

capital is between 20% and 50% or we are able to exercise significant influence 

over the investee. In accordance with equity method accounting, we include 

equity in net income or losses of affiliates in our consolidated income. Where our 

equity in the investee’s issued and outstanding capital is less than 20%, we include 

the investment as “Marketable securities and other investments” in our consoli-

dated balance sheets. Our results of operations can be affected by impairments of 

such investments and losses and gains on the sale of such investments. In the past, 

we experienced material impairments in the value of our investments in equity 

method affiliates that were included in “Equity in net losses of affiliates” in our 

consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for relevant years. 

It is possible that we could experience similar impairments with respect to our 

investments in affiliates and marketable securities and other investments again in 

the future. Please refer to “—Critical Accounting Policies—Impairment of invest-

ments”. We may also experience material gains or losses on the sale of our invest-

ments. As of March 31, 2008, the total carrying value of our investments in 

affiliates was ¥349.5 billion, while the total carrying value for investments in 

marketable equity securities and equity securities accounted for under the cost 

method was ¥187.3 billion. 

Operating Results for the Year Ended March 31, 2008 
The following discussion includes analysis of our operating results for the year ended March 31, 2008. The tables below describe selected operating data and 

income statement data: 

Key Performance Indicators
 Years ended March 31

 2007 2008 Increase (Decrease) Change (%)

Cellular

Subscriptions (thousands) 52,621 53,388 767 1.5%

 FOMA services (thousands) 35,529 43,949 8,420 23.7%

 mova services (thousands) 17,092 9,438 (7,653) (44.8)%

 i-mode services (thousands) 47,574 47,993 419 0.9%

Market Share (%) 1,2 54.4 52.0 (2.4) —

Aggregate ARPU (FOMA+mova) (yen/month/contract) 3 6,700 6,360 (340) (5.1)%

 Voice ARPU (yen/month/contract) 4  4,690 4,160 (530) (11.3)%

 Packet ARPU (yen/month/contract) 2,010 2,200 190 9.5%

MOU (FOMA+mova) (minutes/month/contract) 3,5 144 138 (6) (4.2)%

Churn Rate (%) 2  0.78 0.80 0.02 —

1  Source for other cellular telecommunications operators: Data announced by Telecommunications Carriers Association 

2  Data calculated including Communication Module Service subscriptions. 

3  Data calculated excluding Communication Module Services-related revenues and Communication Module Services subscriptions. 

4  Inclusive of circuit switched data communications.

5  MOU (Minutes of usage): Average communication time per month per subscription
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Analysis of Operating Results for the Year Ended March 31, 
2008 and Comparison with the Prior Fiscal Year 
As of March 31, 2008, the number of our cellular (FOMA+mova) subscriptions 

reached 53.39 million and increased by 0.77 million (1.5%) from 52.62 million 

at the end of the prior fiscal year. We expect that the growth rate of our 

cellular subscriptions will decelerate in the future as the growth rate of cellular 

subscriptions declines due to the maturity of the market in Japan. The number 

of FOMA subscriptions increased by 8.42 million (23.7%) to 43.95 million as 

of March 31, 2008 from 35.53 million at the end of the prior fiscal year. The 

ratio of FOMA subscriptions to the total cellular subscriptions reached 82.3% 

as of March 31, 2008. On the other hand, the number of mova subscriptions, 

which has decreased since the year ended March 31, 2004, decreased by 7.65 

million (44.8%) to 9.44 million as of March 31, 2008 from 17.09 million as of 

the end of the prior fiscal year. We expect that the migration of mova subscribers 

to FOMA services will continue hereafter. Our market share decreased by 2.4 

point to 52.0% as of March 31, 2008 from 54.4% as of the end of the prior 

fiscal year. The number of i-mode subscriptions increased by 0.42 million 

(0.9%) to 47.99 million as of March 31, 2008 from 47.57 million at the end of 

the prior fiscal year. 

Aggregate ARPU of cellular (FOMA+mova) service decreased by ¥340 

(5.1%) to ¥6,360 for the year ended March 31, 2008 from ¥6,700 in the prior 

fiscal year. Voice ARPU decreased by ¥530 (11.3%) to ¥ 4,160 for the year 

ended March 31, 2008 from ¥4,690 in the prior fiscal year. This decrease in 

voice ARPU was due to a gradual increase in the discount rate of basic monthly 

charges according to an increase in the number of years of subscriptions under 

long-term subscription discount, a decrease in MOU and an increase in the 

number of subscribers who subscribe to discount programs newly introduced 

for the retention of subscriptions. Packet ARPU increased by ¥190 (9.5%) to 

¥2,200 for the year ended March 31, 2008 from ¥2,010 in the prior fiscal year. 

This increase in packet ARPU was due to penetration of services such as 

Breakdown of Financial Information
 Millions of yen 

 Years ended March 31

 2007 2008 Increase (Decrease) Change (%)

Operating revenues:

Wireless services ¥4,314,140 ¥4,165,234 ¥(148,906) (3.5)%

 Cellular services revenues 4,182,609 4,018,988 (163,621)  (3.9)%

  –Voice revenues 6 2,940,364 2,645,096 (295,268) (10.0)% 

   Including: FOMA services 1,793,037 2,084,263 291,226 16.2%

  –Packet communications revenues 1,242,245 1,373,892 131,647 10.6%

   Including: FOMA services 971,946 1,254,648 282,702 29.1%

 PHS services revenues 23,002 9,472 (13,530) (58.8)%

 Other revenues 108,529 136,774 28,245 26.0%

Equipment sales 473,953 546,593 72,640 15.3%

Total operating revenues 4,788,093 4,711,827 (76,266) (1.6)%

Operating expenses

 Cost of services 766,960 811,133 44,173 5.8%

 Cost of equipment sold 1,218,694 1,150,261 (68,433) (5.6)%

 Depreciation and amortization 745,338 776,425 31,087 4.2%

 Selling, general and administrative 1,283,577 1,165,696 (117,881) (9.2)%

Total operating expense 4,014,569 3,903,515 (111,054) (2.8)%

Operating income 773,524 808,312 34,788 4.5%

Other income (expense)  (581) (7,624) (7,043) —

Income before income taxes, equity in net income (losses) 

  of affiliates and minority interests: 772,943 800,688 27,745 3.6% 

Income taxes 313,679 322,955 9,276 3.0%

Income before equity in net income (losses) of affiliates and minority interests: 459,264 477,733 18,469 4.0%

Equity in net income (losses) of affiliates (net of applicable taxes) (1,941) 13,553 15,494 —

Minority interests (45) (84) (39) (86.7)%

Net income ¥   457,278 ¥   491,202 ¥   33,924 7.4%

6 Inclusive of circuit switched data communications. 
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“i-channel”, which promote i-mode usage and of an optional packet flat-rate 

service for unlimited i-mode usage. The MOU (FOMA+mova) decreased by 

6 minutes (4.2%) to 138 minutes from 144 minutes in the prior fiscal year. 

Our churn rate for cellular subscriptions was 0.80% and 0.78% for the 

years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The churn rate increased 

by 0.02 point due to Mobile Number Portability. Although the churn rate for 

the six months ended September 30, 2007 rose to 0.90%, the introduction of 

new discount programs including “Fami-wari MAX 50”, “Hitoridemo Discount 

50” and “Office Discount MAX 50” in August and September 2007 and of 

“Value Course” in November 2007 helped lower the churn rate to 0.71% for 

the six months ended March 31, 2008. We believe that, due to various factors, 

such as the implementation of competitive billing arrangements, customer 

confidence in our network and services and the introduction of new services, 

our churn rate was lower than that of other operators. However, no assurance 

can be given that our churn rate will decline or remain low. 

During the year ended March 31, 2008, we implemented various measures 

with focus on benefit for our subscribers, such as the introduction of “Value 

Course” and “Value Plan”, new discount programs such as “Fami-wari MAX 

50”, “Hitoridemo Discount 50” and “Office Discount MAX 50”, expansion of 

HSDPA services areas, releases of attractive FOMA handsets and the expansion 

of FOMA coverage areas, both indoors and outdoors. 

Operating revenues decreased by ¥76.3 billion (1.6%) to ¥4,711.8 billion 

for the year ended March 31, 2008 from ¥4,788.1 billion in the prior fiscal 

year. Wireless services revenues decreased by ¥148.9 billion (3.5%) to 

¥4,165.2 billion from ¥4,314.1 billion in the prior fiscal year. As a result, 

wireless services accounted for 88.4% of operating revenues for the year 

ended March 31, 2008, decreasing from 90.1% in the prior fiscal year. The 

decrease in wireless services revenues resulted from a decrease in cellular 

services revenues, especially voice revenues, and in PHS services revenues due 

to our termination of PHS services in January 2008. The decrease in cellular 

services revenues was a net of a decrease in voice revenues by ¥295.3 billion 

(10.0%) to ¥2,645.1 billion from ¥2,940.4 billion in the prior fiscal year, and 

an increase in packet communications revenues by ¥131.6 billion (10.6%) to 

¥1,373.9 billion from ¥1,242.2 billion in the prior fiscal year. The factors for 

the decrease in cellular services revenues and the increase in packet commu-

nications revenues were already discussed in the analysis of changes in ARPU. 

The decrease in cellular services revenues was due partially to the adverse 

impact of changes in estimates during the prior fiscal year regarding initially 

recognizing as revenues the portion of “Nikagetsu Kurikoshi (2 month carry-

over)” allowances that are estimated to expire. Voice revenues from FOMA 

services increased by ¥291.2 billion (16.2%) to ¥2,084.3 billion from ¥1,793.0 

billion in the prior fiscal year and packet communications revenues also 

increased by ¥282.7 billion (29.1%) to ¥1,254.6 billion from ¥971.9 billion in 

the prior fiscal year. The revenues from PHS services decreased by ¥13.5 billion 

(58.8 %) to ¥9.5 billion from ¥23.0 billion in the prior fiscal year and repre-

sented 0.2% of total wireless services revenues. Equipment sales increased by 

¥72.6 billion (15.3%) to ¥546.6 billion for the year ended March 31, 2008 

from ¥474.0 billion in the prior fiscal year because of a decrease in sales 

commissions to be deducted from gross equipment sales due to the intro-

duction of “Value Course”. 

Operating expenses decreased by ¥111.1 billion (2.8%) to ¥3,903.5 billion 

for the year ended March 31, 2008 from ¥4,014.6 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

This decrease resulted mainly from a decrease in selling, general and adminis-

trative expenses, by ¥117.9 billion (9.2%) to ¥1,165.7 billion for the year ended 

March 31, 2008 from ¥1,283.6 billion for the prior fiscal year, due to the 

decrease in sales commissions subsequent to the introduction of “Value 

Course”. As the NTT Corporate Defined Benefit Pension Plan (“NTT CDBP”) 

transferred its substitutional obligation and related plan assets of the National 

Welfare Pension Plan to the government in February 2008, the aggregate 

amount of ¥24.7 billion was recognized as a decrease in operating expenses. 

Cost of services increased by ¥44.2 billion (5.8%) to ¥811.1 billion for the year 

ended March 31, 2008 from ¥767.0 billion in the prior fiscal year due to an 

increased number of FOMA base stations installed. Depreciation and amorti-

zation increased by ¥31.1 billion (4.2%) to ¥776.4 billion for the year ended 

March 31, 2008 from ¥745.3 billion in the prior fiscal year, reflecting intensive 

capital expenditures on the FOMA network in prior fiscal years. 

The operating income margin improved to 17.2% for the year ended March 31, 

2008 from 16.2% for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in cost of equipment sold 

due to the decrease in the number of handsets sold and the decrease in selling, 

general and administrative expenses contributed to this improvement. 

As a result of the foregoing, our operating income increased by ¥34.8 

billion (4.5%) to ¥808.3 billion for the year ended March 31, 2008 from 

¥773.5 billion for the prior fiscal year. 

Other income (or expense) includes items such as interest income, interest 

expense, gains and losses on sale of marketable securities and other investments 

and foreign exchange gains and losses. We accounted for ¥7.6 billion as other 

expenses for the year ended March 31, 2008. Other expenses increased by ¥7.0 

billion from ¥0.6 billion for the year ended March 31, 2007. 

Income before income taxes, equity in net income of affiliates and minority 

interests increased by ¥27.7 billion (3.6%) to ¥800.7 billion for the year ended 

March 31, 2008 from ¥772.9 billion for the prior fiscal year. 

Income taxes were ¥323.0 billion for the year ended March 31, 2008 and 

¥313.7 billion in the prior fiscal year, representing effective tax rates of approxi-

mately 40.3% and 40.6%, respectively. We are subject to income taxes imposed 

by various taxing authorities in Japan, including corporate income tax, corporate 

enterprise tax and corporate inhabitant income taxes, which in the aggregate 

amounted to a statutory tax rate of approximately 40.9% for the years ended 

March 31, 2008 and 2007. The Japanese government introduced various special 

tax benefits, one of which enabled us to deduct from our taxable income a 

portion of investments in research and development (“R&D investment tax 

incentive”). The government also introduced an arrangement where we could 

deduct a certain amount of investments in IT systems for two years effective April 

1, 2006 (“IT infrastructure tax incentive”). The difference between our effective 

tax rate and statutory tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 

arose primarily from such special tax allowances. 
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Equity in net income of affiliates (net of applicable taxes) was ¥13.6 billion 

for the year ended March 31, 2008 compared to net losses of ¥1.9 billion for 

the prior fiscal year, due to the application of the equity method to our 

investment in Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company, a telecommunica-

tions operator in the Philippines. 

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded net income of ¥491.2 billion for 

the year ended March 31, 2008, an increase of ¥33.9 billion (7.4%) from 

¥457.3 billion for the prior fiscal year.

Operating Results for the Year Ended March 31, 2007 
The following discussion includes analysis of our operating results for the year ended March 31, 2007. The tables below describe selected operating data and 

income statement data: 

Key Performance Indicators 
 Years ended March 31

 2006 2007 Increase (Decrease) Change (%)

Cellular

Subscriptions (thousands) 51,144 52,621 1,477 2.9%

 FOMA services (thousands) 23,463 35,529 12,066 51.4%

 mova services (thousands) 27,680 17,092 (10,589) (38.3)%

 i-mode services (thousands) 46,360 47,574 1,214 2.6%

Market Share (%) 1, 2  55.7 54.4 (1.3) —

Aggregate ARPU (FOMA+mova) (yen/month/contract) 3 6,910 6,700 (210) (3.0)%

 Voice ARPU (yen/month/contract) 4 5,030 4,690 (340) (6.8)%

 Packet ARPU (yen/month/contract) 1,880 2,010 130 6.9%

MOU (FOMA+mova) (minutes/month/contract) 3, 5 149 144 (5) (3.4)%

Churn Rate (%) 2  0.77 0.78 0.01 —

1   Source for other cellular telecommunications operators: Data announced by Telecommunications Carriers Association 

2   Data calculated including Communication Module Service subscriptions. 

3   Data calculated excluding Communication Module Services-related revenues and Communication Module Services subscriptions. 

4   Inclusive of circuit switched data communications.

5   MOU (Minutes of usage): Average communication time per month per subscription
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Analysis of Operating Results for the Year Ended March 31, 
2007 and Comparison with the Prior Fiscal Year 
As of March 31, 2007, the number of our cellular (FOMA+mova) subscriptions 

reached 52.62 million and increased by 1.48 million (2.9%) from 51.14 million 

at the end of the prior fiscal year. The number of FOMA subscriptions increased 

by 12.07 million (51.4%) to 35.53 million as of March 31, 2007 from 

23.46 million at the end of the prior fiscal year. On the other hand, the number 

of mova subscriptions, which has decreased since the year ended March 31, 

2004, decreased by 10.59 million (38.3%) to 17.09 million as of March 31, 

2007 from 27.68 million as of the end of the prior fiscal year. Our market 

share decreased by 1.3 point to 54.4% as of March 31, 2007 from 55.7% as 

of March 31, 2006. The number of i-mode subscriptions increased by 1.21 

million (2.6%) to 47.57 million as of March 31, 2007 from 46.36 million at the 

end of the prior fiscal year. 

Aggregate ARPU of cellular (FOMA+mova) service decreased by ¥210 

(3.0%) to ¥6,700 for the year ended March 31, 2007 from ¥6,910 in the prior 

fiscal year. While voice ARPU decreased by ¥340 (6.8%) to ¥4,690 for the year 

ended March 31, 2007 from ¥5,030 in the prior fiscal year, packet ARPU 

increased by ¥130 (6.9%) to ¥2,010 for the year ended March 31, 2007 from 

¥1,880 in the prior fiscal year. This trend was attributable to a decrease in 

MOU following further penetration of cellular phones into lower usage 

subscriber segments and a large number of subscribers using i-mode services 

instead of voice calls. The shrinking trend of ARPU also resulted from our 

introduction of billing arrangements with reduced or flat rates intended to 

maintain our current subscribers, an increase in the number of subscribers 

who subscribe to discount programs and the increase in the number of FOMA 

billing plans that can be combined with our packet flat-rate service for 

unlimited i-mode usage. The MOU (FOMA+mova) decreased by 5 minutes 

(3.4%) to 144 minutes from 149 minutes in the prior fiscal year. 

Breakdown of Financial Information 
 Millions of yen 

 Years ended March 31

 2006 2007 Increase (Decrease) Change (%)

Operating Revenues:

Wireless services ¥4,295,856 ¥4,314,140 ¥   18,284 0.4%

 Cellular services revenues 4,158,134 4,182,609 24,475 0.6%

  –Voice revenues 1 3,038,654 2,940,364 (98,290) (3.2)% 

   Including: FOMA services 1,169,947 1,793,037 623,090 53.3%

  –Packet communications revenues 1,119,480 1,242,245 122,765 11.0%

   Including: FOMA services 613,310 971,946 358,636 58.5%

 PHS services revenues 40,943 23,002 (17,941) (43.8)%

 Other revenues 96,779 108,529 11,750 12.1%

Equipment sales 470,016 473,953 3,937 0.8%

Total operating revenues 4,765,872 4,788,093 22,221 0.5%

Operating Expenses

 Cost of services 746,099 766,960 20,861 2.8%

 Cost of equipment sold 1,113,464 1,218,694 105,230 9.5%

 Depreciation and amortization 738,137 745,338 7,201 1.0%

 Selling, general and administrative 1,335,533 1,283,577 (51,956) (3.9)%

Total operating expense 3,933,233 4,014,569 81,336 2.1%

Operating Income 832,639 773,524 (59,115) (7.1)%

Other Income (Expense)2  119,664 (581) (120,245) —

Income before income taxes, equity in net losses  

  of affiliates and minority interests: 952,303 772,943 (179,360) (18.8)% 

Income taxes 341,382 313,679 (27,703) (8.1)%

Income before equity in net losses of affiliates and minority interests: 610,921 459,264 (151,657) (24.8)%

Equity in net losses of affiliates (net of applicable taxes)   (364) (1,941) (1,577) (433.2)%

Minority interests (76) (45) 31 40.8%

Net Income ¥   610,481 ¥   457,278 ¥(153,203) (25.1)%

1 Inclusive of circuit switched data communications. 

2  Inclusive of an aggregate gain on sales of Hutchison 3G UK Holdings Limited (“H3G UK”) and KPN Mobile N.V. (“KPN Mobile”) shares of ¥101,992 million for the year ended March 31, 2006.
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Our churn rate for cellular subscriptions was 0.78% and 0.77% for the years 

ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The churn rate increased by 0.01 

point due to the introduction of Mobile Number Portability. The churn rate after 

the introduction of Mobile Number Portability was at a higher level than that 

before its introduction. Although the excess of the number of our subscribers 

who switched their subscriptions to other network operators through Mobile 

Number Portability over the number of subscribers who switched to us had an 

adverse impact on our net additional subscriptions, we evaluated the overall 

impact of Mobile Number Portability on our results of operations and financial 

position as limited during the year ended March 31, 2007. 

For the year ended March 31, 2007, we implemented various measures to 

retain and expand our subscriber base, such as the introduction of a new 

packet billing plan which enables subscribers to access internet websites in 

addition to i-mode sites or to browse video clips at a flat-rate, the launch of 

HSDPA services, releases of attractive FOMA handsets and the expansion of 

FOMA coverage areas, both indoors and outdoors. These measures resulted in 

the acquisition of new subscriptions and contributed to a net increase in the 

number of subscriptions. However, the downward trend of ARPU continued 

for the year ended March 31, 2007. 

Operating revenues increased by ¥22.2 billion (0.5%) to ¥4,788.1 billion for 

the year ended March 31, 2007 from ¥4,765.9 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

Wireless services revenues increased by ¥18.3 billion (0.4%) to ¥4,314.1 billion 

from ¥4,295.9 billion in the prior fiscal year. As a result, wireless services 

accounted for 90.1% of operating revenues for the year ended March 31, 2007, 

maintaining the same level from the prior fiscal year. The increase in wireless 

services revenues resulted from the excess of the increase in cellular services 

revenues and other revenues, the former of which was derived from an increase 

in the number of cellular subscriptions and our recognition as revenue of the 

portion of “Nikagetsu Kurikoshi” (2 month carry-over) allowance that are 

projected to expire, over the decrease in revenues from PHS services, which we 

already decided to terminate. The increase in cellular services revenues was a net 

of a decrease in voice revenues, by ¥98.3 billion (3.2%) to ¥2,940.4 billion from 

¥3,038.7 billion in the prior fiscal year, and an increase in packet communications 

revenues, by ¥122.8 billion (11.0%) to ¥1,242.2 billion from ¥1,119.5 billion in 

the prior fiscal year. This result demonstrated an increase in revenues from packet 

usage due to a large number of subscribers using i-mode services instead of voice 

calls, and penetration of our packet flat-rate service for unlimited i-mode usage 

and services such as “i-channel”, through which we intend to promote i-mode 

usage. Voice revenues from FOMA services increased by ¥623.1 billion (53.3%) 

to ¥1,793.0 billion from ¥1,169.9 billion in the prior fiscal year and packet 

communications revenues also increased by ¥358.6 billion (58.5%) to ¥971.9 

billion from ¥613.3 billion in the prior fiscal year. PHS services revenues decreased 

by ¥17.9 billion (43.8 %) to ¥23.0 billion from ¥40.9 billion in the prior fiscal year 

and represented 0.5% of total wireless services revenues. Equipment sales 

increased by ¥3.9 billion (0.8%) to ¥474.0 billion for the year ended March 31, 

2007 from ¥470.0 billion in the prior fiscal year because of the increase in the 

number of handsets sold after the introduction of Mobile Number Portability. 

Operating expenses increased by ¥81.3 billion (2.1%) to ¥4,014.6 billion 

for the year ended March 31, 2007 from ¥3,933.2 billion in the prior fiscal 

year. This increase resulted mainly from an increase in cost of equipment sold, 

by ¥105.2 billion (9.5%) to ¥1,218.7 billion for the year ended March 31, 

2007 from ¥1,113.5 billion for the prior fiscal year, due to the increase in the 

number of handsets sold after the introduction of Mobile Number Portability. 

Cost of services increased by ¥20.9 billion (2.8%) to ¥767.0 billion for the year 

ended March 31, 2007 from ¥746.1 billion in the prior fiscal year due to an 

increased number of FOMA base stations installed. Depreciation and amorti-

zation increased by ¥7.2 billion (1.0%) to ¥745.3 billion for the year ended 

March 31, 2007 from ¥738.1 billion in the prior fiscal year, reflecting active 

capital expenditures on the FOMA network in recent years. 

The operating income margin decreased to 16.2% for the year ended 

March 31, 2007 from 17.5% in the prior fiscal year. The lower operating 

margin resulted mainly from the increase in cost of equipment sold after the 

introduction of Mobile Number Portability. 

As a result of the foregoing, our operating income decreased by ¥59.1 

billion (7.1%) to ¥773.5 billion for the year ended March 31, 2007 from 

¥832.6 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

Other income (or expense) includes items such as interest income, interest 

expense, gains and losses on sale of marketable securities and other investments, 

and foreign exchange gains and losses. We accounted for ¥0.6 billion as other 

expense for the year ended March 31, 2007. Due to an adverse impact of the 

aggregate gains of ¥102.0 billion on the sale of H3G UK shares and KPN Mobile 

shares during the year ended March 31, 2006, other income decreased by ¥120.2 

billion from other income of ¥119.7 billion for the year ended March 31, 2006. 

Income before income taxes, equity in net losses of affiliates and minority 

interests decreased by ¥179.4 billion (18.8%) to ¥772.9 billion for the year 

ended March 31, 2007 from ¥952.3 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

Income taxes were ¥313.7 billion for the year ended March 31, 2007 and 

¥341.4 billion in the prior fiscal year, representing effective tax rates of approxi-

mately 40.6% and 35.9%, respectively. The statutory tax rate was approxi-

mately 40.9% for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. In addition to the 

R&D investment tax incentive, the Japanese government introduced an 

arrangement where we could deduct from taxable income the amount equiv-

alent to 10% of acquisition cost of certain IT related assets up to the amount 

equivalent to 20% of corporate income tax for the three years started April 1, 

2003 (“IT investment promotion tax incentive”) as well as the IT infrastructure 

tax incentive. The difference between our effective tax rate and statutory tax 

rate for the year ended March 31, 2006 arose primarily from such special tax 

allowances. For the year ended March 31, 2006, our effective tax rate became 

lower than our statutory tax rate as we were able to realize the tax benefits of 

the special tax allowances generated during the year ended March 31, 2006, 

and a portion of those carried forward from the prior fiscal year which had previ-

ously been reserved. For the year ended March 31, 2007, the difference between 

the effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate shrunk due to the effect of expi-

ration of the IT investment promotion tax incentive on March 31, 2006 and the 

limited tax benefit in amount derived from the IT infrastructure tax incentive. 

Equity in net losses of affiliates (net of applicable taxes) increased to ¥1.9 billion 

for the year ended March 31, 2007 from ¥0.4 billion for the prior fiscal year. 

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded net income of ¥457.3 billion for 

the year ended March 31, 2007, a decrease of ¥153.2 billion (25.1%) from 

¥610.5 billion in the prior fiscal year.
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Segment Information 
General 
Our business consists of three reportable segments: mobile phone business, 

PHS business and miscellaneous businesses. Our management monitors and 

evaluates the performance of our segments based on the information that 

follows, as derived from our management reports. 

 Our mobile phone business segment includes: 

• FOMA services; 

• mova services; 

• packet communications services; 

• international services; 

• satellite mobile communications services; and 

• equipment sales related to these services. 

Our PHS business segment includes PHS service and the related equipment 

sales. Our miscellaneous businesses segment includes credit services, public 

wireless LAN services and other miscellaneous services, the aggregate revenues 

or assets of which are not significant in amount. 

Mobile Phone Business Segment 
For the year ended March 31, 2008, operating revenues from our mobile 

phone business segment decreased by ¥71.7 billion (1.5 %) to ¥4,647.1 billion 

from ¥4,718.9 billion in the prior fiscal year. Cellular services revenues, which 

are revenues from voice and packet communications of mobile phone services, 

decreased by ¥163.6 billion (3.9%) to ¥4,019.0 billion from ¥4,182.6 billion in 

the prior fiscal year. Equipment sales revenues increased for the year ended 

March 31, 2008 from the prior fiscal year as the sales commissions to be 

deducted from gross equipment sales decreased due to the introduction of 

“Value Course”. Revenues from our mobile phone business segment repre-

sented 98.6% and 98.5% of total operating revenues for the years ended 

March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Operating expenses in our mobile 

phone business segment decreased by ¥126.3 billion (3.2%) to ¥3,788.9 billion 

from ¥3,915.2 billion in the prior fiscal year. As a result, operating income from 

our mobile phone business segment increased by ¥54.5 billion (6.8%) to 

¥858.2 billion from ¥803.7 billion in the prior fiscal year. Analysis of the 

changes in revenues and expenses of our mobile phone business segment is 

also presented in “Operating Strategies”, “Operating Trends” and “Operating 

Results for the year ended March 31, 2008”, which were discussed above. 

PHS Business Segment 
Considering the outlook for our PHS business, we terminated the PHS services 

effective January 7, 2008. We were engaged in a campaign to encourage PHS 

subscribers to migrate to FOMA services until the termination of the services. 

Operating revenues in the PHS business segment decreased by ¥13.5 billion 

(57.5%) to ¥10.0 billion for the year ended March 31, 2008 from ¥23.4 billion 

in the prior fiscal year. Revenues from our PHS business segment represented 

0.2% and 0.5% of total operating revenues for the years ended March 31, 

2008 and 2007, respectively. Operating expenses in the PHS business segment 

increased by ¥1.1 billion (2.8%) to ¥39.9 billion from ¥38.8 billion in the prior 

fiscal year. As a result, operating loss in the PHS business segment for the year 

ended March 31, 2008 increased to ¥30.0 billion from ¥15.4 billion in the 

prior fiscal year. 

 

Miscellaneous Businesses Segment 
Operating revenues from our miscellaneous businesses increased by ¥9.0 

billion (19.6%) to ¥54.7 billion for the year ended March 31, 2008, which 

represented 1.2% of total operating revenues, from ¥45.8 billion in the prior 

fiscal year. The increase was mainly due to an increase in revenues from busi-

nesses such as advertisement, development, sales and maintenance of IT systems, 

and high-speed internet connection services for hotel facilities. Operating 

expenses from our miscellaneous businesses increased by ¥14.1 billion 

(23.3%) to ¥74.7 billion from ¥60.6 billion in the prior fiscal year. The increase 

was mainly due to an increase in expenses related to our credit services. As a 

result, operating loss from our miscellaneous businesses worsened to ¥19.9 

billion from ¥14.8 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued 

FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141 (revised 

2007) “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141R”). SFAS No. 141R requires 

an acquirer in a business combination to generally recognize and measure all 

the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling 

interest in the acquiree at their fair values as of acquisition date. SFAS No. 

141R also requires the acquirer to recognize and measure as goodwill the 

excess of consideration transferred plus the fair value of any noncontrolling 

interest in the acquiree at acquisition date over the fair value of the identi-

fiable net assets acquired. The excess of the fair value of the identifiable net 

assets acquired over consideration transferred plus the fair value of any 

noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at acquisition date is required to be 

recognized and measured as a gain from a bargain purchase. SFAS No. 141R 

is effective for business combination transactions for which the acquisition 

date is on or after the fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. 

The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 141R will depend on future business 

combination transactions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 “Noncontrolling Interests 

in Consolidated Financial Statements – an amendment of ARB (Accounting 

Research Bulletin) No. 51”. SFAS No. 160 requires that the noncontrolling 

interest held by parties other than the parent be clearly identified, labeled and 

presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, 

but separate from the parent’s equity. SFAS No. 160 also requires changes in 

parent’s ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling financial 

Mobile phone business 98.6%
PHS business 0.2%

Miscellaneous businesses 1.2%

Total 4,711,827
millions of yen

Operating Revenues by Segment
The year ended March 31, 2008



Annual  Report  2008          73         

FINANCIAL SECTION

interest in its subsidiary be accounted as equity transactions. SFAS No. 160 is 

effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008. We currently expect that the impact of the 

adoption of SFAS No. 160 on our result of operations and financial position 

will be immaterial.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 “Disclosures about Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment of SFAS No. 133.” SFAS 

No. 161 requires entities with derivative instruments to disclose information 

that should enable financial statement users to understand how and why an 

entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related 

hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and how derivative 

instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years 

and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. We are currently 

evaluating the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 161 on our results of opera-

tions and financial position.

Critical Accounting Policies 
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires our 

management to make estimates about expected future cash flows and other 

matters that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements in accor-

dance with accounting policies established by our management. Note 2 to our 

consolidated financial statements includes a summary of the significant 

accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial state-

ments. Certain accounting policies are particularly sensitive because of their 

significance to our reported results and because of the possibility that future 

events may differ significantly from the conditions and assumptions under-

lying the estimates used and judgments relating thereto made by our 

management in preparing our financial statements. Our senior management 

has discussed the selection and development of the accounting estimates and 

the following disclosure regarding the critical accounting policies with our 

independent public accountants as well as our corporate auditors. The 

corporate auditors attend meetings of the Board of Directors and certain exec-

utive meetings to express their opinion and are under a statutory duty to 

oversee the administration of our affairs by our Directors and to examine our 

financial statements. Our critical accounting policies are as follows. 

Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment, Internal Use 
Software and Other Intangible Assets 
The values of our property, plant and equipment, such as the base stations, 

antennas, switching centers and transmission lines used by our cellular 

business, our internal-use software and our other intangible assets are 

recorded in our financial statements at acquisition or development cost and 

depreciated or amortized over their estimated useful lives. We estimate the 

useful lives of property, plant and equipment, internal-use software and other 

intangible assets in order to determine the amount of depreciation and amor-

tization expense to be recorded in each fiscal year. Our total depreciation and 

amortization expenses for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

were ¥776.4 billion, ¥745.3 billion and ¥738.1 billion, respectively. We 

determine the useful lives of our assets at the time the assets are acquired and 

base our determinations on expected usage, experience with similar assets, 

established laws and regulations as well as taking into account anticipated 

technological or other changes. The estimated useful lives of our wireless tele-

communications equipment are generally set at from 8 to 16 years. The esti-

mated useful life of our internal-use software is set at 5 years. If technological 

or other changes occur more rapidly or in a different form than anticipated, or 

new laws or regulations are enacted, or the intended usage changes, the 

useful lives assigned to these assets may need to be shortened, resulting in 

recognition of additional depreciation and amortization expenses or losses in 

future periods. 

 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets 
We perform an impairment review for our long-lived assets to be held and used, 

including fixed assets such as our property, plant and equipment and certain 

identifiable intangibles such as software for telecommunications network, 

internal-use software and rights to use telecommunications facilities of wire line 

network operators, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. This analysis is separate 

from our analysis of the useful lives of our assets, although it is affected by some 

similar factors. Factors that we consider important and that can trigger an 

impairment review include, but are not limited to, the following trends or condi-

tions related to the business that utilizes a particular asset: 

• significant decline in the market value of an asset; 

• loss of operating cash flow in current period; 

• introduction of competitive technologies and services; 

• significant underperformance of expected or historical cash flows; 

• significant or continuing decline in subscriptions; 

• changes in the manner of usage of an asset; and 

• other negative industry or economic trends. 

When we determine that the carrying amount of specific assets may not be 

recoverable based on the existence or occurrence of one or more of the above 

or other factors, we estimate the future cash inflows and outflows expected 

to be generated by the assets over their expected useful lives. We also estimate 

the sum of expected undiscounted future net cash flows based upon historical 

trends adjusted to reflect our best estimate of future market and operating 

conditions. If the carrying value of the assets exceeds the sum of the expected 

undiscounted future net cash flows, we record an impairment loss based on 

the fair values of the assets. Such fair values may be based on established 

markets, independent appraisals and valuations or discounted cash flows. If 

actual market and operating conditions under which assets are used are less 

favorable or subscriber numbers are less than those projected by management, 

either of which results in loss of cash flows, additional impairment charges for 

assets not previously written-off may be required. 

Impairment of Investments 
We have made investments in certain domestic and foreign entities. These 

investments are accounted for under either the equity method, cost adjusted 

for fair value method or cost method, as appropriate based on various condi-

tions such as ownership percentages, exercisable influence over the invest-

ments and marketability of the investments. The total carrying value for the 

investments in affiliates was ¥349.5 billion, while the total carrying value for 

investments in marketable equity securities and equity securities accounted 
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for under the cost method was ¥187.3 billion as of March 31, 2008. Equity 

method and cost method accounting require that we assess if a decline in 

value or an associated event regarding any such investment has occurred and, 

if so, whether such decline is other than temporary. We perform a review for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an investment may not be recoverable. Factors that we 

consider important and that can trigger an impairment review include, but are 

not limited to, the following: 

•  significant or continued declines in the market values of the investee; 

• loss of operating cash flow in current period; 

•  significant underperformance of historical cash flows of the investee; 

•  significant impairment losses or write-downs recorded by the investee; 

•  significant changes in the quoted market price of public investee affiliates; 

• negative results of competitors of investee affiliates; and 

• other negative industry or economic trends. 

In performing our evaluations, we utilize various information including 

discounted cash flow valuations, independent valuations and, if available, 

quoted market values. Determination of recoverable amounts sometimes 

require estimates involving results of operations and financial position of the 

investee, changes in technology, capital expenditures, market growth and 

share, discount factors and terminal values. 

 In the event we determine as a result of such evaluations that there are 

other than temporary declines in value of investment below its carrying value, 

we record an impairment charge. Such write-down to fair value establishes a 

new cost basis in the carrying amount of the investment. The impairment 

charge of investment in affiliates is included in “Equity in losses of affiliates” 

while the impairment charge of marketable securities or equity securities 

under the cost method is reflected in “Other income (expense)” in our consol-

idated statements of income and comprehensive income. During the year 

ended March 31, 2006, we determined that there was no other than 

temporary declines in the values of our investee affiliates. For the year ended 

March 31, 2008 and 2007, although we recorded impairment charges accompa-

nying other than temporary declines in the values of certain investee affiliates, 

the impairment charges were immaterial in amount. For the years ended 

March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, we recorded impairment charges accompa-

nying with other than temporary declines in the values of certain investments 

which were classified as marketable securities or equity securities under the 

cost method. However, the impairment charges did not have a material impact 

on our results of operations and financial position.

While we believe that the remaining carrying values of our investments are 

nearly equal to their fair value, circumstances in which the value of an investment 

is below its carrying amount or changes in the estimated realizable value can 

require additional impairment charges to be recognized in the future. 

 

Deferred Tax Assets 
We record deferred tax assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates for the 

estimated future tax effects of carry-forwards and temporary differences 

between the tax basis of an asset or liability and the amount reported in the 

balance sheet. In determining the amounts of the deferred tax assets or liabil-

ities, we have to estimate the tax rates expected to be in effect during the carry-

forward periods or when the temporary differences reverse. We recognize a 

valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets when it is determined 

that it is more likely than not some or all of future tax benefits will not be 

realized. In determining the valuation allowance, we estimate expected future 

taxable income and the timing for claiming and realizing tax deductions and 

assess available tax planning strategies. If we determine that future taxable 

income is lower than expected or that the tax planning strategies cannot be 

implemented as anticipated, the valuation allowance may need to be addi-

tionally recorded in the future in the period when such determination is made. 

 

Pension Liabilities 
We sponsor a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan which covers 

almost all of our employees. We also participate in the NTT CDBP, a contrib-

utory defined benefit welfare pension plan sponsored by NTT group. 

Calculation of the amount of pension cost and liabilities for retirement 

allowances requires us to make various judgments and assumptions including 

the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, long-term 

rate of salary increases and expected remaining service lives of our plan partic-

ipants. We believe that the most significant of these assumptions in the calcu-

lations are the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan 

assets. We determine an appropriate discount rate based on current market 

interest rates on high-quality, fixed-rate debt securities that are currently 

available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the 

pension benefits. In determining the expected long-term rate of return on 

plan assets, we consider the current and projected asset allocations, as well as 

expected long-term investment returns and risks for each category of the plan 

assets based on analysis of historical performances. The rates are reviewed 

annually and we review our assumptions in a timely manner when an event 

occurs that would have significant influence on the rates or the investment 

environment changes dramatically. 
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The amount of projected benefit obligations of our non-contributory 

defined benefit pension plan as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 was ¥182.2 

billion and ¥183.0 billion, respectively. The amount of projected benefit obli-

gations of the NTT CDBP as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, based on actuarial 

computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ participation, was 

¥78.3 billion and ¥131.4 billion, respectively. The amount is subject to a 

substantial change due to differences in actual performance or changes in 

assumptions. In conjunction with the differences between estimates and the 

actual benefit obligations, net losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the 

projected benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets are amortized from 

“Accumulated other comprehensive income” over the expected average 

remaining service life of employees in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

The discount rates applied in determination of the projected benefit obligations as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, and expected long-term rates of return on 

plan assets for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
 Years ended March 31

 2007 2008

Non-contributory defined benefit pension plan

 Discount rate 2.2% 2.3%

 Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 2.5% 2.5%

 Actual return on plan assets Approximately 3% Approximately (9)%

NTT CDBP

 Discount rate 2.2%  2.3% 

 Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 2.5% 2.5%

 Actual return on plan assets Approximately 3% Approximately (5)%

The following table shows the sensitivity of our non-contributory defined benefit pension plan and the NTT CDBP as of March 31, 2008 to the change in the 

discount rate or the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, while holding other assumptions constant. 

 Billions of yen

   Accumulated other 
 Change in Change in pension comprehensive 
 projected benefit cost, before income, net of 
Change in Assumptions obligation applicable taxes applicable taxes

Non-contributory defined benefit pension plan

 0.5% increase/decrease in discount rate (11.6) / 12.5 0.3 / (0.2) 7.0 / (7.5)

 0.5% increase/decrease in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets — (0.4) / 0.4 —

NTT CDBP

 0.5% increase/decrease in discount rate (8.6) / 9.7 0.3 / (0.3) 5.3 / (5.9)

 0.5% increase/decrease in expected long-term rate of return on plan assets — (0.4) / 0.5 —

Please also refer to Note 16 “Employees’ retirement benefits” to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Revenue Recognition 
We defer upfront activation fees and recognize them as revenues over the 

expected term of a subscription. Related direct cost to the extent of the acti-

vation fee amount are also being deferred and amortized over the same period. 

While this policy does not have any material impact on our net income, the 

reported amounts of revenue and cost of services are affected by the level of 

activation fees, related direct cost and the estimated length of the subscription 

period over which such fees and cost are amortized. Factors that affect our 

estimate of the subscription period over which such fees and cost are amor-

tized include subscriber churn rate and newly introduced or anticipated 

competitive products, services and technology. The current amortization periods 

are based on an analysis of historical trends and our experiences. For the years 

ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, we recognized as revenues deferred 

activation fees of ¥38.2 billion, ¥45.2 billion and ¥54.6 billion, respectively, as 

well as corresponding amounts of related deferred cost. As of March 31, 2008, 

remaining unrecognized deferred activation fees were ¥103.7 billion. 

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Cash Requirements 
As discussed in “Operational Strategies” section of “A. Operating Results”, 

we introduced a new handset sales method called “Value Course” in 

November 2007. Under “Value Course”, if a subscriber chooses to pay for a 

handset in installments, we pay for the purchased handset to agent resellers 

and then charge the installment receivable for the handset in the monthly bill 

to the subscriber for the installment payment term. Thus, the advance payment 

for the purchased handset to the agent reseller is likely to have an impact on 

our cash flow and liquidity. Our cash requirements for the year ending 

March 31, 2009 include cash needed to pay for the purchased handsets to the 

agent resellers, to expand our FOMA infrastructure, to invest in other facilities, 

to make repayments for interest bearing liabilities and other contractual obliga-

tions and to pay for strategic investments, acquisitions, joint ventures or other 

investments. We believe that cash generated from our operating activities, 
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future borrowings from banks and other financial institutions or future offerings 

of equity or debt securities in the capital markets will provide sufficient financial 

resources to meet our currently anticipated capital and other expenditure 

requirements and to satisfy our debt service requirements. When we determine 

the necessity for external financing, we take into consideration the amount of 

cash demand, timing of payments, available reserves of cash and cash equiva-

lents and expected cash flows from operations. If we determine that demand 

for cash exceeds the amount of available reserves of cash and cash equivalents 

and expected cash flows from operations, we plan on obtaining external 

financing through borrowing or the issuance of debt or equity securities. Addi-

tional debt, equity or other financing may be required if we underestimate our 

capital or other expenditure requirements, or overestimate our future cash 

flows. There can be no assurance that such external financing will be available 

on commercially acceptable terms or in a timely manner. 

 

Capital Expenditures 

The wireless telecommunications industry is highly capital intensive because 

significant capital expenditures are required for the construction of wireless 

telecommunications network. Our capital requirements for our networks are 

determined by the nature of facility or equipment, the timing of its installment, 

the nature and the area of coverage desired, the number of subscribers served 

in the area and the expected volume of traffic. They are also influenced by the 

number of cells required in the service area, the number of radio channels in 

the cell and the switching equipment required. Capital expenditures are also 

required for information technology and servers for Internet-related services. 

Our capital expenditures for the year ended March 31, 2008 decreased from 

the prior fiscal year. The intensive capital expenditures for expansion of the FOMA 

network to prepare for Mobile Number Portability already hit its peak during the 

prior fiscal year. During the year ended March 31, 2008, we added approximately 

7,000 outdoor base stations for our FOMA services for an aggregate of approxi-

mately 42,700 installed base stations as of March 31, 2008. We also promoted 

the installment of indoor systems for our FOMA services to complete coverage of 

approximately 15,100 facilities as of March 31, 2008. On the other hand, we 

were involved with cost saving efforts such as economized procurement, design 

and installment of low-cost devices, and improvements in construction processes. 

Total capital expenditures for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 

2006 were ¥758.7 billion, ¥934.4 billion and ¥887.1 billion, respectively. For 

the year ended March 31, 2008, 68.6% of capital expenditures were used for 

construction of the FOMA network, 1.9% for construction of the second 

generation mova network, 11.7% for other cellular facilities and equipment 

and 17.8% for general capital expenditures such as an internal IT system. By 

comparison, in the prior fiscal year, 71.2% of capital expenditures were used 

for construction of the FOMA network, 2.0% for the mova network, 10.5% 

for other cellular facilities and equipment, 0.1% for construction of the PHS 

network and 16.2% for general capital expenditures. 

For the year ending March 31, 2009, we expect total capital expenditures 

to be ¥719.0 billion, of which approximately 65.6% will be for the FOMA 

network, 1.1% for the mova network, 12.0% for other cellular facilities and 

equipment and 21.3% for general capital expenditures. We intend to atten-

tively respond to various demands from our subscribers and increase their 

convenience by further improving the quality of our FOMA network quality 

and managing sudden increases in packet traffic with the expansion of the 

HSDPA network. 

We currently expect that capital expenditures for the next few fiscal years will 

be at a lower level primarily because capital expenditures related to expanding, 

maintaining and upgrading our FOMA network already peaked in the prior 

fiscal year resulting in an expected decrease in subsequent fiscal years. 

Our level of capital expenditures may vary significantly from expected levels 

for a number of reasons. Capital expenditures for expansion and enhancement 

of our existing cellular network may be influenced by the growth in subscrip-

tions and traffic, which is difficult to predict with certainty, the ability to identify 

and procure suitably located base station sites on commercially reasonable 

terms, competitive environments in particular regions and other factors. The 

nature, scale and timing of capital expenditures to reinforce our 3G network 

may be materially different from our current plans due to demand for the 

services, delays in the construction of the network or in the introduction of 

services and changes in the variable cost of components for the network. We 

expect that these capital expenditures will be affected by market demand for 

our mobile multimedia services, including i-mode and other data transmission 

services, and by our schedule for ongoing expansion of the existing network to 

meet demand. 

Long-term Debt and Other Contractual Obligations 
As of March 31, 2008, we had ¥476.8 billion in outstanding long-term debt 

including the current maturities, primarily in corporate bonds and loans from 

financial institutions, compared to ¥602.9 billion as of the end of the prior 

fiscal year. We did not implement any long-term financing in the years ended 

March 31, 2008, 2007, or 2006, during which we repaid ¥131.0 billion, 

¥193.7 billion and ¥150.3 billion of long-term debt, respectively. 

Of our long-term debt outstanding as of March 31, 2008, ¥95.2 billion, 

including current portion, was indebtedness to financial institutions.  

The indebtedness consisted of debts denominated in Japanese yen, US dollar 

and Singapore dollar mainly with fixed interest rates, of which the weighted 

average was 1.2%, 6.4% and 4.7% per annum, respectively. The term of 

maturities was from the year ending March 31, 2009 through 2013. As of 

March 31, 2008, we also had ¥381.5 billion in bonds due from the year ending 

March 31, 2009 to 2012 with a weighted average coupon rate of 1.4%.  
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We carefully consider terms and conditions of corporate bonds and loans from 

financial institutions to avoid an excessive concentration of our repayment or 

redemption obligations. 

On June 11, 2008, we issued unsecured domestic corporate bonds in the 

amount of ¥80.0 billion, of which the coupon rate is 1.96%, and the 

redemption will be due during the year ending March 31, 2019. We intend to 

assign cash raised through this issuance of corporate bonds mainly to the 

repayment of long-term debt obligations.

 

As of March 31, 2008, we and our long-term debt obligations were rated by 

rating agencies as shown in the table below. Such ratings were issued by the 

rating agencies upon our requests. On May 21, 2007, Standard & Poor’s upgraded 

our long-term issue and issuer credit ratings from AA- to AA. Credit ratings 

reflect rating agencies’ current opinions about our financial capability of meeting 

payment obligations of our debt in accordance with their terms. Rating agencies 

are able to upgrade, downgrade, reserve or withdraw their credit ratings on us 

anytime at their discretions. The rating is not a market rating or recommendation 

to buy, hold or sell our shares or any financial obligations of us. 

 Rating agencies Type of rating Rating Outlook

Moody’s  Long Term Obligation Rating Aa1 Stable

Standard & Poor’s Long-Term Issuer Credit Rating AA Stable

Standard & Poor’s Long-Term Issue Credit Rating AA —

Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. Long-Term Senior Debt Rating AAA Stable

Rating and Investment Information, Inc.  Issuer Rating  AA+ Stable

None of our debt obligations has ever had a clause in which a downgrade of our credit rating could lead to a change in a payment term of such an obligation so 

as to accelerate its maturity. 

The following table summarizes our long-term debt, lease obligations and other contractual obligations (including current portion) over the next several years. 

Long Term Debt, Lease Obligations and Other Contractual Obligations
 Millions of yen

 Payments due by period

  1 year    
Category of obligations Total or less 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years 

Long-Term Debt     

 Bonds ¥381,511 ¥  49,200 ¥163,845 ¥168,466 ¥       —

 Loans 95,241 26,462 46,037 22,742 —

Capital Leases 8,284 3,036 3,923 1,264 61

Operating Leases 22,629 2,152 3,391 2,848 14,238

Other Contractual Obligations 118,695 118,695 — — —

 Total ¥626,360 ¥199,545 ¥217,196 ¥195,320 ¥14,299

*  The amount of contractual obligations which is immaterial in amount or of which the timing of payments are uncertain is not included in “Other Contractual Obligations” in the above table. 

“Other contractual obligations” principally consisted of commitments to 

purchase property and equipment for our cellular network, commitments to 

purchase inventories, mainly handsets, commitments to purchase services and 

commitments to acquire equity securities. As of March 31, 2008, we had 

committed ¥51.7 billion for property, plant and equipment, ¥22.0 billion for 

inventories and ¥44.9 billion for other purchase commitments. 

In addition to our existing commitments, we expect to make significant 

capital expenditures on an ongoing basis for our FOMA network and for other 

purposes. Also, we consider potential opportunities for entry to new areas of 

business, merger and acquisitions, establishment of joint ventures, strategic 

investments or other arrangements primarily in wireless communications busi-

nesses from time to time. Currently, we have no contingent liabilities related 

to litigation or guarantees that could have a materially adverse effect on our 

financial position. 
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Sources of Cash 
The following table sets forth certain information about our cash flows during the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

 Millions of yen 

 Years ended March 31

 2006 2007 2008

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥1,610,941 ¥ 980,598 ¥1,560,140

Net cash used in investing activities (951,077) (947,651) (758,849)

Net cash used in financing activities (590,621) (531,481) (497,475)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 70,772 (497,662) 303,843

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 769,952 840,724 343,062

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥  840,724 ¥ 343,062 ¥   646,905

Analysis of Cash Flows for the Year Ended March 31, 2008 and 
Comparison with the Prior Fiscal Year 
For the year ended March 31, 2008, our net cash provided by operating activ-

ities was ¥1,560.1 billion, an increase by ¥579.5 billion (59.1%) from ¥980.6 

billion in the prior fiscal year. Net cash provided by operating activities increased 

due mainly to the following; 

•  a decrease in the net payment of income taxes by ¥179.2 billion, where the 

payment of income taxes decreased to ¥ 200.1 billion from ¥359.9 billion 

in the prior fiscal year and the collection of income taxes receivable increased 

to ¥20.3 billion from ¥0.9 billion in the prior fiscal year, after deferred tax 

asset from the impairment of our investment in H3G UK was realized; and 

•  as banks were closed on the last day of March 2007, cash in the amount of 

¥210.0 billion including cellular revenues, which would have been received 

by March 31, 2007, was actually received in April 2007. 

 

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended March 31, 2008 was 

¥758.8 billion, the main components of which included expenditures of 

¥765.3 billion for purchases of tangible and intangible assets and of ¥124.3 

billion for strategic investments, and net proceeds of ¥148.9 billion mainly 

from redemption of long-term investments and changes in investments with 

original maturities of more than three months for cash management purposes. 

The net amount of cash used decreased by ¥188.8 billion (19.9%) from 

¥947.7 billion used in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in the net cash used 

consisted mainly of the following: 

•  expenditures for purchases of tangible and intangible assets decreased to 

¥765.3 billion from ¥948.7 billion in the prior fiscal year; 

•  net proceeds from redemption of long-term investments and changes in 

investments with original maturities of more than three months for cash 

management purposes increased to ¥148.9 billion from ¥50.7 billion in the 

prior fiscal year; and 

•  purchases of non-current investments increased to ¥124.3 billion from 

¥41.9 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

During the year ended March 31, 2008, in order to respond attentively to 

diverse demand from our subscribers, we invested in telecommunications facilities 

and equipment to expand the network coverage of HSDPA services and to enhance 

FOMA network reliability and capacity against the growth of traffic demand. 

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended March 31, 2008 was 

¥497.5 billion, primarily from the repayment of ¥131.0 billion for long-term 

debt, dividend payments of ¥190.5 billion and payments of ¥173.0 billion for 

acquisition of treasury stock. The net amount of cash used decreased by ¥34.0 

billion (6.4%) from ¥531.5 billion in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in net 

cash used in financing activities was due primarily to the following: 

•  a decrease in the repayment of long-term debt to ¥131.0 billion from 

¥193.7 billion in the prior fiscal year;

•  an increase in dividend payments to ¥190.5 billion from ¥176.9 billion in 

the prior fiscal year; and 

•  an increase in payments to acquire treasury stock to ¥173.0 billion from 

¥157.2 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

Cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2008 amounted to ¥646.9 

billion, representing an increase by ¥303.8 billion (88.6%) from ¥343.1 billion 

as of the end of the prior fiscal year. The balance of investments with original 

maturities of longer than three months, which were made to manage a part 

of our cash efficiently, was ¥52.2 billion and ¥200.5 billion as of March 31, 

2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Analysis of Cash Flows for the Year Ended March 31, 2007 and 
Comparison with the Prior Fiscal Year 
For the year ended March 31, 2007, our net cash provided by operating activ-

ities was ¥980.6 billion, a decrease by ¥630.3 billion (39.1%) from ¥1,610.9 

billion in the prior fiscal year. Net cash provided by operating activities 

decreased due mainly to the following; 

•  an increase in the payment of income taxes to ¥359.9 billion from ¥182.9 

billion and a decrease in the collection of income taxes receivable to ¥0.9 

billion from ¥93.1 billion in the prior fiscal year, when deferred tax asset 

from the impairment of our investment in AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. was 

realized; and 

•  because the bank was closed on the last day of March 2007, which fell on 

a weekend, our cash reception of ¥210.0 billion including cellular revenues 

was deferred to the following month. 

Net cash used in investing activities was ¥947.7 billion, which consisted 

mainly of expenditures of ¥948.7 billion for purchases of tangible and intan-
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gible assets and of ¥41.9 billion for strategic investments, offset by proceeds 

of ¥50.7 billion mainly from redemption of long-term investments and 

changes in investments with original maturities of more than three months for 

cash management purposes. The net amount of cash used decreased by ¥3.4 

billion (0.4%) from ¥951.1 billion used in the prior fiscal year. The slight 

decrease in the net cash used consisted mainly of the following: 

•  expenditures for purchases of tangible and intangible assets increased to 

¥948.7 billion from ¥833.9 billion in the prior fiscal year; 

•  proceeds from redemption of long-term investments and changes in invest-

ments with original maturities of more than three months for cash 

management purposes decreased to ¥50.7 billion from ¥149.0 billion in 

the prior fiscal year, and 

•  purchases of non-current investments decreased to ¥41.9 billion from 

¥292.6 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2007, in order to prepare for the introduction 

of Mobile Number Portability, we actively invested in telecommunications facilities 

and equipment to expand the network coverage of FOMA services and to enhance 

its network reliability and capacity against the growth of traffic demand. 

Net cash used in financing activities was ¥531.5 billion, primarily from the 

repayment of ¥193.7 billion for long-term debt, dividend payments of ¥176.9 

billion and payments of ¥157.2 billion for the acquisition of treasury stock. 

The net amount of cash used decreased ¥59.1 billion (10.0%) from ¥590.6 

billion in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in net cash used in financing activ-

ities was due primarily to the followings: 

•  an increase in the repayment for long-term debt to ¥193.7 billion from 

¥150.3 billion in the prior fiscal year;

•  an increase in dividend payments to ¥176.9 billion from ¥135.5 billion in 

the prior fiscal year; and 

•  a decrease in payments to acquire treasury stock to ¥157.2 billion from 

¥300.1 billion in the prior fiscal year. 

Cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2007 amounted to ¥343.1 

billion, representing a decrease by ¥497.7 billion (59.2%) from ¥840.7 billion 

as of the end of the prior fiscal year. The amount of investments with original 

maturities of longer than three months, which were made to manage a part 

of our cash efficiently, was ¥200.5 billion and ¥251.0 billion as of March 31, 

2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Prospect of Cash Flows for the Year Ending March 31, 2009 
As for our sources of cash for the year ending March 31, 2009, we currently 

expect our net cash flows from operating activities to decrease significantly 

from the prior fiscal year because of an increase in installment receivable due 

to penetration of “Value Course” and an increase in payment for income 

taxes. We currently anticipate that the trend of decreasing cash flows from 

operating activities will be temporary.  

Our net cash flow used in investing activities for the year ending March 31, 

2009 is expected to decrease because of a decrease in our capital expendi-

tures to approximately ¥719.0 billion from ¥758.7 billion for the year ended 

March 31, 2008. 

 

C. Research and Development 

Our research and development activities embrace three key efforts: devel-

opment of new products and services such as handsets and applications for 

3G systems, development of infrastructure and compatible handsets featuring 

what is called “Super 3G” or “3.9G” technology, and research and devel-

opment related to fourth-generation systems. Research and development 

expenditures are charged to expenses as incurred. We spent ¥100.0 billion, 

¥99.3 billion and ¥110.5 billion as research and development expenses for the 

years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

 

D. Trend Information

The Japanese cellular phone market is undergoing changes brought about by 

factors such as a higher cellular phone penetration rate, diversification of 

customer needs, introduction of Mobile Number Portability and market entry 

by new competitors. In this environment, with operators taking measures such 

as the enhancement of handset lineups and the introduction of value-added 

services and lower billing plans, we expect that competition will become 

increasingly fierce.
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In the year ending March 31, 2009, we expect that our operating revenues 

and operating income will increase in comparison with the prior fiscal year 

based on the following trends in our business: 

•  While we anticipate that an increase in new subscriptions will be limited 

due to the high cellular phone penetration rate, we expect to acquire a 

higher net increase in the number of subscriptions in the year ending March 

31, 2009 compared to that in the year ended March 31, 2008, by taking 

measures such as lowering the churn rate through our marketing aimed at 

upgrading brand loyalty and improving the satisfaction of current subscribers. 

Furthermore, we expect the proportion of FOMA subscriptions to increase to 

approximately 90% of our total cellular subscriptions due to ongoing 

migration of our mova subscribers to FOMA services; 

•  Aggregate ARPU (FOMA+mova) and voice ARPU (FOMA+mova) each 

decreased while packet ARPU (FOMA+mova) increased in the year ended 

March 31, 2008, as compared to the prior fiscal year. We expect these 

trends to continue in the year ending March 31, 2009, primarily as a result 

of the penetration of the discount programs implemented in prior years to 

strengthen our competitiveness and the effects of a decrease in revenue in 

conjunction with the introduction of the “Value Plan”. The “Value Plan” 

provides discounted basic monthly charges in exchange for the subscriber’s 

payment for the handset price not discounted by handset sales incentives. 

With regards to the packet ARPU, the increase is due primarily to the 

uptrend in billed amounts in conjunction with the migration from mova to 

FOMA and the increase in subscriptions to our optional packet flat-rate 

service for unlimited i-mode usage;

•  With regard to equipment sales, in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008, 

the number of handsets sold to sales agents and handset costs declined 

compared to the previous fiscal year, but with the introduction of the 

“Value Course” in November 2007, handset sales incentives which are 

deducted from equipment sales were reduced, and after deduction of sales 

commission to agent resellers, equipment sales increased over the previous 

fiscal year. In the fiscal year ending March 31, 2009, we expect an increase 

in the number of handsets sold wholesale to agent resellers is expected, 

and combined with further market penetration by the “Value Course”, we 

expect this increase to lead to a decline of handset sales incentives which 

are deducted from equipment sales, and we expect equipment sales after 

deduction of sales commission to agent resellers to increase significantly 

over the previous fiscal year.

•  Due to the above, we expect operating income for the fiscal year ending 

March 31, 2009 to increase over the previous fiscal year. Despite a decrease 

in cellular services revenues resulting from the decrease in aggregate ARPU 

exceeding the effects of increased revenue in conjunction with subscriber 

growth, we expect that this decrease will be more than offset by the 

increase in equipment sales.

•  We expect SG&A expenses, network cost (telecommunication facility use 

charges, depreciation and amortization cost, loss on sale or disposal of 

fixed assets) and other operating expenses for the fiscal year ending March 

31, 2009, to remain at the same level as the previous fiscal year. While we 

expect measures implemented to improve the satisfaction of current 

subscribers (including CI changes through revamping of the corporate 

brand and the merger with the regional DOCOMO companies) to lead to 

an increase in general expenses, this increase will be offset by a decrease in 

sales commissions through market penetration of the “Value Course” and 

greater efficiency and lower costs in capital investment.

We expect net income for the year ending March 31, 2009 to increase in 

comparison with the prior fiscal year based on the above trends in our business.

It should be noted that with the “Value Course” introduced in November 

2007, sales commissions, which in the past were applied at the time of sale, 

will be reduced. However, in the accompanying “Value Plan”, the discount on 

basic monthly charges will be applied into the future, which will result in an 

impermanent contribution to increased revenues. We expect that this effect 

will be greatest in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2009 when this sales 

model will penetrate the market, and in the fiscal year ending March 2010 

and beyond, this effect will decline.
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Risks Relating to Our Business and the Japanese Wireless 
Telecommunications Industry 

As competition in the market becomes more fierce due to changes 

in the business environment caused by Mobile Number Portability, 

new market entrants, competition from other cellular service 

providers or other technologies, and other factors, could limit our 

acquisition of new subscriptions, and retention of existing subs-

cribers, or may lead to diminishing ARPU or an increase in our costs 

and expenses.

Market changes such as the introduction of Mobile Number Portability (MNP) 

and the emergence of new service providers are resulting in increasing compe-

tition with other service providers in the telecommunications industry. For 

example, other mobile service providers have introduced new products and 

services including 3G handsets, music player handsets, music distribution 

services, and fixed-rate services for voice communications limited to specified 

recipients, e-mail, and new installment sale methods for handsets. There are 

also providers that now offer or may in the future offer services such as 

combined billing, aggregated point programs, and services offering free calls 

between fixed-line and cellular phones in conjunction with fixed-line commu-

nications, which may be more convenient for customers.

At the same time, there may be increased competition resulting from the 

introduction of other new services and technologies, especially low-priced and 

flat-rate services, fixed-line or mobile IP phones, high-speed fixed-line 

broadband Internet service and digital broadcasting, wireless LAN, and so on 

or an integration of the services.

In addition to competition from other service providers and technologies, 

there are other factors increasing competition among mobile network oper-

ators in Japan such as saturation in the Japanese cellular market, changes to 

business and market structures due to the entry of new competitors in the 

market, including MVNOs*, changes in the regulatory environment, and 

increased rate competition.

Under these circumstances, the number of net new subscriptions we 

acquire may continue to decline in the future and may not reach the number 

we expect. Also, in addition to difficulty acquiring new subscriptions, we may 

not be able to maintain existing subscriptions at expected levels due to 

increased competition among cellular service providers in the areas of rates 

and services. Furthermore, in order to capture new subscriptions and maintain 

existing subscriptions, we may need to incur higher than expected costs. In 

this fiercely competitive environment, in order to provide advanced services 

and increase convenience to our customers, we have made various rate revi-

sions such as the introduction in June 2004 of “Pake-hodai”, which is a flat-

rate packet transmission service for FOMA i-mode, the introduction of a new 

unified rate plan for FOMA services and mova services in November 2005 that 

users find simple and easy to understand, the introduction in March 2006 of 

a new rate plan that enables users to apply Pake-hodai to all FOMA services, 

the introduction in March 2007 of “Pake-hodai Full”, a service that enables 

subscribers with full-browser handsets to view not only i-mode but also PC 

websites and video for a flat monthly rate, the introduction in August 2007 of 

“Fami-wari MAX 50” and “Hitoridemo Discount 50,” which give a uniform 

50% discount on basic monthly charges, regardless of length of continuous 

service, and the introduction in April 2008 of a new rate plan that allows users 

in the same “Family Discount” group to make free domestic calls to each 

other 24 hours a day. However, we cannot be certain that these measures will 

enable us to acquire new and maintain existing subscribers. Furthermore, 

these rate revisions are expected to lead to a certain decline in ARPU, but if the 

trend of subscribers using “Family Discounts” and switching to flat-rate 

services increases more than we expect, our ARPU may decrease more than 

we expect, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 

and results of operations.

*MVNO: Mobile Virtual Network Operator, a business that borrows the wireless communication infrastructure of 

other companies to provide services.

Current and new services, usage patterns, and sales schemes intro-

duced by our corporate group may not develop as planned, which 

could affect our financial condition and limit our growth.

We view the expansion of AV traffic such as video phones using 3G handsets, the 

development and expansion of new services such as credit services useful in 

everyday life and business through i-mode FeliCa, and increased revenue through 

the expansion of data communications as important to our future growth. 

However, a number of uncertainties may arise to prevent the development of 

these services and constrain our growth. In particular, we cannot be certain that:

•  We will be able to find the partners and content providers needed to 

provide the new services and forms of usage we are introducing and 

persuade a sufficient number of vendors and other establishments to install 

i-mode FeliCa readers;

•  We will be able to provide planned new services and forms of usage as 

scheduled and keep costs needed for the deployment and expansion of 

such services within budget;

•  The services and installment sale and other methods we offer and plan to 

offer will be attractive to current and potential subscribers and there will be 

sufficient demand for such services;

•  Manufacturers and content providers will create and offer products 

including handsets for our 3G system and handsets and programming for 

our 3G i-mode services at appropriate prices and on a timely basis;

•  Our current and future data communications services including i-mode and 

other services will be attractive to existing and potential subscribers and 

achieve continued or new growth;

•  Demand in the market for mobile handset functionality will be as we expect 

and as a result our handset procurement costs will be reduced; and

•  We will be able to commence services with improved data communication 

speeds enabled by HSDPA (High Speed Downlink Packet Access, a high-

speed packet transmission technology utilizing Wideband Code Division 

Multiple Access, or W-CDMA) technology planned.

If the development of our new services or forms of usage is limited, it may 

have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Factors
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The introduction or change of various laws or regulations or the 

application of such laws and regulations to our corporate group 

could restrict our business operations, which may adversely affect 

our financial condition and results of operations.

 The Japanese telecommunications industry has been undergoing regulatory 

reform in many areas including rate regulation. Because we operate on radio 

spectrum allocated by the Government, the mobile telecommunications 

industry in which we operate is particularly affected by the regulatory 

environment. Various governmental bodies have been recommending or 

considering changes that could affect the mobile telecommunications industry, 

and there may be continued reforms including the introduction or revision of 

laws or regulations that could have an adverse effect on us. These include:

•  Revision of the spectrum allocation system such as reallocation of spectrum 

and introduction of an auction system; 

•  Measures to open up some segments of telecommunication platform func-

tions such as authentication and payment collection to other operators; 

•  Rules that could require us to open our i-mode service to all content 

providers and Internet service providers or that could prevent us from 

setting or collecting i-mode content fees or putting i-mode service on 

cellular phone handsets as an initial setting; 

•  Regulations to prohibit or restrict certain content or transactions or mobile 

Internet services such as i-mode;

•  Measures which would introduce new costs such as the designation of 

mobile phone communications as a universal service and other changes to 

the current universal service fund system;

•  Regulations to increase handset competition such as SIM* unlocking regu-

lations;

• Fair competition measures to promote new entry by MVNOs

•  Introduction of new measures to promote competition based on a review 

of the designated telecommunications facilities system (dominant carrier 

regulation); and

•  Other measures including competition safeguard measures directed toward 

us, NTT East and NTT West to enhance competition that would restrict our 

business operations in the telecommunications industry.

 It is difficult to predict with certainty if any of the above changes will be 

proposed to the relevant laws and regulations and, if they are made, the extent 

to which our business will be affected. However, the implementation of one or 

more of the changes described above or other changes to laws and regulations 

could materially affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

* SIM:  Subscriber Identity Module. An IC card inserted into a handset on which subscriber information is recorded, 

used to identify user.

 

Limitations in the amount of frequency spectrum or facilities made 

available to us could negatively affect our ability to maintain and 

improve our service quality and level of customer satisfaction.

One of the principal limitations on a cellular communication network’s capacity 

is the available radio frequency spectrum it can use. We have limited spectrum 

and facilities available to us to provide our services. As a result, in certain parts 

of metropolitan Tokyo and Osaka, such as areas near major train stations, our 

cellular communication network operates at or near the maximum capacity of 

its available spectrum during peak periods, which may cause reduced service 

quality. In addition, the quality of the services we provide may also decrease 

due to the limited processing capacity of our base stations and switching 

facilities during peak usage periods if our subscription base dramatically 

increases or the volume of content such as images and music provided through 

our i-mode service significantly expands. Also, in relation to our 3G service, 

packet transmission flat fee service for 3G i-mode, and our flat-rate service 

that enables subscribers to view full-browser PC websites and video, an 

increase in the number of subscriptions and traffic volume of our subscribers 

may go substantially beyond our projections, we may not be able to process 

such traffic with our existing facilities and our quality of service may decline. 

 Furthermore, with an increasing number of subscriptions and traffic volume, 

our quality of service may decline if we cannot obtain the necessary allocation 

of spectrum from the Government for the smooth operation of our business. 

 We may not be able to avoid reduced quality of services despite our continued 

efforts to improve the efficiency of our use of spectrum through technology and 

to acquire new spectrum. If we are not able to successfully address such 

problems in a timely manner, we may experience constraints on the growth of 

our mobile communications services or lose subscribers to our competitors, 

which may materially affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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The W-CDMA technology that we use for our 3G system and/or 

mobile multimedia services may not be introduced by other 

overseas operators, which could limit our ability to offer 

international services to our subscribers

For our 3G system, we currently use W-CDMA technology. W-CDMA tech-

nology is one of the global standards for cellular telecommunications tech-

nology approved by the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) as part 

of its efforts to standardize 3G cellular technology through the issuance of 

guidelines known as IMT-2000. We may be able to offer our services, such as 

global roaming, on a worldwide basis if enough other mobile operators adopt 

handsets and network facilities based on W-CDMA standard technology that 

is compatible with ours. We expect that the companies we have invested in 

overseas, our overseas strategic partners and many other mobile operators 

will adopt this technology.

Also, we have technology alliances with overseas operators in relation to i-

mode services and we are aggressively promoting the spread and expansion of 

i-mode services by overseas operators.

However, if a sufficient number of other mobile operators do not adopt 

W-CDMA technology or there is a delay in the introduction of W-CDMA tech-

nology, we may not be able to offer global roaming services as expected and 

we may not be able to offer our subscribers the convenience of overseas 

service. Also, if adoption of W-CDMA technology abroad is not conducted 

sufficiently and the number of i-mode subscribers among our strategic 

partners and the usage of i-mode service by those subscribers does not 

increase sufficiently, we may not realize the benefits of economies of scale we 

currently expect in terms of purchasing network facilities and offering handsets 

and contents developed for our services at appropriate prices. Also, we cannot 

be sure that handset manufacturers or manufacturers of network equipment 

will be able to appropriately and promptly adjust their handsets and network 

equipment if we need to change the handsets or network we currently use 

due to a change in W-CDMA technology as a result of activities conducted by 

standard-setting organizations.

If W-CDMA technology and i-mode services do not develop as we expect 

and we are not able to improve the quality of our overseas services or enjoy 

the benefits of global economies of scale, this may have an adverse effect on 

our financial condition and results of operations.

Our domestic and international investments, alliances and collabo-

rations may not produce the returns or provide the opportunities 

we expect. 

One of the major components of our strategy is to increase our corporate 

value through domestic and overseas investments, alliances and collabora-

tions. We have entered into alliances and collaborations with other companies 

and organizations overseas which we believe could help us achieve this 

objective. We are also promoting this strategy by investing, entering into alli-

ances with and collaborating with domestic companies and investing in new 

business areas.

However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain or 

enhance the value or performance of our past or future investments or that we 

will receive the returns or benefits we expect from these investments, alliances 

and collaborations. Our investments in new business areas outside of the mobile 

telecommunication business may be accompanied by challenges beyond our 

expectations, as we have little experience in such new areas of business.

In recent years, the companies in which we have invested have experienced 

a variety of negative developments, including severe competition, increased 

debt burdens, significant volatility in share prices and financial difficulties. To 

the extent that these investments are accounted for by the equity method and 

to the extent that the investee companies have net losses, our financial results 

will be adversely affected by our pro rata portion of these losses. If there is a 

loss in the value of our investment in any investee company and such loss in 

value is other than a temporary decline, we may be required to adjust the 

book value and recognize an impairment loss for such investment. Also, a 

business combination or other similar transaction involving any of our investee 

companies could require us to realize impairment loss for any decline in the 

value of investment in such investee company. In either event, our financial 

condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

As electronic payment capability and many other new features are 

built into our cellular phones, and services of parties other than 

those belonging to our corporate group are provided through our 

cellular handsets, potential problems resulting from malfunctions, 

defects or loss of handsets, or imperfection of services provided by 

such other parties may arise, which could have an adverse effect on 

our financial condition and results of operations.

Various functions are mounted on the mobile handsets we provide, and if we 

cannot appropriately deal with technological problems that may arise with 

respect to current or future handsets or the malfunction, defect or loss of 

handsets, our credibility may decline and our corporate image may be damaged, 

leading to an increase in cancellations of subscription or an increase in expenses 

for indemnity payments to subscribers and our financial condition or results of 

operations may be affected. New issues may arise which are different from 

those related to mobile communications services which we have been providing, 

especially with i-mode handsets with FeliCa capabilities that can be used for 

electronic payment and credit transactions. Events that may lead to a decrease 

in our credibility and corporate image, or an increase in cancellations of subscrip-

tions and indemnity payments for subscribers include the following:

• Breakdown, defect and malfunction of our handsets;

•  Loss of information, e-money or points due to a breakdown of handsets or 

other factors;

•  Illegal use of information, e-money, credit functions and points by third 

parties due to a loss or theft of handsets;

•  Illegal access to and use of user records and balances accumulated on 

handsets by third-parties; and

•  Inadequate and inappropriate management of e-money, credit functions or 

points by companies with which we make alliances or collaborate.
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Social problems that could be caused by misuse or misunders-

tanding of our products and services may adversely affect our 

credibility or corporate image.

We may face an increase in cancellations of existing subscriber contracts and 

difficulty in acquiring new subscriptions due to decreased credibility of our 

products and services and damaged corporate image caused by inappropriate 

use of our products and services by unscrupulous subscribers.

One example is unsolicited bulk e-mail sent through our e-mail services, 

including i-mode service and short mail. Despite our extensive efforts to address 

this issue by protecting our subscribers from incurring any economic disad-

vantage caused by unsolicited bulk e-mails including notifying our subscribers 

via various brochures, providing unsolicited bulk e-mail filtering functions with 

our handsets and pursuing actions against companies which distribute large 

amounts of such unsolicited bulk e-mails, the problem has not yet been rooted 

out. If our subscribers receive a large amount of unsolicited e-mail, it may cause 

a decrease in customer satisfaction and damage our corporate image, leading 

to a reduction in the number of i-mode subscriptions.

Mobile phones have been used in crimes such as the “it’s me” fraud, 

whereby callers request an emergency bank remittance pretending to be a 

relative. To combat these misuses of our services, we have introduced various 

measures such as more strict identification confirmation at points of purchase 

and ended new contracts for pre-paid mobile phones as of the end of March 

2005 because pre-paid mobile phones are easier to use in criminal activities. 

However, in the event criminal usage increases, mobile phones may be 

regarded as a problem and lead to an increase in cancellation of contracts.

In addition, as our handsets and services become more sophisticated, new 

issues may arise when subscribers are charged fees for packet transmission at 

levels higher than they are aware of as a result of using handsets without fully 

recognizing over use of packet transmission in terms of frequency and volume. 

Also, there are issues concerning manners for phone usage in public places such 

as in trains and aircraft and the occurrence of car accidents caused by the use of 

mobile phones while driving. Further, from the perspective of encouraging sound 

development of the Internet society, we have introduced a filtering service that 

limits access to harmful web sites that can have a negative impact on minors. 

However, with regard to this service, there has been a wide range of debate, 

involving MIC, Internet content providers, and others, and the matter has become 

a social issue. These issues may similarly damage our corporate image.

To date, we believe that we have properly addressed the social issues 

involving mobile phones. However, it is uncertain whether we will be able to 

continue addressing those issues appropriately in the future as well and if we 

fail to do so, we may experience an increase in cancellation of existing 

subscriber contracts or fail to acquire new subscribers as expected, and this 

may affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

Inadequate handling of confidential business information including 

personal information by our corporate group, contractors and other 

factors, may adversely affect our credibility or corporate image.

 

In April 2005, the Law concerning the Protection of Personal Information (the 

“Personal Information Protection Law”) came into force and protection of 

personal information became an important issue at companies that handle 

personal information. We possess information on numerous subscribers in the 

telecommunications, credit, and other businesses, and to appropriately and 

promptly address the Personal Information Protection Law, we have set up an 

“information security department” to put in place comprehensive security 

management across the company such as thorough management of subscriber 

information, employee education, supervision of subcontractors and by 

strengthening technological security.

However, in the event an information leak occurs despite these security 

measures, our credibility may be significantly damaged and we may expe-

rience an increase in cancellation of subscriber contracts, an increase in 

indemnity costs and slower increase in additional subscriptions, and our 

financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

Owners of intellectual property rights that are essential for our 

business execution may not grant us the right to license or otherwise 

use such intellectual property rights on acceptable terms or at all, 

which may limit our ability to offer certain technologies, products 

and/or services, and we may also be held liable for damage compen-

sation if we infringe the intellectual property rights of others.

For the Group to carry out its business, it is necessary to obtain licenses and 

other rights to use the intellectual property rights of third parties. Currently, 

the group is obtaining licenses from the holders of the rights concerned by 

concluding license agreements. We will obtain the licenses from the holders of 

the rights concerned if others have the rights to those intellectual property 

rights which are necessary for us to operate our business in the future. 

However, if we cannot come to agreement with the holders of the rights 

concerned or mutual agreement concerning the granted rights cannot be 

maintained afterwards, there is a possibility that we will not be able to provide 

specific technologies, products or services of the group. Also, if the group 

receives claims of violation of intellectual property rights from others, we may 

be forced to expend considerable time and cost in reaching a resolution, and 

if such claims are recognized, we may be liable to pay damages for infringement 

of the rights concerned, which may adversely affect our financial condition 

and results of operations.
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Earthquakes, power shortages, malfunctioning of equipment, 

software bugs, computer viruses, cyber attacks, hacking, unauthor-

ized access and other problems could cause systems failures in the 

networks required for the provision of service, disrupting our 

ability to offer services to our subscribers and may adversely affect 

our credibility or corporate image.

We have built a nationwide network including base stations, antennas, 

switching centers and transmission lines and provide mobile communication 

service using this network. In order to operate our network systems in a safe 

and stable manner, we have various measures in place such as redundant 

systems. However, despite these measures, our system could fail for various 

reasons including hardware problems, network damage caused by earth-

quakes, power shortages, typhoons, floods, terrorism and similar phenomena 

and events. These system failures can require an extended time for repair and 

as a result, may lead to decreased revenues and increased repair costs, and our 

financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

There have been instances in which millions of computers worldwide were 

infected by viruses through the Internet. Similar incidents could occur on our 

mobile communications network. If such a virus entered our network or 

handsets through such means as hacking, unauthorized access, or otherwise, 

our system could fail and our mobile phones become unusable. In such an 

instance, the credibility of our network and customer satisfaction could 

decrease significantly. Although we have enhanced our security systems to 

block unauthorized access and remote downloading in order to provide for 

unexpected events, such precautions may not make our system fully prepared 

for every event. In addition, our network could be affected by software bugs, 

incorrect equipment settings and human errors which are not the result of 

malfeasance, but also cause system failures or breakdowns.

In the event we are unable to properly respond to any such events, our 

credibility or corporate image may be reduced, and we may experience a 

decrease in revenues as well as significant repair costs, which may affect our 

financial condition and results of operations.

Concerns about wireless telecommunications health risks may 

adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Media and other reports have suggested that electric wave emissions from 

wireless handsets and other wireless equipment may adversely affect the 

health of mobile phone users and others such as by causing cancer and vision 

loss and interfering with various electronic medical devices including hearing 

aids and pacemakers, and also may present increased health risks for users 

who are children. While these reports have not been conclusive, and although 

the findings in such reports are disputed, the actual or perceived risk of 

wireless telecommunications devices to the health of users could adversely 

affect us through increased cancellation by existing subscribers, reduced 

subscriber growth, reduced usage per subscriber or litigation, and may also 

potentially adversely affect our corporate image, financial condition and 

results of operations. The perceived risk of wireless devices may have been 

elevated by certain wireless carriers and handset manufactures affixing labels 

to their handsets showing levels of electric wave emissions or warnings about 

possible health risks. Research and studies are ongoing and we are actively 

attempting to confirm the safety of wireless telecommunications, but there 

can be no assurance that further research and studies will not demonstrate a 

relation between electric wave emissions and health problems.

Furthermore, although the electric wave emissions of our cellular handsets 

and base stations comply with the electromagnetic safety guidelines of Japan, 

including guidelines regarding the specific absorption rate of electric waves, 

and the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, the 

guidelines of which are regarded as an international safety standard, the Elec-

tromagnetic Compatibility Conference of Japan has confirmed that some elec-

tronic medical devices are affected by the electromagnetic interference from 

cellular phones as well as other portable radio transmitters. As a result, Japan 

has adopted a policy to restrict the use of cellular services inside medical facil-

ities. We are working to ensure that our subscribers are aware of these restric-

tions when using cellular phones. There is a possibility that modifications to 

regulations, new regulations or restrictions could limit our ability to expand 

our market or our subscription base or otherwise adversely affect us.

Our parent company, Nippon Telegraph and Telephone Corporation 

(NTT), could exercise influence that may not be in the interests of 

our other shareholders.

As of March 31, 2008, NTT owned 64.8% of our outstanding voting shares. 

While being subject to the conditions for fair competition established by the 

Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications (“MPT”, currently the Ministry of 

Internal Affairs and Communications, or “MIC”) in April 1992, NTT retains the 

right to control our management as a majority shareholder, including the right 

to appoint directors. Currently, although we conduct our day-to-day opera-

tions independently of NTT and its other subsidiaries, certain important 

matters are discussed with, or reported to, NTT. As such, NTT could take 

actions that are in its best interests, which may not be in the interests of our 

other shareholders.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
>> CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

March 31, 2007 and 2008  Thousands of 

  Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

ASSETS

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents  ¥    343,062 ¥    646,905 $   6,478,768

 Short-term investments

  Third parties 100,543 2,208 22,113

  Related parties 50,000 50,000 500,751

 Accounts receivable

  Third parties 844,305 671,417 6,724,257

  Related parties 28,018 15,256 152,789

   Sub-total 872,323 686,673 6,877,046

  Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (13,178) (15,037) (150,596)

   Total accounts receivable, net 859,145 671,636 6,726,450

 Inventories 145,892 146,584 1,468,042

 Deferred tax assets 94,868 108,037 1,081,993

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

  Third parties 132,959 136,395 1,365,999

  Related parties 5,444 6,015 60,240

   Total current assets 1,731,913 1,767,780 17,704,356
 

Property, plant and equipment:

 Wireless telecommunications equipment 5,149,132 5,346,486 53,545,178

 Buildings and structures 778,638 797,904 7,991,027

 Tools, furniture and fixtures 613,945 536,718 5,375,243

 Land   199,007 198,958 1,992,569

 Construction in progress 114,292 128,042 1,282,343

   Sub-total 6,855,014 7,008,108 70,186,360

   Accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,954,361) (4,173,501) (41,797,707)

   Total property, plant and equipment, net 2,900,653 2,834,607 28,388,653
 

Non-current investments and other assets:

 Investments in affiliates 176,376 349,488 3,500,130

 Marketable securities and other investments  261,456 187,361 1,876,425

 Intangible assets, net 551,029 555,259 5,560,931

 Goodwill 147,821 158,889 1,591,277

 Other assets

  Third parties 157,656 222,225 2,225,588

  Related parties 61,615 11,822 118,398

 Deferred tax assets   127,696 123,403 1,235,884

   Total non-current investments and other assets 1,483,649 1,608,447 16,108,633

Total assets ¥ 6,116,215 ¥ 6,210,834 $ 62,201,642

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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  Thousands of 

  Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTERESTS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

 Current portion of long-term debt   ¥   131,005 ¥     75,662 $     757,757

 Short-term borrowings 102 1,712 17,146

 Accounts payable, trade 

  Third parties 666,829 626,992 6,279,339

  Related parties 94,279 90,461 905,969

 Accrued payroll 46,584 53,538 536,184

 Accrued interest 809 710 7,111

 Accrued income taxes 68,408 203,645 2,039,509

 Other current liabilities 

  Third parties 152,843 179,513 1,797,827

  Related parties 2,066 2,082 20,851

   Total current liabilities 1,162,925 1,234,315 12,361,693

Long-term liabilities: 

 Long-term debt (exclusive of current portion)   471,858 401,090 4,016,925

 Liability for employees’ retirement benefits  135,890 116,888 1,170,636

 Other long-term liabilities

  Third parties 179,699 177,002 1,772,679

  Related parties 3,376 3,755 37,606

   Total long-term liabilities 790,823 698,735 6,997,846

    Total liabilities 1,953,748 1,933,050 19,359,539

Minority interests 1,164 1,288 12,899

Shareholders’ equity:

 Common stock, without a stated value –

  Authorized –188,130,000 shares and 188,130,000 shares at 

   March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively

  Issued –45,880,000 and 44,870,000 shares at

   March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively

  Outstanding –43,593,644 and 42,627,927 shares at

   March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively 949,680 949,680 9,511,067

 Additional paid-in capital 1,135,958 948,571 9,499,960

 Retained earnings 2,493,155 2,793,814 27,980,110

 Accumulated other comprehensive income   12,874 410 4,106

 Treasury stock, 2,286,356 and 2,242,073 shares at 

   March 31, 2007 and 2008, at cost, respectively (430,364) (415,979) (4,166,039)

    Total shareholders’ equity 4,161,303 4,276,496 42,829,204

Commitments and contingencies 

Total liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ equity ¥6,116,215 ¥6,210,834 $62,201,642

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
>> CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Operating revenues: 
 Wireless services
  Third parties ¥  4,242,230 ¥  4,259,951 ¥  4,107,844 $41,140,151
  Related parties 53,626 54,189 57,390 574,762
 Equipment sales 
  Third parties 462,490 465,924 538,195 5,390,035
  Related parties 7,526 8,029 8,398 84,106
Total operating revenues 4,765,872 4,788,093 4,711,827 47,189,054
Operating expenses: 
 Cost of services (exclusive of items shown separately below)
  Third parties 462,852 498,852 561,763 5,626,069
  Related parties 283,247 268,108 249,370 2,497,446
 Cost of equipment sold (exclusive of items shown separately below) 1,113,464 1,218,694 1,150,261 11,519,890
 Depreciation and amortization 738,137 745,338 776,425 7,775,914
 Selling, general and administrative 
  Third parties 1,179,252 1,121,374 1,025,812 10,273,530
  Related parties 156,281 162,203 139,884 1,400,942
Total operating expenses 3,933,233 4,014,569 3,903,515 39,093,791
Operating income  832,639 773,524 808,312 8,095,263
Other income (expense):
 Interest expense (8,420) (5,749) (4,556) (45,629)
 Interest income 4,659 1,459 2,487 24,907
 Gain on sale of affiliate shares  61,962 — 333 3,335
 Gain (loss) on sale of other investments 40,088 (113) (2) (20)
 Other, net 21,375 3,822 (5,886) (58,948)
Total other income (expense) 119,664 (581) (7,624) (76,355)
Income before income taxes, equity in net income (losses) of affiliates 
   and minority interests 952,303 772,943 800,688 8,018,908
Income taxes: 
 Current  293,707 237,734 334,462 3,349,644
 Deferred 47,675 75,945 (11,507) (115,243)
Total income taxes 341,382 313,679 322,955 3,234,401
Income before equity in net income (losses) of affiliates and minority interests  610,921 459,264 477,733 4,784,507
Equity in net income (losses) of affiliates, net of applicable taxes  (364) (1,941) 13,553 135,733
Minority interests (76) (45) (84) (841)
Net income ¥     610,481 ¥     457,278 ¥     491,202 $  4,919,399
Other comprehensive income (loss):  
 Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, 
   net of applicable taxes  10,000 (15,364) (16,762) (167,872)
  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes 
    included in net income    (2,338) (399) 431 4,317
 Net revaluation of financial instruments, net of applicable taxes  369 832 (525) (5,258)
  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes 
    included in net income  (248) (798) 658 6,590
 Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of applicable taxes   5,433 1,103 7,299 73,100
  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes 
    included in net income  (48,030) — (127) (1,272)
 Pension liability adjustment, net of applicable taxes:
  Actuarial gains (losses) arising during period, net — — (4,909) (49,164)
  Less: Amortization of prior service cost — — (1,338) (13,400)
  Less: Amortization of actuarial gains and losses — — 502 5,027
  Less: Amortization of transition obligation — — 75 751
  Less: Reclassification of actuarial gains and losses due to transfer of the 
    substitutional portion to the government — — 2,232 22,354
 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of applicable taxes   3,986 5,562 — —
Comprehensive income ¥     579,653 ¥     448,214 ¥     478,738 $  4,794,572
Per share data:
 Weighted average common shares outstanding –  
   Basic and Diluted (shares) 45,250,031 43,985,082 43,120,586 43,120,586
 Basic and diluted earnings per share (Yen and U.S. dollars) ¥  13,491.28 ¥  10,396.21 ¥  11,391.36 $       114.08

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 Number of Shares Millions of yen

      Accumulated 
 Issued   Additional  other Treasury Total 
 common Treasury Common paid-in Retained comprehensive stock, Shareholders’ 
 stock  stock stock capital  earnings income at cost Equity

Balance at March 31, 2005 48,700,000 2,427,792 ¥949,680 ¥1,311,013 ¥2,100,407 ¥ 57,609 ¥(510,777) ¥3,907,932
Purchase of treasury stock  1,797,981     (300,078) (300,078)
Retirement of treasury stock (1,890,000) (1,890,000)   (362,659)  362,659 —
Cash dividends declared and paid 
  (¥3,000 per share)     (135,490)   (135,490)
Net income     610,481   610,481
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale 
  securities       7,662  7,662
Net revaluation of financial instruments      121  121
Foreign currency translation adjustment      (42,597)  (42,597)
Minimum pension liability adjustment      3,986  3,986
Balance at March 31, 2006 46,810,000 2,335,773 ¥949,680 ¥1,311,013 ¥2,212,739 ¥ 26,781 ¥(448,196) ¥4,052,017
Purchase of treasury stock   880,583     (157,223) (157,223)
Retirement of treasury stock (930,000) (930,000)  (175,055)   175,055 —
Cash dividends declared and paid 
  (¥4,000 per share)     (176,862)   (176,862)
Net income     457,278   457,278
Unrealized holding losses on available- 
  for-sale securities      (15,763)  (15,763)
Net revaluation of financial instruments      34  34
Foreign currency translation adjustment      1,103  1,103
Minimum pension liability adjustment      5,562  5,562
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158      (4,843)  (4,843)
Balance at March 31, 2007 45,880,000 2,286,356 ¥949,680 ¥1,135,958 ¥2,493,155 ¥ 12,874 ¥(430,364) ¥4,161,303
Purchase of treasury stock   965,717     (173,002) (173,002)
Retirement of treasury stock  (1,010,000) (1,010,000)  (187,387)   187,387 —
Cash dividends declared and paid 
  (¥4,400 per share)      (190,543)   (190,543)
Net income     491,202   491,202
Unrealized holding losses on 
  available-for-sale securities       (16,331)  (16,331)
Net revaluation of financial instruments      133  133
Foreign currency translation adjustment      7,172  7,172
Pension liability adjustment:
 Actuarial gains (losses) arising during 
   period, net      (4,909)  (4,909)
 Less: Amortization of prior service cost      (1,338)  (1,338)
 Less: Amortization of actuarial gains 
   and losses       502  502
 Less: Amortization of transition obligation      75  75
 Less: Reclassification of actuarial gains 
   and losses due to transfer of the 
   substitutional portion to the government      2,232  2,232
Balance at March 31, 2008 44,870,000 2,242,073 ¥949,680 ¥   948,571 ¥2,793,814 ¥      410 ¥(415,979) ¥4,276,496

  Thousands of U.S. dollars

      Accumulated 
    Additional  other Treasury Total 
   Common paid-in Retained comprehensive stock, Shareholders’ 
    Stock capital  earnings income at cost Equity

Balance at March 31, 2007   $9,511,067 $11,376,645 $24,969,003 $ 128,933 $(4,310,105) $41,675,543
Purchase of treasury stock        (1,732,619) (1,732,619)
Retirement of treasury stock     (1,876,685)   1,876,685 —
Cash dividends declared and paid (¥4,400 per share)     (1,908,292)    (1,908,292)
Net income     4,919,399   4,919,399
Unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale securities      (163,555)  (163,555)
Net revaluation of financial instruments      1,332  1,332
Foreign currency translation adjustment      71,828  71,828
Pension liability adjustment:
 Actuarial gains (losses) arising during period, net      (49,164)  (49,164)
 Less: Amortization of prior service cost      (13,400)  (13,400)
 Less: Amortization of actuarial gains and losses      5,027  5,027
 Less: Amortization of transition obligation      751  751
 Less: Reclassification of actuarial gains and losses due to transfer of the 
   substitutional portion to the government      22,354  22,354
Balance at March 31, 2008   $9,511,067 $  9,499,960 $27,980,110 $     4,106 $(4,166,039) $42,829,204

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
>> CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008
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Consolidated Financial Statements
>> CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ¥   610,481 ¥ 457,278 ¥   491,202 $  4,919,399
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities –
 Depreciation and amortization 738,137 745,338 776,425 7,775,914
 Deferred taxes 49,101 74,987 (2,471) (24,747)
 Loss on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment 36,000 55,708 54,359 544,406
 Gain on sale of affiliate shares (61,962) — (333) (3,335)
 (Gain) loss on sale of other investments (40,088) 113 2 20
 Expense associated with sale of other investments 14,062 — — —
 Equity in net (income) losses of affiliates  (1,289) 2,791 (22,810) (228,443)
 Dividends from affiliates 1,034 1,258 15,349 153,721
 Minority interests 76 45 84 841
 Changes in assets and liabilities:
  Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 21,345 (262,032) 187,434 1,877,156
  (Decrease) increase in allowance for doubtful accounts (3,623) (1,600) 1,803 18,057
  (Increase) decrease in inventories (73,094) 83,716 (10) (100)
  Decrease (increase) in income taxes receivable 92,869 (20,261) 20,261 202,914
  Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,323 (18,993) (16,085) (161,091)
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, trade 45,108 (42,013) (50,477) (505,528)
  Increase (decrease) in accrued income taxes 111,141 (100,197) 134,912 1,351,147
  Increase in other current liabilities 17,641 534 6,206 62,153
  (Decrease) increase in liability for employees’ retirement benefits (3,378) 379 (19,002) (190,306)
  Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities 24,725 (26,241) 8,780 87,932
  Other, net 16,332 29,788 (25,489) (255,273)
   Net cash provided by operating activities 1,610,941 980,598 1,560,140 15,624,837
Cash flows from investing activities:
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment (638,590) (735,650) (548,517) (5,493,410)
 Purchases of intangible and other assets (195,277) (213,075) (216,816) (2,171,417)
 Purchases of non-current investments  (292,556) (41,876) (124,312) (1,244,987)
 Proceeds from sale and redemption of non-current investments 25,142 50,594 101,341 1,014,932
 Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired — (8,392) (14,797) (148,192)
 Purchases of short-term investments (252,474) (3,557) (6,562) (65,719)
 Redemption of short-term investments 501,433 4,267 5,443 54,512
 Long-term bailment for consumption to a related party (100,000) — — —
 Proceeds from redemption of long-term bailment for consumption to a related party — — 50,000 500,751
 Other, net 1,245 38 (4,629) (46,360)
   Net cash used in investing activities (951,077) (947,651) (758,849) (7,599,890)
Cash flows from financing activities:
 Repayment of long-term debt (150,304) (193,723) (131,005) (1,312,018)
 Proceeds from short-term borrowings 27,002 18,400 15,249 152,719
 Repayment of short-term borrowings (27,010) (18,450) (15,351) (153,741)
 Principal payments under capital lease obligations (4,740) (3,621) (2,821) (28,252)
 Payments to acquire treasury stock (300,078) (157,223) (173,002) (1,732,619)
 Dividends paid (135,490) (176,862) (190,543) (1,908,292)
 Other, net (1) (2) (2) (20)
   Net cash used in financing activities (590,621) (531,481) (497,475) (4,982,223)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,529 872 27 270
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 70,772 (497,662) 303,843 3,042,994
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 769,952 840,724 343,062 3,435,774
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥   840,724 ¥ 343,062 ¥   646,905 $  6,478,768
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
 Cash received during the year for:
  Income taxes ¥     93,103 ¥        925 ¥     20,346 $     203,766
 Cash paid during the year for:
  Interest, net of amount capitalized 8,666 6,203 4,656 46,630
  Income taxes 182,914 359,861 200,079 2,003,796
 Non-cash investing and financing activities:
  Assets acquired through capital lease obligations  5,038 3,530 2,579 25,829
  Retirement of treasury stock 362,659 175,055 187,387 1,876,685

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting and reporting policies: 

DOCOMO maintains its books and records and prepares its statutory financial 

statements in conformity with the Japanese Telecommunications Business Law 

and the related accounting regulations and accounting principles generally 

accepted in Japan, which differ in certain respects from accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with U.S. GAAP and, therefore, reflect certain adjustments to 

DOCOMO’s books and records. 

(1) Adoption of a new accounting standard 

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

Effective April 1, 2007, DOCOMO applied Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in 

Income Taxes – an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting 

Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109”. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty 

in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance 

with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 

attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax 

position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return as well as provides 

guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting 

in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The initial application of FIN 48 

did not have a material impact on DOCOMO’s results of operations and 

financial position.

(2) Significant accounting policies 

Principles of consolidation— 

The consolidated financial statements include accounts of DOCOMO and its 

majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and 

transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

DOCOMO applies FIN No. 46 (revised 2003) “Consolidation of Variable 

Interest Entities - an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) 

No. 51” (“FIN 46R”). FIN 46R addresses how a business enterprise should 

evaluate whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity through 

means other than voting rights and accordingly should consolidate the entity. 

For the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, DOCOMO had no 

variable interest entities to be consolidated or disclosed.

Use of estimates— 

The preparation of DOCOMO’s consolidated financial statements in conformity 

with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 

the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

DOCOMO has identified the following areas where it believes estimates and 

assumptions are particularly critical to the consolidated financial statements. 

These are determination of useful lives of property, plant and equipment, 

internal use software and other intangible assets, impairment of long-lived 

assets, impairment of investments, realization of deferred tax assets, 

measurement of pension liabilities and revenue recognition. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents— 

DOCOMO considers cash in banks and short-term highly liquid investments 

with original maturities of 3 months or less at the date of purchase to be cash 

and cash equivalents. 

 

Short-term investments— 

The highly liquid investments, which have original maturities of longer than 3 

months at the date of purchase and remaining maturities of 1 year or less at 

the end of fiscal year, are considered to be short-term investments. 

 

Allowance for doubtful accounts— 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is principally computed based on the 

historical bad debt experience plus the estimated uncollectible amount based 

on the analysis of certain individual accounts, including claims in bankruptcy.   

Inventories— 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The cost of equipment 

sold is determined by the first-in, first-out method. Inventories consist primarily 

of handsets and accessories. DOCOMO evaluates its inventory for obsolescence 

on a periodic basis and records valuation adjustments as required. Due to the 

rapid technological changes associated with the wireless communications 

business, DOCOMO wrote down and disposed of obsolete handsets during 

the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 resulting in losses totaling 

¥18,883 million, ¥21,353 million and ¥16,946 million ($169,715 thousand), 

1. Nature of operations: 

NTT DoCoMo, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company” or “DOCOMO”) is a joint 

stock corporation that was incorporated under the laws of Japan in August 

1991 as the wireless telecommunications arm of Nippon Telegraph and 

Telephone Corporation (“NTT”). NTT, 33.71% of which is owned by the 

Japanese government, owns 61.60% of DOCOMO’s issued stock and 64.84% 

of DOCOMO’s voting stock outstanding as of March 31, 2008. 

DOCOMO provides its subscribers with wireless telecommunications services 

such as FOMA (3G wireless services), mova (2G wireless services), packet  

 

 

communications services (wireless data communications services using packet 

switching) and satellite mobile communications services, primarily on its own 

nationwide networks. In addition, DOCOMO sells handsets and related equip-

ment primarily to agent resellers who in turn sell such equipment to subscribers.

DOCOMO terminated Personal Handyphone System (“PHS”) services on 

January 7, 2008. 
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respectively, which were included in “Cost of equipment sold” in the accompany-

ing consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. 

 

Property, plant and equipment— 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and include interest cost 

incurred during construction, as discussed below in “Capitalized interest”. 

Property, plant and equipment under capital leases are stated at the present 

value of minimum lease payments. Depreciation is computed by the declining-

balance method at rates based on the estimated useful lives of the respective 

assets with the exception of buildings, which are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis. Useful lives are determined at the time the asset is acquired and are 

based on its expected use, past experience with similar assets and anticipated 

technological or other changes. If technological or other changes occur more 

or less rapidly or in a different form than anticipated or the intended use 

changes, the useful lives assigned to these assets are adjusted as appropriate. 

Property, plant and equipment held under capital leases and leasehold 

improvements are amortized using either the straight-line method or the 

declining-balance method, depending on the type of the assets, over the 

shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset. 

The estimated useful lives of major depreciable assets are as follows: 

 Major wireless telecommunications equipment 8 to 16 years

 Steel towers and poles for antenna equipment 30 to 40 years

 Reinforced concrete buildings 38 to 50 years

 Tools, furniture and fixtures 4 to 15 years

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended March 31, 

2006, 2007 and 2008 was ¥554,158 million, ¥553,510 million, and ¥579,101 

million ($5,799,710 thousand), respectively. 

When depreciable telecommunications equipment is retired or abandoned 

in the normal course of business, the amounts of such telecommunications 

equipment and its accumulated depreciation are deducted from the respective 

accounts. Any remaining balance is charged to expense immediately. 

DOCOMO accounts for legal or contractual obligations associated with the 

retirement of tangible long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 143, 

“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. DOCOMO’s asset retirement 

obligations subject to SFAS No. 143 primarily relate to its obligations to restore 

certain leased land and buildings used for DOCOMO’s wireless tele-

communications equipment to their original states. DOCOMO has determined 

the aggregate fair values of its asset retirement obligations do not have a 

material impact on DOCOMO’s results of operations or financial position. 

Expenditures for replacements and betterments are capitalized, while 

expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Assets 

under construction are not depreciated until placed in service. The rental costs 

associated with ground or building operating leases that are incurred during a 

construction period are expensed.

 

Capitalized interest— 

DOCOMO capitalizes interest related to the construction of property, plant and 

equipment over the period of construction. DOCOMO also capitalizes interest 

associated with the development of internal-use software. DOCOMO amortizes 

such capitalized interest over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. 

Investments in affiliates— 

The equity method of accounting is applied to investments in affiliates where 

DOCOMO owns an aggregate of 20% to 50% and/or is able to exercise 

significant influence. Under the equity method of accounting, DOCOMO 

records its share of earnings and losses of the affiliate and adjusts its carrying 

amount. For investments of less than 20%, DOCOMO periodically reviews the 

facts and circumstances related thereto to determine whether or not it can 

exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the 

affiliate and therefore should apply the equity method of accounting. For 

investees accounted for under the equity method whose fiscal year ends are 

December 31, DOCOMO records its share of income or losses of such investees 

with a 3 month lag in its consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 

income. DOCOMO evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of its 

investments in affiliates, which includes investor level goodwill, when there 

are indicators that a decline in value below its carrying amount may be other 

than temporary. In performing its evaluations, DOCOMO utilizes various 

information including cash flow projections, independent valuations and, as 

applicable, quoted market values to determine recoverable amounts and the 

length of time an investment’s carrying value exceeds its estimated current 

recoverable amount. In the event of a determination that a decline in value is 

other than temporary, a charge to earnings is recorded for the loss, and a new 

cost basis in the investment is established. 

 

Marketable securities and other investments— 

Marketable securities consist of debt and equity securities. DOCOMO accounts 

for such investments in debt and equity securities in accordance with SFAS 

No.115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. 

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investment securities 

at the time of purchase. DOCOMO periodically reviews the carrying amounts of 

its marketable securities for impairments that are other than temporary. If this 

evaluation indicates that a decline in value is other than temporary, the security 

is written down to its estimated fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings 

and a new cost basis for the security is established. To determine whether an 

impairment is other than temporary, DOCOMO considers whether it has the 

ability and intent to hold the investment until a market price recovery and 

considers whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is recoverable 

outweighs evidence to the contrary. Evidence considered in this assessment 

includes the reasons for the impairment, the severity and duration of the 

impairment, changes in value subsequent to year-end, forecasted performance 

of the investee and the general market condition in the geographic area or 

industry the investee operates in.

Equity securities held by DOCOMO, whose fair values are readily determinable, 

are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale equity securities are carried 

at fair value with unrealized holding gains or losses, net of applicable taxes, 

included as a component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in 

shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses are determined using the moving-

average method and are reflected currently in earnings.

Debt securities held by DOCOMO, which DOCOMO has the positive intent 

and ability to hold to maturity, are classified as held-to-maturity, and the other 

debt securities that may be sold before maturity are classified as available-for-sale 

securities. Held-to-maturity debt securities are carried at amortized cost. Available-
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for-sale debt securities are carried at fair value with unrealized holding gains or 

losses, net of applicable taxes, included as a component of “Accumulated other 

comprehensive income” in shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses are 

determined using the first-in, first-out cost method and are reflected currently in 

earnings. Debt securities with original maturities of 3 months or less at the date 

of purchase are recorded as “Cash and cash equivalents”, while those with 

original maturities of longer than 3 months at the date of purchase and remaining 

maturities of 1 year or less at the end of fiscal year are recorded as “Short-term 

investments” in the consolidated balance sheets. 

DOCOMO did not hold or transact any trading securities during the years 

ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. 

Other investments include equity securities, whose fair values are not readily 

determinable, and equity securities for which sales are restricted by contractual 

requirements (“restricted stock”). Equity securities whose fair values are not 

readily determinable and restricted stock are carried at cost. Other than temporary 

declines in value are charged to earnings. Realized gains and losses are determined 

using the average cost method and are reflected currently in earnings. 

 

Goodwill and other intangible assets— 

Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value 

of the identifiable net assets acquired. Other intangible assets primarily consist 

of software for telecommunications network, internal-use software, software 

acquired to be used in manufacture of handsets, customer related assets and 

rights to use certain telecommunications facilities of wireline operators. 

DOCOMO accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance 

with SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Accordingly, 

DOCOMO does not amortize either goodwill, including investor level goodwill 

related to the investments accounted for under the equity method, or other 

intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined 

to have an indefinite useful life. However, (1) goodwill, except those related to 

equity method investments, and (2) other intangible assets that have indefinite 

useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets that 

have finite useful lives, consisting primarily of software for telecommunications 

network, internal-use software, software acquired to be used in manufacture 

of handsets, customer related assets and rights to use telecommunications 

facilities of wireline operators are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 

useful lives. 

Goodwill related to equity method investments is tested for impairment as a 

part of the other than temporary impairment assessment of the equity method 

investment as a whole in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion 

No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock”. 

 DOCOMO capitalizes the cost of internal-use software which has a useful 

life in excess of 1 year in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position 98-1 “Accounting for the Costs of 

Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Subsequent 

costs for additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software are 

capitalized only to the extent that the software is able to perform a task it 

previously did not perform. Software acquired to be used in the manufacture 

of handsets is capitalized if the technological feasibility of the handset to be 

ultimately marketed has been established at the time of purchase in accordance 

with SFAS No. 86 “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be 

Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed”. Software maintenance and training 

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Capitalized 

software costs are being amortized over a period of 5 years at maximum. 

Customer related assets principally consist of contractual customer 

relationships in the mobile phone business that were recorded in connection 

with the acquisition of minority interests of the regional subsidiaries in 

November 2002 through the process of identifying separable intangible assets 

apart from goodwill. The customer related assets are amortized over 6 years, 

which is the expected term of subscription in mobile phone business. 

Amounts capitalized related to rights to use certain telecommunications 

assets of wireline operators, primarily NTT, are amortized over 20 years. 

 

Impairment of long-lived assets— 

DOCOMO’s long-lived assets other than goodwill, such as property, plant and 

equipment, software and intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144 

“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Recover-

ability of assets to be held for use is evaluated by a comparison of the carrying 

amount of the asset with future undiscounted cash flows expected to be 

generated by the asset or asset group. If the asset (or asset group) is determined 

to be impaired, the loss recognized is the amount by which the carrying value 

of the asset (or asset group) exceeds its fair value as measured through various 

valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models, quoted market 

value and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. 

 

Hedging activities— 

DOCOMO uses derivative financial instruments including interest rate swap, 

foreign currency swap and foreign exchange forward contracts and other 

non-derivative financial instruments in order to manage its exposure to 

fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. DOCOMO does not 

hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

These financial instruments are effective in meeting the risk reduction objectives 

of DOCOMO by generating either transaction gains and losses which offset 

transaction gains and losses of the hedged items or cash flows which offset the 

cash flows related to the underlying position in respect of amount and timing. 

DOCOMO accounts for derivative financial instruments and other hedging 

activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended by SFAS No. 138, No. 149 

and No. 155. All derivative instruments are recorded on the consolidated 

balance sheets at fair value. The recorded fair values of derivative instruments 

represent the amounts that DOCOMO would receive or pay to terminate the 

contracts at each fiscal year end. 

For derivative financial instruments that qualify as fair value hedge instruments, 

the changes in fair value of the derivative instruments are recognized currently 

in earnings, which offset the changes in fair value of the related hedged assets 

or liabilities that are also recognized in earnings of the period. 

For derivative financial instruments that qualify as cash flow hedge 

instruments, the changes in fair value of the derivative instruments are initially 

recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” and reclassified into 

earnings when the relevant hedged transaction is realized.  
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For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify as hedging instru-

ments, the changes in fair value of the derivative instruments are recognized 

currently in earnings. 

DOCOMO discontinues hedge accounting when it is determined that the 

derivative or non-derivative instrument is no longer highly effective as a hedge 

or when DOCOMO decides to discontinue the hedging relationship. 

Cash flows from derivative instruments are classified in the consolidated 

statements of cash flows under the same categories as the cash flows from 

the relevant assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions. 

 

Employees’ retirement benefit plans— 

Effective March 31, 2007, in accordance with SFAS No. 158 “Employers’ 

Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans - an 

amendment of SFAS No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R”, DOCOMO recognizes the 

funded status of its benefit plan, measured as the difference between the plan 

assets at fair value and the benefit obligation, in the consolidated balance 

sheets. Changes in the funded status are recognized as changes in com-

prehensive income (loss) during the fiscal period in which such changes occur. 

Pension benefits earned during the year as well as interest on projected 

benefit obligations are accrued currently. Prior service cost and net losses in 

excess of 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the fair 

value of plan assets, both of which are included in “Accumulated other 

comprehensive income”, are amortized over the expected average remaining 

service period of employees on a straight-line basis.

 

Revenue recognition— 

DOCOMO primarily generates revenues from two sources—wireless services 

and equipment sales. These revenue sources are separate and distinct earnings 

processes. Wireless service is sold to the subscriber directly or through third-

party resellers who act as agents, while equipment, including handsets, are 

sold principally to agent resellers. 

DOCOMO sets its wireless services rates in accordance with the Japanese 

Telecommunications Business Law and government guidelines, which currently 

allow wireless telecommunications operators to set their own tariffs without 

government approval. Wireless service revenues primarily consist of basic 

monthly charges, airtime charges and fees for activation. 

Basic monthly charges and airtime charges are recognized as revenues as 

service is provided to the subscribers. DOCOMO’s monthly billing plans for 

cellular (FOMA and mova) services generally include a certain amount of 

allowances (free minutes and/or packets), and the used amount of the allowances 

is subtracted from total usage in calculating the airtime revenue from a subscriber 

for the month. DOCOMO introduced a billing arrangement, called “Nikagetsu 

Kurikoshi” (2 month carry-over), in which the unused allowances are automatically 

carried over up to the following 2 months. In addition, DOCOMO then introduced 

an arrangement which enables the unused allowances that were carried over for 

2 months to be automatically used to cover the airtime and/or packet fees 

exceeding the allowances of the other subscriptions in the “Family Discount” 

group, a discount billing arrangement for families with between 2 and 10 

DOCOMO subscriptions. Until the year ended March 31, 2006, DOCOMO had 

deferred all the revenues based on the portion of unused allowances at the end 

of the period. The deferred revenues had been recognized as revenues as the 

subscribers make calls or data transmissions, similar to the way airtime revenues 

are recognized, or as allowance expires. As DOCOMO developed sufficient 

empirical evidence to reasonably estimate the portion of allowance that will be 

forfeited as unused, effective April 1, 2006, DOCOMO started to recognize the 

revenue attributable to such allowance ratably as the remaining allowances are 

utilized, in addition to the revenue recognized when subscribers make calls or 

utilize data transmissions. The effect of this accounting change was not material 

for DOCOMO’s results of operations or financial position. 

Equipment sales are recognized as revenues when equipment is accepted 

by the agent resellers and all inventory risk is transferred from DOCOMO. 

Certain commissions paid to agent resellers are recognized as a reduction of 

revenue upon delivery of the equipment to such agent resellers in accordance 

with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-9 “Accounting for 

Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the 

Vendor’s Products)”. 

Effective November 2007, DOCOMO introduced a new handset sales 

scheme which enables subscribers to select installment payments over a 

period of 12 or 24 months. When installment payments are selected, under 

agreements entered into among DOCOMO, subscribers and agent resellers, 

DOCOMO provides financing by providing funds for the purchase of the 

handset by the subscribers. DOCOMO then includes current installments for 

the receivable for purchased handset with basic monthly charges and airtime 

charges for the installment payment term. Because equipment sales are 

recognized upon delivery of handsets to agent resellers, the advance payment 

for the purchased handset to agent resellers and subsequent cash collection 

of the installment receivable for the purchased handset from subscribers do 

not have an impact on our equipment sales. The portion of installment 

receivable for the purchased handset which was expected to be collected 

within 1 year or less as of the date of the consolidated balance sheets was 

recorded as “Accounts receivable” and the other portion of installment 

receivable was recorded as “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheets, 

respectively. The aggregate carrying amount of the installment receivable for 

handsets, which was recorded as “Accounts receivable” and “Other assets” 

as of March 31, 2008 was ¥111,789 million ($1,119,569 thousand) and 

¥59,036 million ($591,247 thousand), respectively.

Non-recurring upfront fees such as activation fees are deferred and 

recognized as revenues over the estimated average period of the subscription 

for each service. The related direct costs are also deferred to the extent of the 

related upfront fee amount and are amortized over the same period.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses— 

Selling, general and administrative expenses primarily include commissions 

paid to sales agents, expenses associated with DOCOMO’s customer loyalty 

programs, advertising expenses, as well as other expenses such as payroll and 

related benefit costs of personnel not directly involved in the operations and 

maintenance process. Commissions paid to sales agents represent the largest 

portion of selling, general and administrative expenses. 

 

Income taxes— 

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting 

for Income Taxes”. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 

tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to 

taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 

to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 

change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the 

enactment date. 

Earnings per share— 

Basic earnings per share include no dilution and are computed by dividing 

income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of 

shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share 

assume the dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue 

common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in 

the issuance of common stock. DOCOMO has no dilutive securities outstanding 

for the year ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, and therefore there is no 

difference between basic and diluted earnings per share. 

 

Foreign currency translation— 

All asset and liability accounts of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates are 

translated into Japanese yen at appropriate year-end current rates and all 

income and expense accounts are translated at rates that approximate those 

rates prevailing at the time of the transactions. The accompanying translation 

adjustments are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income.” 

 Foreign currency receivables and payables of DOCOMO are translated at 

appropriate year-end current rates and the accompanying translation gains or 

losses are included in earnings currently. 

The effects of exchange rate fluctuations from the initial transaction date to 

the settlement date are recorded as exchange gain or loss, which are included 

in “Other income (expense)” in the accompanying consolidated statements of 

income and comprehensive income. 

 

(3) Recent accounting pronouncements— 

In September 2006, FASB issued SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS 

No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in 

generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair 

value measurements. Although the definition of fair value retains the exchange 

price notion in earlier definitions of fair value, SFAS No. 157 clarifies that the 

exchange price is the price in an orderly transaction between market participants 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability in the market and emphasizes that fair 

value is a market-based measurement, rather than an entity-specific measurement. 

SFAS No. 157 also expands disclosures about the use of fair value to measure 

assets and liabilities subsequent to initial recognition through fair value hierarchy 

as a framework for measurement. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years 

beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. 

DOCOMO currently estimates that the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 157 on its 

result of operations and financial position will be immaterial.

In February 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Including an amendment of SFAS No. 

115”. SFAS No. 159 gives entities the irrevocable option to measure most 

financial assets and liabilities at fair value that are not currently required to be 

measured at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value for designated items 

will be required to be reported in earnings in the current period. SFAS No. 159 

also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements for similar types of 

assets and liabilities measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal 

years beginning after November 15, 2007. DOCOMO did not elect the fair 

value option as of the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2009.

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) “Business Combi-

nations” (“SFAS No. 141R”). SFAS No. 141R requires an acquirer in a business 

combination to generally recognize and measure all the identifiable assets 

acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at 

their fair values as of acquisition date. SFAS No. 141R also requires the acquirer to 

recognize and measure as goodwill the excess of consideration transferred plus 

the fair value of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at acquisition date over 

the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. The excess of the fair value of 

the identifiable net assets acquired over consideration transferred plus the fair 

Deferred revenue and deferred charges as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Current deferred revenue ¥105,506 ¥106,348 $1,065,078

Long-term deferred revenue 76,499 76,654 767,692

Current deferred charges 35,142 27,031 270,716

Long-term deferred charges 76,499 76,654 767,692

Current deferred revenue is included in “Other current liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets. 
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value of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at acquisition date is required 

to be recognized and measured as a gain from a bargain purchase. SFAS No. 141R 

is effective for business combination transactions for which the acquisition date is 

on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 

December 15, 2008. The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 141R will depend 

on future business combinations transactions.

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 160 “Noncontrolling Interests in 

Consolidated Financial Statements – an amendment of ARB No.51”. SFAS No. 

160 requires noncontrolling interest held by parties other than the parent be 

clearly identified, labeled and presented in the consolidated statement of 

financial position within equity, but separate from the parent’s equity. SFAS 

No. 160 also requires changes in parent’s ownership interest while the parent 

retains its controlling financial interest in its subsidiary be accounted as equity 

transactions. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 

December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those years. DOCOMO 

currently estimates that the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 160 on its 

result of operations and financial position will be immaterial.

In March 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 161 “Disclosures about Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment of SFAS No. 133.” SFAS 

No. 161 requires entities with derivative instruments to disclose information 

that should enable financial statement users to understand how and why an 

entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related 

hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, and how derivative 

instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, 

financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal 

years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. DOCOMO is 

currently evaluating the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 161 on its results of 

operations and financial position.

 

(4) Reclassifications— 

Certain reclassifications are made to the prior years’ consolidated financial 

statements to conform to the presentation used for the year ended March 31, 

2008. 

4. Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Cash    ¥173,067 ¥306,905 $3,073,661

Certificates of deposit 150,000 280,000 2,804,206

Bailment for consumption  — 50,000 500,751

Other   19,995 10,000 100,150

 Total   ¥343,062 ¥646,905 $6,478,768

Information regarding “Bailment for consumption” is disclosed in Note 14.

5. Inventories: 

Inventories as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Telecommunications equipment to be sold ¥144,292 ¥145,086 $1,453,039

Materials and supplies 306 306 3,065

Other   1,294 1,192 11,938

 Total   ¥145,892 ¥146,584 $1,468,042

3. Convenient translations: 

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen. Translations of 

the Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars are included solely for the convenience 

of readers by applying the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers 

in foreign currencies as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve 

 

 

Bank of New York on March 31, 2008, which was ¥99.85 to U.S. $1. The 

convenience translations should not be construed as representations that the 

Japanese yen amounts have been, could have been, or could in the future be, 

converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate of exchange. 
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6. Investments in affiliates: 

Hutchison 3G UK Holdings Limited— 

On May 27, 2004, DOCOMO agreed to sell its entire shareholding in Hutchison 

3G UK Holdings Limited (“H3G UK”) to Hutchison Whampoa Limited (“HWL”) 

for a total consideration of £120 million in a Sale and Purchase Agreement 

signed between DOCOMO and HWL. Under the terms of the agreement, 

DOCOMO were to receive payment in three installments, the final installment 

of which was expected to be made in December 2006, either in cash or in 

shares of Hutchison Telecommunications International Limited (“HTIL”), a 

subsidiary company of HWL. As a result of the agreement, DOCOMO waived 

certain of its minority shareholder’s rights, including voting rights and 

supervisory board representation. As DOCOMO no longer had the ability to 

exercise significant influence over H3G UK, DOCOMO ceased to account for 

its investment in H3G UK applying the equity method. 

On October 15, 2004, DOCOMO received 187,966,653 shares of HTIL 

(equivalent to £80 million) as the first installment payment by HWL, which was 

reported as “Marketable securities and other investments”, with a corresponding 

amount recorded as “Other long-term liabilities” until such time that the 

transfer of H3G UK shares was completed. On May 9, 2005, DOCOMO received 

a notice from HWL that HWL intended to exercise its right to accelerate 

completion of the payment on June 23, 2005. Consequently, DOCOMO received 

£120 million in cash, and transferred the entire shareholding in HTIL to HWL. As 

a result of the transaction, DOCOMO recorded “Gain on sale of affiliate shares” 

of ¥61,962 million, including reclassification of foreign currency translation of 

¥38,174 million, in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive 

income for the year ended March 31, 2006. 

 

Sumitomo Mitsui Card Co., Ltd.— 

DOCOMO held 34% of outstanding common shares, which were acquired for 

¥98,713 million, of Sumitomo Mitsui Card Co., Ltd. (“Sumitomo Mitsui Card”) 

and accounted for the investment by the equity method as of March 31, 2007 

and 2008. DOCOMO entered into an agreement with Sumitomo Mitsui Card, 

Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation that DOCOMO and these companies would jointly promote the 

new credit transaction services which use mobile phones compatible with 

“Osaifu-Keitai” (wallet-phone) service and that DOCOMO would form a 

capital alliance with Sumitomo Mitsui Card.

Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company— 

As of March 31, 2008, DOCOMO held approximately 14% of outstanding 

common shares, which were acquired for ¥151,156 million, of Philippine Long 

Distance Telephone Company (PLDT), a telecommunication operator in the 

Philippines. PLDT is a public company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange 

and the New York Stock Exchange. On March 14, 2006, DOCOMO acquired  

 

 

approximately 7% of PLDT’s outstanding common shares for ¥52,213 million  

from NTT Communications Corporation (“NTT Com”), a subsidiary of NTT and 

accounted for the investment under the cost method. From March 2007 to 

February 2008, DOCOMO additionally acquired approximately 7% of equity 

interest and outstanding common shares of PLDT for ¥98,943 million 

($990,916 thousand) in the market. Together with the PLDT common shares 

continued to be held by NTT Com, on a consolidated basis NTT held 

approximately 21% of the total outstanding common shares of PLDT.

In accordance with the agreement entered into between PLDT and its major 

shareholders, including NTT Com and DOCOMO, DOCOMO has the right to 

exercise the entire 21% voting rights associated with the ownership interest 

collectively held by DOCOMO and NTT Com. As DOCOMO obtained the ability 

to exercise significant influence over PLDT, DOCOMO has reclassified PLDT as an 

affiliate and accounted for the investment by applying the equity method during 

the year ended March 31, 2008. The prior period financial statements have not 

been retroactively adjusted because the impact of retroactively adjusting the 

investment, results of operations and net equity of DOCOMO to reflect the 

application of the equity method accounting is not material to the prior or current 

period financial statements presented. DOCOMO is currently in the process of 

evaluation of fair value of tangible, intangible and other assets and liabilities of 

PLDT with an independent third party appraiser in order to recognize and account 

for DOCOMO’s share of identifiable intangible assets and embedded goodwill of 

its investment in equity in PLDT. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and 

will be complete within the year ending March 31, 2009. The carrying amount 

of our investment in PLDT and the amount of “Equity in net income (loss) of 

affiliates” may be adjusted upon the completion of the evaluation. DOCOMO’s 

carrying amount of its investment in PLDT was ¥165,099 million ($1,653,470 

thousand) as of March 31, 2008 and the aggregate market price of the PLDT 

shares owned by DOCOMO was ¥180,014 million ($1,802,844 thousand).

Impairment— 

DOCOMO evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of its investments 

in affiliates when there are indications that a decline in value below carrying 

amount may be other than temporary. As a result of such evaluations, 

DOCOMO determined that there was no other than temporary declines in the 

values of its investee affiliates during the year ended March 31, 2006. During 

the year ended March 31, 2007 and 2008, DOCOMO recorded impairment 

charges for other than temporary declines in the values in certain investee 

affiliates that were immaterial in amount. The impairment charges are included 

in “Equity in net income (losses) of affiliates” in the accompanying statement 

of income and comprehensive income. DOCOMO believes the estimated fair 

values of its investments in affiliates as of March 31, 2008 to equal or exceed 

the related carrying values. 



98          NTT DOCOMO, INC. 

FINANCIAL SECTION

Maturities of debt securities classified as available-for-sale as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

 Millions of yen  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 2007 2008 2008
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
 amount value amount value amount value

Due within 1 year ¥99,925 ¥99,925 — — — —

Due after 1 year through 5 years 5 5 ¥5 ¥5 $50 $50

Due after 5 years through 10 years — — — — — —

Due after 10 years — — — — — —

  Total  ¥99,930 ¥99,930 ¥5 ¥5 $50 $50

The aggregate cost, gross unrealized holding gains and losses and fair value by type of “Marketable securities and other investments” as of March 31, 2007 

and 2008 were as follows: 

 Millions of yen

 2007
 Cost / Amortized Gross unrealized Gross unrealized
 cost holding gains holding losses Fair value

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities ¥147,998 ¥21,585 ¥985 ¥168,598

 Debt securities 100,076 0 146 99,930

 Millions of yen

 2008
 Cost / Amortized Gross unrealized Gross unrealized
 cost holding gains holding losses Fair value

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities ¥162,504 ¥17,403 ¥21,804 ¥158,103

 Debt securities 5 0 — 5

7. Marketable securities and other investments: 

“Marketable securities and other investments” as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Marketable securities:

 Available-for-sale ¥268,528 ¥158,108 $1,583,455

Other investments 92,853 29,253 292,970

 Sub-total ¥361,381 ¥187,361 $1,876,425

Less: Available-for-sale securities classified as “Short-term investments ” (99,925) — —

  Marketable securities and other investments (Non-current) ¥261,456 ¥187,361 $1,876,425

All of the investments except PLDT, which are accounted for on the equity 

method, are privately held companies as of March 31, 2008. 

DOCOMO’s share of undistributed earnings of affiliates included in consolidated 

retained earnings was ¥3,363 million, ¥4,239 million and ¥8,469 million ($84,817 

thousand) as of March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Dividends received 

from affiliates were ¥1,034 million, ¥1,258 million and ¥15,349 million ($153,721 

thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 

DOCOMO does not have significant business transactions with its affiliates. 

The total carrying value of DOCOMO’s investments in affiliates in the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 was 

greater by ¥86,183 million and ¥216,024 million ($2,163,485 thousand), 

respectively than its aggregate underlying equity in net assets of such affiliates as 

of the date of the most recent available financial statements of the investees. 
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On October 24, 2005, DOCOMO dissolved its capital alliance with KPN 

Mobile N.V. (“KPN Mobile”). DOCOMO transferred all of its 2.16% holding of 

KPN Mobile shares to Koninklijke KPN N.V. (“KPN”), the parent company of 

KPN Mobile. KPN agreed to cooperate with DOCOMO in the smooth operation 

of the global i-mode alliance, through the use of KPN’s i-mode-related patents 

and know-how, and paid cash of €5 million (equivalent to ¥692 million) to 

DOCOMO. 

As a result of the agreement, DOCOMO recognized a gain on the transfer 

of these KPN Mobile shares of ¥40,030 million, which included the 

reclassification of related foreign currency translation gains of ¥25,635 million, 

in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income under 

the line item “Gain (loss) on sale of other investments” for the year ended 

March 31, 2006. DOCOMO also recognized a non-cash expense of ¥14,062 

million in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income 

under the line item “Selling, general and administrative” and in the 

consolidated statement of cash flows under the line item “Expense associated 

with sale of other investments” at that time for the excess of the then fair 

value of KPN Mobile shares transferred over the actual cash received, which 

DOCOMO regarded as the consideration for the benefits from the arrangement, 

for the year ended March 31, 2006. 

 Millions of yen

 2007

 Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized 
 Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities ¥4,503 ¥481 ¥  1,543 ¥504 ¥  6,046 ¥985

 Debt securities — — 99,925 146 99,925 146

Cost method investments 345 261 32 105 377 366

 Millions of yen

 2008

 Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized 
 Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities ¥97,739 ¥20,122 ¥2,783 ¥1,682 ¥100,522 ¥21,804

 Debt securities — — — — — —

Cost method investments 7 20 184 162 191 182

 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 2008
 Cost / Amortized Gross unrealized Gross unrealized
 cost holding gains holding losses Fair value

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities $1,627,481 $174,292 $218,368 $1,583,405

 Debt securities 50 0 — 50

The proceeds and gross realized gains (losses) from the sale of available-for-sale securities and other investments for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 

were as follows: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Proceeds  ¥14,902 ¥ 448 ¥896 $8,973

Gross realized gains 40,454 314 748 7,491

Gross realized losses — (118) (2) (20)

Gross unrealized holding losses on and fair value of available-for-sale securities and cost method investments included in other investments as of March 31, 2007 

and 2008, aggregated by investment category and length of time during which individual securities were in a continuous unrealized loss position were as follows: 
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Other investments include long-term investments in various privately held 

companies and restricted stock. 

 For long-term investments in various privately held companies for which 

there are no quoted market prices, the reasonable estimate of fair value could 

not be made without incurring excessive costs. DOCOMO believes that it is 

not practicable to estimate reasonable fair value. Accordingly, these invest-

ments are carried at cost. 

Restricted stock, for which sales are restricted by contractual requirements 

with third parties, was accounted for as cost method investments, while the 

marketable equity securities for which sales are restricted for remaining terms 

of 1 year or less were accounted for as available-for-sale securities.

Shares of PLDT, which were accounted for as restricted stock of ¥59,734 

million as of March 31, 2007, were accounted for by the equity method and 

recorded as “Investments in affiliates” in the consolidated balance sheets as 

of March 31, 2008. The prior period financial statements have not been 

retroactively adjusted because the impact of retroactively adjusting the 

investment, results of operations and net equity of DOCOMO to reflect the 

application of the equity method accounting is not material to the prior or 

current period financial statements presented.

The aggregate carrying amount of restricted stock as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 was as follows:
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Restricted stock ¥68,658  — —

DOCOMO believes that it was not practicable to estimate reasonable fair values for investments in such restricted stock, which has quoted market prices, due 

to the difficulty in taking into consideration the restriction of sales by contract in valuation. 

The aggregate market price of the equivalent amount of unrestricted stock as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 was as follows:
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Aggregate market price of the equivalent amount of unrestricted stock ¥96,680 —  —

The aggregate carrying amount of cost method investments included in other investments and the aggregate carrying amount of investments whose fair values 

were not evaluated for impairment, as their fair value was not available and it did not identify any events or changes in circumstances that may have had a 

significant adverse effect on the fair value of these investments as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 was as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Cost method investments included in other investments ¥92,818 ¥29,209 $292,529

 Including: Investments whose fair values were not evaluated for impairment 86,119 26,383 264,226

Because of its excessive costs, DOCOMO believed that it was not practicable to estimate fair value of investments whose fair values were not evaluated for 

impairment.

The amount of other than temporary impairment of marketable securities and other investments is disclosed in Note 13.

 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 2008

 Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized  Gross unrealized 
 Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses Fair value holding losses

Available-for-sale:

 Equity securities $978,858 $201,523 $27,872 $16,845 $1,006,730 $218,368

 Debt securities — — — — — —

Cost method investments 70 201 1,843 1,622 1,913 1,823
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8. Goodwill and other intangible assets: 

Goodwill— 

Majority of DOCOMO’s goodwill was recognized when DOCOMO purchased all the remaining minority interests in its eight regional subsidiaries through share 

exchanges and made these subsidiaries wholly owned in November 2002. 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

 Millions of yen

 2007
 Mobile phone Miscellaneous 
 business businesses Consolidated

Balance at beginning of year ¥133,505 ¥7,589 ¥141,094

Goodwill acquired during the year 6,660 — 6,660

Foreign currency translation adjustment — 67 67

Balance at end of year ¥140,165 ¥7,656 ¥147,821

 Millions of yen

 2008
 Mobile phone Miscellaneous 
 business businesses Consolidated

Balance at beginning of year ¥140,165 ¥  7,656 ¥147,821

Goodwill acquired during the year — 11,662 11,662

Foreign currency translation adjustment (275) (319) (594)

Balance at end of year ¥139,890 ¥18,999 ¥158,889

 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 2008
 Mobile phone Miscellaneous 
 business businesses Consolidated

Balance at beginning of year $1,403,756 $  76,675 $1,480,431

Goodwill acquired during the year — 116,795 116,795

Foreign currency translation adjustment (2,754) (3,195) (5,949)

Balance at end of year $1,401,002 $190,275 $1,591,277

Information regarding business segments is discussed in Note 15. 
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Other intangible assets— 

The following tables display the major components of DOCOMO’s intangible assets, all of which are subject to amortization, as of March 31, 2007 and 2008. 

 Millions of yen 

 2007
 Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying 
 amount amortization amount

Software for telecommunications network ¥   562,107 ¥   346,472 ¥215,635

Internal-use software 835,410 581,356 254,054

Software acquired to be used in the manufacture of handsets 76,304 24,241 52,063

Customer related assets 50,949 37,504 13,445

Rights to use telecommunications facilities of wireline operators 17,380 8,828 8,552

Other   9,727 2,447 7,280

 Total   ¥1,551,877 ¥1,000,848 ¥551,029

 Millions of yen

 2008
 Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying 
 amount amortization amount

Software for telecommunications network ¥   623,107 ¥   400,032 ¥223,075

Internal-use software 876,792 617,071 259,721

Software acquired to be used in the manufacture of handsets 89,560 40,480 49,080

Customer related assets 50,949 45,996 4,953

Rights to use telecommunications facilities of wireline operators 19,151 9,145 10,006

Other   11,300 2,876 8,424

 Total   ¥1,670,859 ¥1,115,600 ¥555,259

 Thousands of U.S. dollars 

 2008
 Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying 
 amount amortization amount

Software for telecommunications network $  6,240,431 $  4,006,330 $2,234,101

Internal-use software 8,781,092 6,179,980 2,601,112

Software acquired to be used in the manufacture of handsets 896,945 405,408 491,537

Customer related assets 510,255 460,651 49,604

Rights to use telecommunications facilities of wireline operators 191,798 91,588 100,210

Other   113,170 28,803 84,367

 Total   $16,733,691 $11,172,760 $5,560,931

The amount of amortizable intangible assets acquired during the year 

ended March 31, 2008 was ¥200,966 million ($2,012,679 thousand), main 

components of which were software for telecommunications network in 

amount of ¥82,365 million ($824,887 thousand) and internal-use software in 

amount of ¥102,825 million ($1,029,795 thousand). The weighted-average 

amortization period of such software for telecommunications network and 

internal-use software is 5.0 years and 4.8 years, respectively. Amortization of 

intangible assets for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 was 

¥183,979 million, ¥191,828 million and ¥197,324 million ($1,976,204 

thousand), respectively. Estimated amortization of intangible assets for fiscal 

years ending March 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 is ¥184,278 

million, ¥143,860 million, ¥107,695 million, ¥64,907 million, and ¥23,340 

million, respectively. The weighted-average amortization period of the 

intangible assets acquired during the year ended March 31, 2008 is 5.1 years. 
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9. Other assets: 

Other assets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were summarized as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Deposits  ¥  73,504 ¥  74,672 $   747,841

Deferred customer activation costs 76,499 76,654 767,692

Long-term bailment for consumption to a related party 50,000 — —

Installment receivables for handsets (non-current), net of allowance for doubtful accounts 

  of ¥1,464 ($14,662 thousand) in 2008 — 57,572 576,585

Other   19,268 25,149 251,868

 Total   ¥219,271 ¥234,047 $2,343,986

Information regarding “Long-term bailment for consumption to a related party” is disclosed in Note 14.

Information regarding installment receivables for handsets is disclosed in Note 2 “Revenue recognition”.

10. Short-term borrowings and long-term debt: 

DOCOMO’s debt obligations are denominated in Japanese yen, U.S. dollars and Singapore dollars. 

Short-term borrowings, excluding the current portion of long-term debt as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Short-term borrowings denominated in Japanese Yen:

 Unsecured short-term loans from financial institutions ¥102 — —

 (Year ended March 31, 2007 - weighted-average interest of 1.3% per annum)

Short-term borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars: 

 Unsecured short-term loans from financial institutions — ¥1,712 $17,146

 (Year ended March 31, 2008 - weighted-average interest of 6.3% per annum)

   Total short-term borrowings ¥102 ¥1,712 $17,146
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Long-term debt as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 comprised the following: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Debt denominated in Japanese Yen:

 Unsecured corporate bonds ¥ 477,058 ¥381,511 $3,820,841

  (Year ended March 31, 2007 - interest rates per annum : 0.7%-1.6%, due : 2008-2012)

  (Year ended March 31, 2008 - interest rates per annum : 1.0%-1.6%, due : 2009-2012)

 Unsecured indebtedness to financial institutions 114,000 93,055 931,948

  (Year ended March 31, 2007 - interest rates per annum : 0.8%-1.5%, due : 2008-2013)

  (Year ended March 31, 2008 - interest rates per annum : 0.8%-2.5%, due : 2009-2013)

Debt denominated in U.S. dollars:

 Unsecured corporate bonds 11,805 — —

  (Year ended March 31, 2007 - interest rate per annum : 3.5%, due : 2008)

 Unsecured indebtedness to financial institutions — 1,712 17,146

  (Year ended March 31, 2008 - interest rate per annum : 6.4%, due : 2013)

Debt denominated in Singapore dollars:

 Unsecured indebtedness to financial institutions — 474 4,747

  (Year ended March 31, 2008 - interest rate per annum : 4.7%, due : 2012)

   Sub-total ¥ 602,863 ¥476,752 $4,774,682

 Less: Current portion (131,005) (75,662) (757,757)

   Total long-term debt ¥ 471,858 ¥401,090 $4,016,925

Interest rates on DOCOMO’s borrowings are mainly fixed. DOCOMO uses 

interest rate swap transactions, under which DOCOMO receives fixed rate 

interest payments and pays floating rate interest payments, to hedge the 

changes in fair value of certain debt as a part of its asset-liability management 

(ALM). Information relating to interest rate swap contracts is disclosed in Note 

19. Interest costs related specifically to short-term borrowings and long-term 

debt for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 totaled ¥8,065 

million, ¥5,453 million and ¥5,882 million ($58,908 thousand), respectively. 

DOCOMO filed a shelf registration for issuance of up to ¥1,000,000 million of 

domestic corporate bonds in Japan during a 2-year period started April 3, 2006. 

DOCOMO did not issue any domestic corporate bonds under this registration. 

DOCOMO also filed a shelf registration for issuance of up to ¥1,000,000 

million of domestic corporate bonds in Japan during a 2-year period started 

April 3, 2008. 

On June 11, 2008, DOCOMO issued domestic corporate straight bonds as 

follows:

Series 15 NTT DOCOMO Unsecured Straight Bonds

 Date of payment June 11, 2008

 Issue amount ¥80,000 million ($801,202 thousand)

 Issue price ¥99.93 per ¥100

 Interest rate 1.96% per annum

 Date of maturity June 20, 2018

 Use of proceeds  Repayment of outstanding debt, Redemption of 

outstanding corporate bonds, Capital expenditures, 

Investments, Loans, and Working capital

The amount of unused portion of a shelf registration after the issuance was 

¥920,000 million.

The aggregate amounts of annual maturities of long-term debt as of March 31, 2008, before consideration of the subsequent issuance of domestic corporate 

bonds were as follows: 

  Thousands of 

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2009 ¥  75,662 $   757,756

2010  29,018 290,616

2011 180,864 1,811,357

2012 174,781 1,750,436

2013  16,427 164,517

Thereafter — —

 Total ¥476,752  $4,774,682
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11. Shareholders’ equity: 

Effective May 1, 2006, the Corporate Law of Japan provides that (i) dividends 

of earnings require approval at a general meeting of shareholders, (ii) interim 

cash dividends can be distributed upon the approval of the board of directors, 

if the Articles of Incorporation provide for such interim cash dividends and (iii) 

an amount equal to at least 10% of decrease in retained earnings by dividends 

payment be appropriated from retained earnings to a legal reserve up to 25% 

of capital stock. The legal reserve is available for distribution upon approval of 

the shareholders.

The distributable amount available for the payments of dividends to 

shareholders as of March 31, 2008 was ¥1,277,120 million ($12,790,386 

thousand) and was included in “Additional paid-in capital” and “Retained 

earnings”. 

In the general meeting of shareholders held on June 20, 2008, the 

shareholders approved cash dividends of ¥102,307 million or ¥2,400 per 

share, payable to shareholders recorded as of March 31, 2008, which were 

declared by the board of directors on April 25, 2008. 

Issued shares and treasury stock— 

The changes in the number of issued shares and treasury stock for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are summarized as follows, where fractional 

shares are rounded off:
 Number of Number of 
 issued shares treasury stock

As of March 31, 2005 48,700,000 2,427,792

Acquisition of treasury stock based on the resolution by the general meeting of shareholders — 1,797,977

Acquisition of fractional shares — 4

Retirement of treasury stock (1,890,000) (1,890,000)

As of March 31, 2006 46,810,000 2,335,773

Acquisition of treasury stock based on the resolution by the general meeting of shareholders — 880,578

Acquisition of fractional shares — 5

Retirement of treasury stock (930,000) (930,000)

As of March 31, 2007 45,880,000 2,286,356

Acquisition of treasury stock based on the resolution by the general meeting of shareholders — 965,666

Acquisition of fractional shares — 51

Retirement of treasury stock (1,010,000) (1,010,000)

As of March 31, 2008 44,870,000 2,242,073

DOCOMO had no issued shares other than share of its common stock.

In order to improve capital efficiency and to implement flexible capital policies in accordance with the business environment, the general meetings of 

shareholders approved stock repurchase plans as follows:

   Approved maximum number Approved maximum budget 
Date of the general meeting  of treasury stock to be for share repurchase 
 of shareholders Term of repurchase repurchased (Shares) (Millions of yen)

June 18, 2004 June 18, 2004 - June 21, 2005 2,500,000 ¥600,000

June 21, 2005 June 21, 2005 - June 20, 2006 2,200,000 400,000

June 20, 2006 June 20, 2006 - June 19, 2007 1,400,000 250,000

June 19, 2007 June 20, 2007 - June 19, 2008 1,000,000 200,000

June 20, 2008 June 21, 2008 - June 20, 2009 900,000 150,000
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Based on the resolution of the board of directors, DOCOMO retired its own shares held as treasury stock. The number and aggregate amount of purchase price 

of treasury stock retired were as follows:

Date of the board of directors  Shares Millions of yen

March 28, 2006  1,890,000 ¥362,659

March 28, 2007  930,000 175,055

March 28, 2008  1,010,000 187,387

Date of the board of directors Shares Thousands of U.S. dollars

March 28, 2008  1,010,000 $1,876,685

Aggregate number and price of shares repurchased for the year ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

Year ended March 31,  Shares Millions of yen

2006     1,797,981 ¥300,078

2007     880,583 157,223

2008     965,717 173,002

Year ended March 31, Shares Thousands of U.S. dollars

2008     965,717 $1,732,619

Out of the total shares repurchased, 1,506,000 shares were purchased from NTT during the year ended March 31, 2006. No shares were purchased from NTT during 

the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008.

Accumulated other comprehensive income: 

The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes: 

 Millions of yen

 Unrealized holding     Accumulated 

 gains (losses) on Net revaluation Foreign curency  Mimimum other  

 available-for-sale of financial translation Pension liability pension liability comprehensive 

 securities instruments adjustment adjustment adjustment income

As of March 31, 2005 ¥ 21,930 ¥(213) ¥ 48,921          — ¥(13,029) ¥ 57,609

2006 change 7,662 121 (42,597) — 3,986 (30,828)

As of March 31, 2006 ¥ 29,592 ¥  (92) ¥   6,324          — ¥  (9,043) ¥ 26,781

2007 change (15,763) 34 1,103 — 5,562 (9,064)

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158 — — — ¥  (8,324) 3,481 (4,843)

As of March 31, 2007 ¥ 13,829 ¥  (58) ¥   7,427 ¥  (8,324)         — ¥ 12,874

2008 change (16,331) 133 7,172 (3,438) — (12,464)

As of March 31, 2008 ¥  (2,502) ¥   75 ¥ 14,599 ¥(11,762) — ¥     410

 Thousands of U.S. dollars

 Unrealized holding     Accumulated 

 gains (losses) on Net revaluation Foreign curency  Mimimum other  

 available-for-sale of financial translation Pension liability pension liability comprehensive 

 securities instruments adjustment adjustment adjustment income

As of March 31, 2007 $138,498 $ (581) $  74,381 $   (83,365) — $ 128,933

2008 change (163,555) 1,332 71,828 (34,432) — (124,827)

As of March 31, 2008 $ (25,057) $  751 $146,209 $ (117,797) — $     4,106

The amount of taxes applied to the items in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” is described in Note 17. 

As a result of the share retirement, “Retained earnings” were decreased by 

¥362,659 million and the number of authorized common stock decreased from 

190,020,000 shares to 188,130,000 shares during the year ended March 31, 2006.

As a result of the share retirements, “Additional paid-in capital” was 

decreased by ¥175,055 million and ¥187,387 million ($1,876,685 thousand) 

and the number of authorized common stock was not changed during the 

years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

In May 2008, based on a resolution of the board of directors on March 28, 

2008, DOCOMO repurchased total of 311,322 shares of its common stock for 

¥49,997 million ($500,721 thousand) in the stock market. 
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12. Research and development expenses and advertising expenses: 

Research and development expenses 

Expenditures for research and development are charged to expense as incurred.

Research and development expenses are included primarily in “Selling, 

general and administrative” expenses and amounted to ¥110,509 million, 

¥99,315 million and ¥100,035 million ($1,001,853 thousand) for the years 

ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 

Advertising expenses 

Expenditures for advertising are also expensed as incurred. Such expenditures 

are included in “Selling, general and administrative” expenses and amounted 

to ¥52,610 million, ¥53,126 million and ¥55,357 million ($554,402 thousand) 

for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 

13. Other income (expense): 

Components of other income (expense) included in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 

2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Net realized gains on marketable securities ¥     366 ¥    309 ¥      748 $     7,491

Other than temporary impairment of marketable securities and other investments (251) (8,086) (11,418) (114,352)

Foreign exchange gains (losses), net 8,072 281 (1,609) (16,114)

Rental revenue received 2,525 2,407 2,256 22,594

Dividends income 4,446 7,203 3,310 33,150

Penalties and compensation for damages 3,279 2,000 2,193 21,963

Other, net  2,938 (292) (1,366) (13,680)

  Total  ¥21,375 ¥ 3,822 ¥  (5,886) $  (58,948)

14. Related party transactions: 

As previously noted, DOCOMO is majority-owned by NTT, which is a holding 

company for more than 400 companies comprising the NTT group. 

DOCOMO has entered into a number of different types of transactions with 

NTT, its other subsidiaries and its affiliated companies in the ordinary course of 

business. DOCOMO’s transactions with NTT group companies include 

purchases of wireline telecommunications services (i.e. for DOCOMO’s offices 

and operations facilities) based on actual usage, leasing of various telecom-

munications facilities and sales of DOCOMO’s various wireless communications 

services. 

Receivables include primarily customer accounts receivables related to 

DOCOMO’s sales of wireless communications services to customers, which 

NTT collects on behalf of DOCOMO. These sales are recorded as revenue from 

each third-party customer receiving the services and are not included in the 

amount of sales to related parties. During the years ended March 31, 2006, 

2007 and 2008, DOCOMO purchased capital equipment from NTT Group 

companies in amount of ¥71,897 million, ¥103,728 million and ¥78,112 

million ($782,293 thousand), respectively. 

DOCOMO has entered into contracts of bailment of cash for consumption 

with NTT FINANCE CORPORATION (“NTT FINANCE”) for cash management 

purposes. NTT and its subsidiaries collectively own all the voting interests in 

NTT FINANCE, of which DOCOMO owned 4.2% as of March 31, 2008. 

Accordingly, NTT FINANCE is a related party of DOCOMO. Under the terms of  

 

 

the contracts, funds are bailed to NTT FINANCE and DOCOMO can withdraw 

the funds upon its demand. The balance of bailment was ¥100,000 million as 

of March 31, 2007. The assets related to the contracts were recorded as “Short-

term investments” of ¥50,000 million and “Other assets” of ¥50,000 million in 

the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007. The contracts had 

remaining terms to maturity ranging from 3 months to 1 year and 3 months 

with the average interest rate of 0.2% per annum as of March 31, 2007. 

The balance of bailment was ¥100,000 million ($1,001,502 thousand) as of 

March 31, 2008. The assets related to the contracts were recorded as “Cash 

and cash equivalents” of ¥50,000 million ($500,751 thousand) and “Short-

term investments” of ¥50,000 million ($500,751 thousand) in the consolidated 

balance sheets as of March 31, 2008. The contracts had remaining terms to 

maturity ranging from 1 month to 3 months with the average interest rate of 

0.4% per annum as of March 31, 2008. 

The fair values of the bailment contracts are not determinable as these contracts 

are with a related party and a secondary market for such contracts does not exist. 

There were no contracts of bailment expired during the year ended March 31, 

2006. The average balance of the contracts of bailment expired during the year 

ended March 31, 2007 and 2008 was ¥25,178 million and ¥51,243 million 

($513,200 thousand), respectively. The recorded amount of interest income 

derived from the contracts was ¥95 million, ¥269 million and ¥388 million ($3,886 

thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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15. Segment reporting: 

From a resource allocation perspective, DOCOMO views itself as having three 

primary business segments. The mobile phone business segment includes 

FOMA services, mova services, packet communications services, satellite 

mobile communications services, international services and the equipment 

sales related to these services. The PHS business segment includes PHS services 

and the related equipment sales for such service. DOCOMO terminated its 

PHS services on January 7, 2008. The miscellaneous business segment includes 

credit services, wireless LAN services, Quickcast (paging) services and other 

miscellaneous services, which in the aggregate are not significant in amount. 

DOCOMO terminated its Quickcast services on March 31, 2007. The 

“Corporate” column in the tables below is not an operating segment but is 

included to reflect the recorded amounts of common assets which cannot be 

allocated to any business segment. 

DOCOMO identifies its reportable segments based on the nature of services 

included, as well as the characteristics of the telecommunications networks  

used to provide those services. DOCOMO’s management monitors and 

evaluates the performance of its segments based on the information that 

follows as derived from the Company’s management reports. Assets by 

segment are not included in the management reports, however, they are 

included herein only for the purpose of disclosure. Depreciation and 

amortization is shown separately, as well as included as part of operating 

expenses. Corporate assets primarily include cash, deposits, securities, loans 

and investments in affiliates. DOCOMO allocates common assets, such as 

buildings for telecommunications purposes and common facilities, on a 

systematic and rational basis based on the proportionate amount of network 

assets of each segment. Capital expenditures in the “Corporate” column 

include expenditures in “Miscellaneous businesses” and certain expenditures 

related to the buildings for telecommunications purposes and common 

facilities, which are not allocated to each segment. 

Segment information is prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
 Millions of yen

  Mobile phone PHS Miscellaneous 

Year ended March 31, 2006  business business businesses Corporate Consolidated

Operating revenues ¥4,683,002 ¥41,741 ¥41,129 — ¥4,765,872

Operating expenses 3,838,567 51,210 43,456 — 3,933,233

Operating income (loss) ¥   844,435 ¥ (9,469) ¥ (2,327) — ¥  832,639

Total assets ¥4,782,740 ¥34,414 ¥23,241 ¥1,524,862 ¥6,365,257

Depreciation and amortization ¥   729,349 ¥  5,054 ¥  3,734 — ¥   738,137

Capital expenditures ¥   749,456 ¥  1,071 — ¥   136,586 ¥   887,113

 Millions of yen

  Mobile phone PHS Miscellaneous 

Year ended March 31, 2007  business business businesses Corporate Consolidated

Operating revenues ¥4,718,875 ¥ 23,429 ¥ 45,789 — ¥4,788,093

Operating expenses 3,915,204 38,812 60,553 — 4,014,569

Operating income (loss) ¥   803,671 ¥(15,383) ¥(14,764) — ¥   773,524

Total assets ¥5,067,348 ¥ 25,212 ¥ 40,213 ¥983,442 ¥6,116,215

Depreciation and amortization ¥   735,270 ¥   3,230 ¥   6,838 — ¥   745,338

Capital expenditures ¥   781,548 ¥   1,195 — ¥151,680 ¥   934,423
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 Millions of yen

  Mobile phone PHS Miscellaneous 

Year ended March 31, 2008  business business businesses Corporate Consolidated

Operating revenues ¥4,647,132 ¥   9,953 ¥ 54,742 — ¥4,711,827

Operating expenses 3,788,943 39,912 74,660 — 3,903,515

Operating income (loss) ¥   858,189 ¥(29,959) ¥(19,918) — ¥   808,312

Total assets ¥4,838,663 ¥ 19,664 ¥ 80,668 ¥1,271,839 ¥6,210,834

Depreciation and amortization ¥   767,481 ¥   1,601 ¥   7,343 — ¥   776,425

Capital expenditures ¥   623,975 ¥      244 — ¥   134,524 ¥   758,743

 Thousands of U.S. dollars

  Mobile phone PHS Miscellaneous 

Year ended March 31, 2008  business business businesses Corporate Consolidated

Operating revenues $46,541,132 $   99,680 $ 548,242 — $47,189,054

Operating expenses 37,946,350 399,720 747,721 — 39,093,791

Operating income (loss) $  8,594,782 $(300,040) $(199,479) — $  8,095,263

Total assets $48,459,319 $ 196,935 $ 807,892 $12,737,496 $62,201,642

Depreciation and amortization $  7,686,340 $   16,034 $   73,540 — $  7,775,914

Capital expenditures $  6,249,124 $     2,443 — $  1,347,261 $  7,598,828

DOCOMO does not disclose geographical segments, since the amounts of operating revenues generated and long-lived assets owned outside Japan are 

immaterial. 

There were no sales and operating revenue from transactions with a single external customer amounting to 10% or more of DOCOMO’s revenues for the years 

ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. 

Revenues from external customers for each similar product and service were presented as follows: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

Year ended March 31 2006 2007 2008 2008

Operating Revenues :

Wireless services  ¥4,295,856 ¥4,314,140 ¥4,165,234 $41,714,913

 Cellular services revenues  4,158,134 4,182,609 4,018,988 40,250,255

  – Voice revenues   3,038,654 2,940,364 2,645,096 26,490,696

   Including: FOMA services  1,169,947 1,793,037 2,084,263 20,873,941

  – Packet communications revenues  1,119,480 1,242,245 1,373,892 13,759,559

   Including: FOMA services  613,310 971,946 1,254,648 12,565,328

 PHS services revenues  40,943 23,002 9,472 94,863

 Other revenues  96,779 108,529 136,774 1,369,795

Equipment sales  470,016 473,953 546,593 5,474,141

  Total operating revenues  ¥4,765,872 ¥4,788,093 ¥4,711,827 $47,189,054
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16. Employees’ retirement benefits: 

Severance payments and contract-type corporate pension plan— 

Employees whose services with DOCOMO are terminated are normally entitled 

to lump-sum severance or retirement payments and pension benefits based on 

internal labor regulations, the amount of which is determined by a combination 

of factors such as the employee’s salary eligibility, length of service and other 

conditions. The pension benefit is covered by the non-contributory defined 

benefit pension plans (“Defined benefit pension plans”) sponsored by 

DOCOMO.

The following table presents reconciliations of the changes in the Defined 

benefit pension plans’ projected benefit obligations and fair value of plan 

assets for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008. DOCOMO uses a 

measurement date of March 31 for its Defined benefit pension plans. 

  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Change in benefit obligations:

 Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year ¥188,856 ¥ 183,004 $ 1,832,789

 Service cost 10,219 9,521 95,353

 Interest cost 3,654 3,889 38,948

 Benefit payments (9,737) (10,471) (104,867)

 Plan amendment (465) — —

 Transfer of liability from defined benefit pension plans of the NTT group 160 281 2,815

 Actuarial gain (9,683) (3,996) (40,020)

 Projected benefit obligation, end of year ¥183,004 ¥ 182,228 $ 1,825,018

Change in fair value of plan assets:

 Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year ¥  79,266 ¥   85,207 $    853,350

 Actual return on plan assets 3,096 (7,870) (78,818)

 Employer contributions 4,470 3,980 39,860

 Benefit payments (1,661) (1,838) (18,408)

 Transfer of plan assets from defined benefit pension plans of the NTT group 36 65 651

 Fair value of plan assets, end of year ¥  85,207 ¥   79,544 $    796,635

At March 31:

 Funded status ¥ (97,797) ¥(102,684) $(1,028,383)

The following table provides the amounts recognized in DOCOMO’s consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Liability for employees’ retirement benefits ¥(98,621) ¥(102,912) $(1,030,666)

Prepaid pension cost 824 228 2,283

Net amount recognized ¥(97,797) ¥(102,684) $(1,028,383)

Prepaid pension cost is included in “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheets. 
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Items recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were summarized in the following table:
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Actuarial gains (losses), net ¥(28,737) ¥(33,921) $(339,720)

Prior service cost 20,239 18,332 183,595

Transition obligation (1,439) (1,312) (13,140)

 Total   ¥  (9,937) ¥(16,901) $(169,265)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Defined benefit pension plans was ¥176,586 million and ¥176,476 million ($1,767,411 thousand) as of March 31, 

2007 and 2008, respectively. 

 

The projected benefit obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets in the pension plans with the projected or accumulated 

benefit obligation in excess of the plan assets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were summarized as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Plans with projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

 Projected benefit obligation ¥178,323 ¥177,963 $1,782,303

 Fair value of plan assets 79,702 75,051 751,637

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

 Accumulated benefit obligation ¥171,549 ¥172,239 $1,724,977

 Fair value of plan assets 79,313 75,051 751,637

The net periodic pension cost for the Defined benefit pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 included the following components: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Service cost  ¥  9,879 ¥10,219 ¥  9,521 $  95,353

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation  3,493 3,654 3,889 38,948

Expected return on plan assets  (1,640) (2,028) (2,144) (21,472)

Amortization of prior service cost  (1,861) (1,907) (1,907) (19,099)

Amortization of actuarial gains and losses  2,018 1,600 834 8,353

Amortization of transition obligation  132 127 127 1,272

 Net periodic pension cost   ¥12,021 ¥11,665 ¥10,320 $103,355
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Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations of the Defined benefit pension plans recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” for the 

years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 included the following components: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in 
  “Accumulated other comprehensive income”:

 Adjustment to minimum pension liability  ¥(4,564) ¥  (8,778) — —

 Actuarial (gains) losses arising during period, net  — 28,737 ¥  6,018 $  60,270

 Prior service cost arising during period  — (20,239) — —

 Transition obligation arising during period  — 1,439 — —

 Amortization of prior service cost  — — 1,907 19,099

 Amortization of actuarial gains and losses  — — (834) (8,353)

 Amortization of transition obligation  — — (127) (1,272)

 Elimination of minimum pension liability  — (5,206) — —

  Total recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” ¥(4,564) ¥  (4,047) ¥  6,964 $  69,744

   Total recognized in net periodic pension cost and 
     “Accumulated other comprehensive income”  ¥ 7,457 ¥   7,618 ¥17,284 $173,099

The amount of actuarial losses, unrecognized transition obligation and prior service cost, which are expected to be amortized and reclassified from “Accumulated 

other comprehensive income” to net pension cost during the year ending March 31, 2009 is ¥1,192 million, ¥127 million and ¥(1,907) million, respectively.

The assumptions used in determination of the pension plans’ projected benefit obligations as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

      2007 2008

Discount rate  2.2% 2.3%

Long-term rate of salary increases  2.1 2.2

The assumptions used in determination of the net periodic pension cost for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

     2006 2007 2008

Discount rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.2%

Long-term rate of salary increases 2.1 2.1 2.1

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 2.5 2.5 2.5

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, DOCOMO considers the current and projected asset allocations, as well as expected long-

term investment returns and risks for each category of the plan assets based on analysis of historical results. 

The weighted-average asset allocations of Defined benefit pension plans as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 by asset category were as follows: 

      2007 2008

Domestic bonds  32.8% 42.6%

Domestic stock  23.8 23.0

Foreign stock  14.8 13.8

Foreign bonds  18.3 10.7

Other    10.3 9.9

 Total    100.0% 100.0%
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The Defined benefit pension plans’ policy toward plan asset management 

is formulated with the ultimate objective of ensuring the steady disbursement 

of pension benefits in future periods. The long-term objective of asset 

management, therefore, is to secure the total profits deemed necessary to 

ensure financial soundness of plan assets. To achieve this, DOCOMO selects 

various investments and takes into consideration their expected returns and 

risks and the correlation among the investments. DOCOMO then sets a target 

allocation ratio for the plan assets and endeavors to maintain that ratio. The 

target ratio is formulated from a mid- to long-term perspective and reviewed 

annually. In the event that the investment environment changes dramatically, 

DOCOMO will review the asset allocation as necessary. The target ratio in 

March 2008 was: domestic bonds, 45.0%; domestic stock, 25.0%; foreign 

stock, 15.0%; foreign bonds, 10.0%; and other financial instruments 5.0%. 

 As of March 31, 2007 and 2008, domestic stock owned by the Defined 

benefit pension plans as its plan asset included common stock of NTT and the 

NTT group companies listed in Japan including DOCOMO in amount of ¥666 

million (0.8% of total plan assets) and ¥479 million ($4,797 thousand, 0.6% 

of total plan assets), respectively. 

Occasionally, employees of the NTT group companies transfer to DOCOMO. 

Upon such transfer, the NTT group companies transfer the relevant vested 

pension obligation for each employee along with a corresponding amount of 

plan assets and cash. Therefore, the difference between the pension obligation 

and related plan assets transferred from the NTT group companies to 

DOCOMO, included in the above table which presents reconciliations of the 

changes in the Defined benefit pension plans’ projected benefit obligations 

and fair value of plan assets, represents cash paid by the NTT group companies 

to DOCOMO, which has not been invested in plan assets. 

DOCOMO expects to contribute ¥2,747 million to the Defined benefit 

pension plans in the year ending March 31, 2009. 

The benefit payments, which reflect expected future service under the Defined benefit pension plans, are expected to be as follows: 

  Thousands of 

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2009 ¥13,365 $133,851

2010 12,164 121,823

2011 11,701 117,186

2012 11,435 114,522

2013 11,176 111,928

2014–2018 65,981 660,801

Social welfare pension scheme and NTT Kigyou-Nenkin-Kikin (NTT 

Corporate Defined Benefit Pension Plan) —

DOCOMO participates in the national welfare pension plan (“National Plan”) 

and a contributory defined benefit pension plan sponsored by the NTT group 

(NTT Kigyou-Nenkin-Kikin or NTT Corporate Defined Benefit Pension Plan, 

“NTT CDBP”). The National Plan is a government-regulated social welfare 

pension plan under the Japanese Welfare Pension Insurance Law and both 

NTT Group and its employees provide contributions to such plan every year. 

The National Plan is considered a multi-employer plan as defined by SFAS No. 

87 “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” and contributions to such plan are 

recognized as expenses. The total amount of contributions by DOCOMO was 

¥12,787 million, ¥13,108 million and ¥13,369 million ($133,891 thousand) 

for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Both NTT Group, including DOCOMO and its employees provide contributions 

to the NTT CDBP to supplement the pension benefits to which the employees are 

entitled under the National Plan. The NTT CDBP is regulated under the Defined-

Benefit Corporate Pension Law. The NTT CDBP is considered a defined benefit 

pension plan as defined by SFAS No. 87. The participation by DOCOMO and its 

subsidiaries in the NTT CDBP is accounted for as a single employer plan. The 

number of DOCOMO’s employees covered by the NTT CDBP represented approxi-

mately 10.5% of the total members as of both March 31, 2007 and 2008.

In June 2003, under the Defined-Benefit Corporate Pension Law, NTT Kosei-

Nenkin-Kikin or NTT Employee’s Pension Fund (“NTT Plan”), which was the 

antecedent of the NTT CDBP, applied to the Japanese government for permission 

for the NTT Plan to be released from the future obligations to disburse the NTT 

Plan benefits covering the substitutional portion, and the application was 

approved in September 2003. The NTT Plan also applied to the government for 

permission for the NTT Plan to be released from the substitutional portion of the 

past obligations in April 2007, and the application was approved in July 2007. As 

a result, the participants of the NTT Plan were transferred to the NTT CDBP.

In February 2008, the NTT CDBP transferred the remaining substitutional 

obligation and related plan assets, determined pursuant to the government 

formula, of the pension fund to the government agency. In accordance with EITF 

Issue No.03-2, “Accounting for the Transfer to the Japanese Government of the 

Substitutional Portion of Employee Pension Fund Liabilities”, DOCOMO accounted 

for the entire transfer process as a single settlement event upon completion of the 

transfer. The net amount of actuarial gains and losses proportionate to the 

substitutional portion immediately prior to the transfer, which was ¥3,892 million 

($38,978 thousand), and the excess of projected benefit obligation over the 

accumulated benefit obligation, which was ¥4,395 million ($44,016 thousand), 

were netted and recognized as settlement gain of ¥503 million ($5,038 thousand) 

from the transaction. The net of the obligation settled and the assets transferred 

to the government was recognized as a gain on subsidy from the government of 

¥24,199 million ($242,353 thousand). As a result of recording the settlement gain 

and governmental subsidy as reduction of “Selling, general and administrative”, 

the aggregate amount of ¥24,702 million ($247,391 thousand) was recognized 

as decrease in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income and 

comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2008. A “Decrease in 

liability for employees’ retirement benefits” of ¥19,002 million ($190,306 

thousand) recognized in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year 

ended March 31, 2008 was net of a decrease of ¥24,702 million ($247,391 

thousand) in liability for employees’ retirement benefits due to gain on transfer of 

substitutional portion and an increase of ¥5,700 million ($57,085 thousand) in 

liability for employees’ retirement benefits which was derived from other factors.
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  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Change in benefit obligations:

 Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year ¥132,031 ¥131,405 $1,316,024

 Service cost 3,440 3,244 32,489

 Interest cost 2,619 2,872 28,763

 Benefit payments (1,272) (1,123) (11,247)

 Internal adjustment due to transfer of employees within the NTT group (438) (413) (4,136)

 Actuarial gain (4,975) (2,412) (24,156)

 Transfer of the substitutional portion to the government — (55,288) (553,711)

 Projected benefit obligation, end of year ¥131,405 ¥  78,285 $   784,026

Change in fair value of plan assets:

 Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year ¥  90,262 ¥  94,136 $   942,774

 Actual return on plan assets 3,697 (3,122) (31,267)

 Employer contributions 1,240 954 9,554

 Employee contributions 522 452 4,527

 Benefit payments (1,272) (1,123) (11,247)

 Internal adjustment due to transfer of employees within the NTT group (313) (294) (2,944)

 Transfer of the substitutional portion to the government — (26,694) (267,341)

 Fair value of plan assets, end of year ¥  94,136 ¥  64,309 $   644,056

At March 31:

 Funded status ¥ (37,269) ¥ (13,976) $  (139,970)

Items recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income”, based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ participation in 

the NTT CDBP, were summarized in the following table: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Actuarial gains (losses), net ¥(6,080) ¥(5,221) $(52,288)

Prior service cost 2,497 2,140 21,432

 Total   ¥(3,583) ¥(3,081) $(30,856)

The accumulated benefit obligation regarding DOCOMO employees for the NTT CDBP based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO 

employees’ participation was ¥109,680 million and ¥61,864 million ($619,569 thousand) at March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. 

 

The projected benefit obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets in the pension plans with the projected or accumulated 

benefit obligation in excess of the plan assets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were summarized as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Plans with projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

 Projected benefit obligation ¥131,405 ¥78,285 $784,026

 Fair value of plan assets 94,136 64,309 644,056

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

 Accumulated benefit obligation ¥109,680 ¥19,518 $195,473

 Fair value of plan assets 94,136 16,803 168,282

The following table presents reconciliations of the changes in the NTT CDBP’s 

projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the years ended 

March 31, 2007 and 2008. The amount in the table is based on actuarial 

computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ participation in the NTT 

CDBP. The funded status was recognized as “Liability for employees’ retirement 

benefits” in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008.
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The net periodic pension cost related to the NTT CDBP based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ participation for the years 

ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, included the following components: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Service cost ¥ 3,626 ¥ 3,440 ¥   3,244 $   32,489

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 2,580 2,619 2,872 28,763

Expected return on plan assets (1,970) (2,254) (2,339) (23,425)

Amortization of prior service cost (357) (357) (357) (3,575)

Amortization of actuarial gains and losses 1,956 362 16 160

Contribution from employees (532) (522) (452) (4,527)

 Net periodic pension cost  ¥ 5,303 ¥ 3,288 ¥   2,984 $   29,885

Gain on transfer of substitutional portion of pension liabilities — — (24,702) (247,391)

   Total ¥ 5,303 ¥ 3,288 ¥(21,718) $(217,506)

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations of the NTT CDBP based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ participation 

recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 included the following components: 

  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in 
  “Accumulated other comprehensive income”:

  Adjustment to minimum pension liability ¥(2,132) ¥   (600) — —

  Actuarial (gains) losses arising during period, net — 6,080 ¥   3,049 $   30,536

  Prior service cost arising during period — (2,497) — —

  Amortization of prior service cost — — 357 3,575

  Amortization of actuarial gains and losses — — (16) (160)

  Reclassification of actuarial gains and losses due to transfer of the 
     substitutional portion to the government — — (3,892) (38,978)

  Elimination of minimum pension liability — (311) — —

   Total recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” ¥(2,132) ¥ 2,672 ¥     (502) $    (5,027)

    Total recognized in net periodic pension cost, gain on transfer of substitutional 
        portion of pension liabilities and “Accumulated other comprehensive income” ¥ 3,171 ¥ 5,960 ¥(22,220) $(222,533)

The amount of actuarial losses and prior service cost, which are expected to be amortized and reclassified from “Accumulated other comprehensive income” 

to net periodic pension cost during the year ending March 31, 2009 is ¥97 million and ¥(357) million, respectively.

The assumptions used in determination of the NTT CDBP’s projected benefit obligations, based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO 

employees’ participation in the NTT CDBP, as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

      2007 2008

Discount rate  2.2% 2.3%

Long-term rate of salary increases  2.6 2.6

The assumptions used in determination of the net periodic pension cost, based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO employees’ 

participation in the NTT CDBP, for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 

     2006 2007 2008

Discount rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.2%

Long-term rate of salary increases 2.6 2.6 2.6

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 2.5 2.5 2.5
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In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the NTT CDBP considers the current and projected asset allocations, as well as expected 

long-term investment returns and risks for each category of the plan assets based on analysis of historical results. 

The weighted-average asset allocations of the NTT CDBP as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 by asset category were as follows: 

      2007 2008

Domestic bonds  49.6% 58.2%

Domestic stock  17.9 17.4

Foreign stock  11.4 10.4

Foreign bonds  14.2 8.1

Other    6.9 5.9

 Total    100.0% 100.0%

The NTT CDBP’s policy toward plan asset management is formulated with 

the ultimate objective of ensuring the steady disbursement of pension benefits 

in future periods. The long-term objective of asset management, therefore, is 

to secure the total profits deemed necessary to ensure financial soundness of 

plan assets. To achieve this, the NTT CDBP selects various investments and 

takes into consideration their expected returns and risks and the correlation 

among the investments. The NTT CDBP then sets a target allocation ratio for 

the plan assets and endeavors to maintain that ratio. The target ratio is 

formulated from a mid- to long-term perspective and reviewed annually. In the 

event that the investment environment changes dramatically, the NTT CDBP 

will review the asset allocation as necessary. The target ratio in March 2008 

was: domestic bonds, 60.8%; domestic stock, 18.2%; foreign stock, 10.5%; 

foreign bonds, 7.7%; and other financial instruments 2.8%. As of March 31, 

2007 and 2008, domestic stock owned by the NTT CDBP as its plan asset 

included common stock of NTT and the NTT group companies including 

DOCOMO in the amount of ¥9,548 million (0.7% of total plan assets) and 

¥4,744 million ($47,511 thousand, 0.5% of total plan assets), respectively. 

 DOCOMO expects to contribute ¥799 million to the NTT CDBP in the year 

ending March 31, 2009. 

The benefit payments, which reflect expected future service under the NTT CDBP, based on actuarial computations which covered only DOCOMO employees 

are expected to be as follows: 

  Thousands of 

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2009 ¥    981 $   9,825

2010 1,323 13,250

2011 1,497 14,992

2012 1,672 16,745

2013 1,852 18,548

2014–2018 11,729 117,466
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17. Income taxes: 

Total income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were computed as follows: 
  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Income from continuing operations before equity in net income (losses) 
  of affiliates and minority interest  ¥341,382 ¥313,679 ¥322,955 $3,234,401

Equity in net income (losses) of affiliates 1,653 (850) 9,257 92,709

Other comprehensive income (loss):

 Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities  6,927 (10,586) (11,668) (116,855)

  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses included in net income  (1,618) (276) 299 2,994

 Net revaluation of financial instruments 256 576 (363) (3,635)

  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses included in net income  (172) (552) 455 4,557

 Foreign currency translation adjustment (234) 76 6,634 66,440

  Less: Reclassification of realized gains and losses included in net income (15,779) — (88) (881)

 Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158 — (3,395) — —

 Pension liability adjustment:

  Actuarial gains (losses) arising during period, net — — (3,513) (35,183)

  Less: Amortization of prior service cost — — (926) (9,274)

  Less: Amortization of actuarial gains and losses — — 348 3,486

  Less: Amortization of transition obligation — — 52 521

  Less: Reclassification of actuarial gains and losses due to transfer of the 
    substitutional portion to the government — — 1,660 16,624

 Minimum pension liability adjustment 2,758 3,849 — —

   Total income taxes ¥335,173 ¥302,521 ¥325,102 $3,255,904

Substantially all income or loss before income taxes and income tax expenses 

or benefits are domestic. 

 For the years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, the Company and 

its domestic subsidiaries were subject to a National Corporate Tax of 30%, a 

Corporate Inhabitant Tax of approximately 6% and a deductible Corporate 

Enterprise Tax of approximately 8%. The rate of the Corporate Inhabitant Tax 

and Corporate Enterprise Tax differs subject to municipalities.

The aggregate statutory income tax rate was 40.9% all through the years 

ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The effective income tax rate for the 

years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 was 35.9%, 40.6% and 40.3%, 

respectively. 

Reconciliation of the difference of the effective income tax rates of DOCOMO and the statutory tax rates are as follows: 

     2006 2007 2008

Statutory income tax rate 40.9% 40.9% 40.9%

 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.2 0.2 0.3

 Tax credit for special tax treatment such as R&D investment tax incentive, 
   IT investment promotion tax incentive and IT infrastructure tax incentive (2.6) (0.9) (0.8)

 Changes in valuation allowance (0.9) — —

 Other  (1.7) 0.4 (0.1)

Effective income tax rate 35.9% 40.6% 40.3%
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Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. 

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Deferred tax assets:

 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  principally due to differences 
   in depreciation and amortization ¥  45,139 ¥  48,618 $   486,911

 Liability for employees’ retirement benefits 54,329 46,965 470,356

 Reserve for point loyalty programs 42,397 46,004 460,731

 Deferred revenues regarding “Nikagetsu Kurikoshi” (2 month carry-over) 28,779 32,441 324,897

 Accrued enterprise tax 6,244 16,594 166,189

 Compensated absences 9,276 12,455 124,737

 Accrued commissions to agent resellers 23,293 9,343 93,570

 Marketable securities and other investments 3,604 7,873 78,848

 Accrued bonus 7,006 6,897 69,074

 Inventories 14,861 5,428 54,362

 Unrealized holding losses on available–for-sale securities — 1,746 17,486

 Other  10,571 12,435 124,537

  Total deferred tax assets ¥245,499 ¥246,799 $2,471,698

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Foreign currency translation adjustment 128 6,674 66,840

 Property, plant and equipment due to differences in capitalized interest 1,738 2,343 23,465

 Investment in affiliates 438 2,292 22,955

 Intangible assets (principally customer related assets) 5,499 2,026 20,291

 Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities 9,623 — —

 Other  7,436 3,551 35,563

  Total deferred tax liabilities ¥  24,862 ¥  16,886 $   169,114

Net deferred tax assets ¥220,637 ¥229,913 $2,302,584

The components of net deferred tax assets included in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 
  Thousands of 

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Deferred tax assets (current assets) ¥  94,868 ¥108,037 $1,081,993

Deferred tax assets (non-current investments and other assets) 127,696 123,403 1,235,884

Other current liabilities (7) — —

Other long-term liabilities (1,920) (1,527) (15,293)

 Total   ¥220,637 ¥229,913 $2,302,584

 In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers 

whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 

assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is 

dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods 

in which those temporary differences and tax carry-forwards become 

deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax 

liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in 

making this assessment. Management believes that the amount of the deferred 

tax assets is realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates 

of future taxable income during the carry-forward period are reduced. 

Effective April 1, 2007, DOCOMO applied the provisions of FIN 48, which, 

among other things, requires applying a “more-likely-than-not” threshold to 

the recognition and derecognizing of tax positions. As of the date of the 

application of FIN 48 DOCOMO had no material unrecognized tax benefit 

which would favorably affect the effective income tax rate in future periods and 

does not believe that there will be any significant increases or decreases within 

the next 12 months. DOCOMO has elected to classify interest and penalties 

related to unrecognized tax benefits, if and when required, as part of income 

tax expense in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 

income. No interest or penalties have been accrued at the date of application. 
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Other taxes— 

The consumption tax rate for all taxable goods and services, with minor exceptions, is 5 percent. Consumption tax payable or receivable is determined based on 

consumption taxes levied on operating revenues offset by consumption taxes directly incurred by the Company when purchasing goods and services. 

 

18. Commitments and contingencies: 

Leases— 

DOCOMO leases certain facilities and equipment in the normal course of business under capital leases or operating leases. 

Assets covered under capital leases at March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows: 
  Thousands of 

Class of property Millions of yen U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

Tools, furniture and fixtures ¥12,016 ¥11,699 $117,166

Software  875 409 4,096

 Sub-total 12,891 12,108 121,262

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (7,143) (7,833) (78,448)

 Total   ¥  5,748 ¥  4,275 $  42,814

Tools, furniture and fixtures are classified as part of property, plant and equipment, while software is classified as part of intangible assets. 

Future minimum lease payments by year under capital leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as of March 31, 2008 were 

as follows: 
  Thousands of 

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2009 ¥ 3,036 $ 30,405

2010 2,332 23,355

2011 1,591 15,934

2012 882 8,833

2013 382 3,826

Thereafter 61 611

Total minimum lease payments 8,284 82,964

 Less—Amount representing interest (506) (5,067)

Present value of net minimum lease payments 7,778 77,897

 Less—Amounts representing estimated executory costs (1,031) (10,326)

Net minimum lease payments 6,747 67,571

 Less—Current obligation (2,422) (24,256)

Long-term capital lease obligations ¥ 4,325 $ 43,315

The above obligations are classified as part of other current and long-term liabilities as appropriate. 

DOCOMO mainly files income tax returns in Japan. According to the Japanese 

tax law, the statute of limitation is 5 years (i.e. the years ended March 31, 2003 to 

2007) in the case of underreporting of the taxable income. In addition, the statute 

of limitations is 7 years (i.e. the years ended March 31, 2001 to 2007) in the case 

of amendment of net operating losses and tax evasion. The Company and  

its major domestic subsidiaries are no longer subject to regular income tax 

examination by the tax authority before the year ended March 31, 2007. In the 

case of transfer pricing, the statute of limitations is 6 years (i.e. the years ended 

March 31, 2002 to 2007).
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The minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancellable lease terms in excess of one year as of March 31, 

2008 were as follows: 

  Thousands of 

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2009 ¥  2,152 $  21,553

2010 1,870 18,728

2011 1,521 15,233

2012 1,424 14,261

2013 1,424 14,261

Thereafter 14,238 142,594

 Total minimum future rentals ¥22,629 $226,630

The following schedule shows total rental expense for all operating leases for the years indicated except those with terms of 1 month or less that were not renewed: 

  Thousands of  

 Millions of yen U.S. dollars 

 2006 2007 2008 2008

Minimum rentals ¥64,323 ¥67,897 ¥70,673 $707,792

Litigation— 

As of March 31, 2008, DOCOMO had no litigation or claims outstanding, 

pending or threatened against which in the opinion of management would have 

a materially adverse effect on its results of operations or financial position. 

 

Purchase commitments— 

DOCOMO has entered into various contracts for the purchase of property, plant 

and equipment, inventories (primarily handsets) and services and the acquisition 

of equity securities. Commitments outstanding as of March 31, 2008 amounted 

to ¥51,746 million ($518,237 thousand) (of which ¥3,632 million ($36,375 

thousand) are with related parties) for property, plant and equipment, ¥22,029 

million ($220,621 thousand) (of which none are with related parties) for inventories 

and ¥44,920 million ($449,875 thousand) (of which ¥849 million ($8,503 

thousand) are with related parties) for the other purchase commitments. 

 

Guarantees— 

DOCOMO applied FIN No. 45 “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 

Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness 

of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 requires that if a company issues or modifies a 

guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of 

the obligations it has undertaken and must disclose that information in its 

financial statements. 

DOCOMO enters into agreements in the normal course of business that 

provide guarantees for counterparties. These counterparties include subscribers, 

related parties, foreign wireless telecommunications service providers and other 

business partners. While the most of guarantees provided for subscribers relate 

to product defects of cellular phone handsets sold by DOCOMO, DOCOMO is 

provided with similar guarantees by the handset vendors. Though the guarantees 

or indemnifications provided in other transactions than with the subscribers are 

different in each contract, the likelihood of almost all of the performance of 

these guarantees or indemnifications are remote and amount of payments 

DOCOMO could be claimed for is not specified in almost all of the contracts. 

Historically, DOCOMO has not made any significant guarantee or indemnification 

payments under such agreements. DOCOMO estimates the estimated fair value 

of the obligations related to these agreements is not significant. Accordingly, no 

liabilities were recognized for these obligations as of March 31, 2008. 
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19. Financial instruments: 

(1) Risk management 

 The fair values for DOCOMO’s assets and liabilities and DOCOMO’s cash flows 

may be negatively impacted by fluctuations in interest rates and foreign 

exchange rates. To manage these risks, DOCOMO uses derivative financial 

instruments such as interest rate swaps, currency swaps and foreign exchange 

forward contracts and also uses non-derivative financial instruments. The 

financial instruments are executed with creditworthy financial institutions and 

DOCOMO management believes that there is little risk of default by these 

counterparties. DOCOMO sets and follows internal regulations that establish 

conditions to enter into derivative contracts and procedures of approving and 

monitoring such contracts. 

(2) Fair value of financial instruments

Short-term financial instruments –

All cash and short-term investments, current receivables, current payables and 

certain other short-term financial instruments are short-term in nature. 

Therefore their carrying amounts approximate fair values except the items 

separately referred below. 

Long-term debt including current portion –

The fair value of long-term debt including current portion is estimated based 

on the discounted amounts of future cash flows using DOCOMO’s current 

incremental borrowings rates for similar liabilities. 

The carrying amount and the estimated fair value of long-term debt including current portion as of March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

 Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
 amount value amount value amount value

 ¥602,863 ¥606,910 ¥476,752 ¥481,832 $4,774,682 $4,825,558

Interest rate swap agreements –

DOCOMO uses interest rate swap transactions, under which DOCOMO 

receives fixed rate interest payments and pays floating rate interest payments, 

to hedge the changes in fair value of certain debt as a part of its asset-liability 

management (ALM). DOCOMO designated this derivative as a fair value 

hedge utilizing the short-cut method in SFAS No. 133, which permits an 

assumption of no ineffectiveness if these and other criteria are met. The offset 

to the change in fair value of the interest rate swap was reflected in the 

balance of the hedged instrument within “Long-term debt” in the consolidated 

balance sheets and interest expense was adjusted to include the effects of 

payments made and received under the swap.

The table below shows the contract amount and fair value of the interest rate swap agreement as of March 31, 2007 and 2008:

 Millions of yen

Contract Term (in the year ended/ending March 31,) Weighted average rate per annum 2007

     Receive fixed Pay floating Contract amount Fair value

2004–2012 1.5% 0.9% ¥235,800 ¥858

 Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

Contract Term (in the year ended/ending March 31,) Weighted average rate per annum 2008 2008

     Receive fixed Pay floating Contract amount Fair value Contract amount Fair value

2004–2012 1.5% 1.2% ¥235,800 ¥3,511 $2,361,542 $35,163

The interest rate swap agreements have remaining terms to maturity ranging from 3 years to 3 years and 9 months. 

The fair values of interest rate swaps were obtained from counterparty financial institutions and represent the amount that DOCOMO could have settled with 

the counterparties to terminate the swaps outstanding as of March 31, 2007 and 2008. 
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Foreign exchange forward contracts— 

DOCOMO has foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge currency exchange risk associated with foreign currency assets and liabilities.

The table below shows the contract amount and fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts as of March 31, 2007 and 2008:

 Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008
 Contract Fair Contract Fair Contract Fair 
 amount value amount value amount value

 ¥938 ¥4 ¥4,731 ¥(16) $47,381 $(160)

The fair values of foreign exchange forward contracts were obtained from counterparty financial institutions and represent the amounts that DOCOMO could 

have settled with the counterparties to terminate the swaps outstanding as of March 31, 2007 and 2008.

 

Other—

Information regarding “Investments in affiliates”, “Marketable securities and other investments” and contracts of bailment of cash for consumption with related 

party is disclosed in Notes 6, 7 and 14, respectively.

(3) Concentrations of risk—

 As of March 31, 2008, DOCOMO did not have any significant concentration of business transacted with an individual counterparty or groups of counterparties 

that could, if suddenly eliminated, severely impact its results of operations. 

 

20. Subsequent event: 

There were no significant subsequent events other than those described in other footnotes to this consolidated financial statements. 

Foreign currency swap agreement— 

In February 2005, DOCOMO entered into a currency swap contract to hedge 

currency exchange risk associated with the principal and interest payments of the 

$100 million unsecured corporate bonds. As this currency swap contract qualified 

as a cash flow hedge instrument for accounting purposes and all the essential 

terms of the currency swap and the hedged item are identical, there was no 

ineffective portion to the hedge. The gain or loss from the fluctuation in the fair 

value of the swap transaction was recorded as “Accumulated other comprehensive 

income”. The amount recorded as “Accumulated other comprehensive income” 

was reclassified as gain or loss when the offsetting gain or loss derived from the 

hedged item was recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of 

income and comprehensive income. 

For the year ended March 31, 2006, ¥1,262 million of loss from currency 

translation and ¥28 million of interest expense in the consolidated statements 

of income and comprehensive income were reclassified, and ¥92 million of 

loss, net of applicable taxes, was recorded as “Net revaluation of financial 

instruments” included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the 

consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2006. 

For the year ended March 31, 2007, ¥1,320 million of loss from currency 

translation and ¥30 million of interest expense in the consolidated statements 

of income and comprehensive income were reclassified, and ¥58 million of 

loss, net of applicable taxes, was recorded as “Net revaluation of financial 

instruments” included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the 

consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2007. 

In March 2008, DOCOMO redeemed the $100 million unsecured corporate 

bonds hedged by the contract. As a result of the redemption, ¥1,114 million 

($11,157 thousand) related to the hedged transaction recorded as “Net 

revaluation of financial instruments” included in “Accumulated other 

comprehensive income” in the consolidated balance sheets was reclassified to 

¥1,462 million ($14,642 thousand) of currency transaction loss and ¥348 million 

($3,485 thousand) of deduction of interest expense in the consolidated statements 

of income and comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2008. 

The table below shows the contract amount and fair value of the derivative financial instrument as of March 31, 2007 and 2008: 

 Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

 2007 2008 2008

 Contract Fair Contract Fair Contract Fair
 amount value amount value amount value

 ¥10,485 ¥1,251 — — — —
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Schedule – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 Millions of yen 

 Balance at
 beginning of   Balance at end
 year Additions Deductions* of year

2006        
Allowance for doubtful accounts ¥18,359 ¥  9,919 ¥(13,538) ¥14,740
2007  
Allowance for doubtful accounts ¥14,740 ¥  8,654 ¥(10,216) ¥13,178
2008  
Allowance for doubtful accounts ¥13,178 ¥12,107 ¥  (8,784) ¥16,501

 Thousands of U.S. dollars

 Balance at
 beginning of   Balance at end
 year Additions Deductions* of year

2008  
Allowance for doubtful accounts $131,978 $121,252 $(87,972) $165,258
* Amounts written off.

 Millions of yen 

 Balance at
 beginning of   Balance at end
 year Additions Deductions of year

2006        
Valuation allowances—Deferred tax assets ¥23,436 —  ¥(23,436) —
2007  
Valuation allowances—Deferred tax assets — — — —
2008        
Valuation allowances—Deferred tax assets — — — —

 Thousands of U.S. dollars

 Balance at
 Beginning of   Balance at end
 Year Additions Deductions  of year

2008  
Valuation allowances—Deferred tax assets — — — —

Financial Statement Schedule
NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008
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EBITDA and EBITDA margin
 Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

a. EBITDA ¥1,858,920 ¥1,625,661 ¥1,606,776 ¥1,574,570 ¥1,639,096 

Depreciation and amortization (720,997) (795,822) (738,137) (745,338) (776,425)

Loss on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment (35,005) (45,673) (36,000) (55,708) (54,359)

Operating income 1,102,918 784,166 832,639 773,524 808,312

Other incme (expense) (1,795) 504,055 119,664 (581) (7,624)

Income taxes (429,116) (527,711) (341,382) (313,679) (322,955) 

Equity in net income (losses) of affiliates, net of applicable taxes (21,960) (12,886) (364) (1,941) 13,553

Minority interests (40) (60) (76) (45) (84)

b. Net income 650,007 747,564 610,481 457,278 491,202

c. Total operating revenues 5,048,065 4,844,610 4,765,872 4,788,093 4,711,827

EBITDA margin (=a/c) 36.8% 33.6% 33.7% 32.9% 34.8% 

Net income margin (=b/c) 12.9% 15.4% 12.8% 9.6% 10.4% 

Note: EBITDA and EBITDA margin, as we use them, are different from EBITDA as used in Item 10(e) of regulation S-K and may not be comparable similarly titaled measures used by other companies.

Adjusted free cash flows (excluding irregular factors and changes in investments for cash management purpose)

 Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Adjusted free cash flows (excluding irregular factors and 
  changes in investments for cash management purpose) ¥   862,934 ¥1,003,583 ¥   510,905 ¥ 192,237 ¥   442,410 

Irregular factors 1 — — — (210,000) 210,000

Changes in investments for cash management purpose 2 — (400,327) 148,959 50,710 148,881

Free cash flows  862,934 603,256 659,864 32,947 801,291

Net cash used in investing activities (847,309) (578,329) (951,077) (947,651) (758,849)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,710,243 1,181,585 1,610,941 980,598 1,560,140

1  Irregular factors represent the effects of uncollected revenues due to back closure at the end of periods.

2  Changes in investments for cash management purpose were derived from purchases, redemption at maturity and disposals of financial instruments held for cash management purpose with original maturities of longer than three months.

Reconciliations of the Disclosed NON-GAAP Financial Measures to the 
Most Directly Comparable GAAP Financial Measures
NTT DOCOMO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Year ended March 31, 2008




